

Sharma, Malvika (2024) *The role of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial dysfunction in hypertension*. PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/84205/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk



The Role of Inflammatory Cytokines in Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertension

Malvika Sharma

MTech, BTech

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Medicine, Dentistry and Nursing

College of Medical, Veterinary, and Life Sciences

University of Glasgow

March 2024

Abstract

Hypertension is a pervasive cardiovascular disorder characterized by increased blood pressure levels. It is a global cause of morbidity and mortality and poses a heightened risk of serious cardiovascular complications. Although the role of kidney, vasculature, heart, and brain has been defined before, recent research has illuminated the pivotal role of immune mechanisms and inflammation in the development and progression of hypertension.

To delve into the intricate play of immune mechanisms in the development of hypertension, this thesis aims to identify the role of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial dysfunction in hypertension. Through a multifaceted approach, we pursued three primary aims of identifying association between inflammatory cytokines and incident hypertension in patient populations, assessing their direct vascular effects in mouse blood vessels and probing potential mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction.

To identify inflammatory cytokines potentially contributing to the incidence of hypertension, we ran systematic searches in Medline, Embase, Web of Science and Cochrane CENTRAL. After screening for inclusion and exclusion criteria, we performed meta-analysis of the relationships between the levels of identified cytokines from six records and incident hypertension. We have then undertaken mechanistic studies of the endothelium dependent and independent effects of selected cytokines on vasomotor functions in mouse aortas. Thoracic aortas from 3-month-old C57BL6/J mice were treated with selected cytokine concentrations overnight and endothelium dependent and independent vasoconstriction and relaxation impairment was observed. We further selected two cytokines to study the potential mechanism of endothelial dysfunction by looking at eNOS and ERK phosphorylation in human aortic endothelial cells. The cells were treated with varying cytokine concentrations for different time periods and the differences in phosphorylation were observed in the cell homogenate using western blotting.

Through our systematic searches we selected fifteen records after screening and identified IL-6, IL-1B, TNF- α , IL-17a, and IFN- γ among other cytokines and metaanalysed data available from six records. We found that IL-6 is significantly associated with the risk of developing hypertension in crude models with high heterogeneity. In organ bath studies significant impairment was observed in vessels treated with selected cytokines. Endothelium-dependent relaxation observed using acetylcholine was significantly altered by IL-1B (1 ng/ml) after pre-constricting the vessels with phenylephrine and serotonin (P<0.001 and P=0.04, respectively). Similar alteration of vasorelaxations was observed with IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) after constricting the vessels with phenylephrine (P=0.0099) and with IL-6 (5 ng/ml) after constricting the vessels with serotonin (P=0.014). Furthermore, western blot results demonstrated differences in eNOS and ERK phosphorylation.

We found that IL-6 is positively associated with incidence of hypertension, but this association weakens with adjusting for BMI implying a relationship between inflammation and adiposity linked hypertension. Significant impairment of endothelial function induced by IL-1B, IFN- γ and IL-6 suggests a direct link between endothelial dysfunction and inflammation. Further studies are needed to substantiate the results in identifying the mechanisms of inflammatory cytokines in endothelial dysfunction and understand their significance for pathomechanisms of hypertension.

Table of Contents

Abstract	t		. ii
List of T	abl	es	.vi
List of F	igur	res	, vii
List of A	ссо	mpanying Material	viii
Acknow	ledg	ement	.ix
Author's	s De	claration	, xii
Definition	ons/	Abbreviations	xiii
Chapter	[.] 1	Introduction	. 18
1.1	Нур	pertension	. 19
1.1	.1	Epidemiology of hypertension	. 19
1.1	.2	Aetiology of hypertension	. 21
1.1	.3	Pathophysiology of hypertension	. 22
1.2	Imn	nune system and hypertension	. 26
1.2	.1	Innate immune cells and hypertension	. 26
1.2	.2	Adaptive immune cells and hypertension	. 27
1.3	Cyt	okines produced by immune cells in hypertension	. 30
1.3	.1	Pro-inflammatory cytokines in hypertension	. 30
1.3	.2	Anti-inflammatory cytokines in hypertension	. 31
1.3	.3	Inflammatory cytokines affect the vascular function	, 32
1.4	End	lothelium and vascular function	. 33
1.4	.1	Function of endothelium	, 33
1.4	.2	eNOS, NO and ROS	. 34
1.4	.3	NADPH oxidases	. 34
1.4	.4	Role of NO and NOX in endothelial dysfunction	. 35
1.5	Infl	ammatory cytokines in hypertension and their effect on endothelia	l
aystu	ncti	on	, 36
1.5	.1	IL-1B	. 36 27
1.5	.Z	IL-6	. 37
1.5	.3	INF-α	. 39
1.5	.4	IFN-γ	. 41
1.5	.5	IL-1/A	. 4Z
1.5	.6	IL-15	. 44
1.6	Aim	is and objectives	. 46
systema	tic I	inflammatory cytokines and risk of developing hypertension: a review and meta-analysis	. 47
2.1	Intr	oduction	. 48
2.2	Met	hods	. 50

2.2.	1 Data sources	50
2.2.	2 Search Strategy	50
2.2.	3 Eligibility	58
2.2.	4 Definition of primary and secondary outcomes	58
2.2.	5 Study selection	58
2.2.	6 Data extraction and quality assessment	58
2.2.	7 Statistical analysis	59
2.3	Results	61
2.3.	1 Characteristics of studies and quality assessment	61
2.3.	2 IL-6	74
2.3.	3 Interleukin-18	77
2.3.	4 Other cytokines	78
2.3.	5 Baseline and follow-up plasma and serum cytokine levels	79
2.4	Discussion	87
2.5	Conclusion	90
Chapter induced	3 Investigating the effects and mechanisms of endothelial dysfe by inflammatory cytokines	unction 91
3.1	Introduction	92
3.2	Materials and methods	94
3.2.	1 Vasomotor studies	94
3.2.	2 Gene profiling	97
3.2.	3 Cell culture	99
3.2.	4 Protein quantification using BCA assay	102
3.2.	5 Protein profiling: Western blotting from cell homogenate	103
3.3	Results	107
3.3. aort	1 The effect of inflammatory cytokines on vascular function in cas. 107	mouse
3.3. in m	2 Changes in NADPH oxidase subunits and eNOS mRNA expression ouse vessels treated with IL-1B and IFN- γ	on level 119
3.3.	3 Cytokine induced eNOS and ERK phosphorylation in HAoECs ir 121	n vitro.
3.4	Discussion	126
Chapter	4 Discussion	132
Chapter	5 Conclusions	146
List of R	eferences	149

v

List of Tables

Table 2.1 Main characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis 62
Table 2.2 Baseline Characteristics of patients included in the meta-analysis 67
Table 2.3 ROBINS-E risk of bias assessment. A summary table reporting each riskof bias item for each study is shown.73
Table 2.4 Baseline cytokine levels in plasma or serum together with follow-upchanges in qualitative and quantitative studies.81
Table 3.1 Volume of concentrated stock solutions to add in the bath to increasesdoses of Phe, Ach, 5-HT and SNP97
Table 3.2: PCR annealing, polymerisation and enzyme denaturation stepsdefining time and temperature per step
Table 3.3 Mouse serum concentration of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IFN γ , IL-17a and cytokine concentrations used in vasomotor experiments in the available literature
Table 4.1 Summary of cytokines identified in different studies throughsystematic search136

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Flow chart reporting the search strategy according to PRISMA 60
Figure 2.2 Forest plots of pooled HR/RR of hypertension for the highest versus lowest quartile of IL-6
Figure 2.3 Forest plots showing sensitivity analysis performed by removing Ghazi 2020
Figure 2.4 Forest plots of pooled HR/RR of hypertension for the highest versus lowest quartile of IL-18
Figure 3.1 Sequential flow of organ bath experiment
Figure 3.2: Effect of IL-1B (1 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas
Figure 3.3: Effect of IFN-γ (10 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas
Figure 3.4: Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas
Figure 3.5: Effect of TNF- α (1 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas
Figure 3.6: Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas
Figure 3.7: Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas
Figure 3.8: Effect of IL-1B and IFN-γ on NADPH oxidase subunits and eNOS gene expression in mouse thoracic aortas119
Figure 3.9 Western blot results for HAoEC homogenate for various time points when the cells were stimulated with varying concentrations of IL-15 and IFN-γ.
Figure 3.10 Western blot membranes for HAoEC homogenate for various time points when the cells were stimulated varying concentrations of IL-15 and IFN-γ.

Published Paper

 Caiazzo, E., Sharma, M., Rezig, A. O., Morsy, M. I., Czesnikiewicz-Guzik, M., Ialenti, A., ... & Guzik, T. J. (2023). Circulating cytokines and risk of developing hypertension: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Pharmacological Research, 107050.

Acknowledgement

My journey of getting a doctorate is incomplete without acknowledging the contributions of some particularly important people in my life who have made these last four years memorable.

I would like to extend my deep appreciation and gratitude to Professor Tomasz Guzik, my former primary supervisor, with whom I had the privilege to work closely for the past four years. Throughout this journey, his continuous encouragement, guidance, and assurance bolstered my confidence even in moments of self-doubt. It is solely due to his unwavering confidence and belief in my abilities that I was able to pursue my dream of doing a PhD, even when I had lost focus. I owe every aspect of my academic achievement, from securing funding from the university and the research grant from the European Society of Cardiology, to successfully completing and submitting my research, to his exceptional mentorship, support, and guidance.

I want to convey my heartfelt and sincere gratitude to Professor Pasquale Maffia, my secondary supervisor, whose unwavering support, and exceptional guidance have been an illuminating light throughout my research journey. He has been a constant source of inspiration and has always motivated me to extend my limits while supporting me throughout the last four years and instilling in me the confidence to confront challenges with determination. Additionally, I am immensely thankful for his tireless efforts in guiding and assisting me in finalizing our systematic review and contributing significantly to its success. Moreover, I must appreciate his mentorship in supporting me to secure a research grant, a necessary funding to support my sustenance while I worked on my doctoral research.

I wish to extend my profound appreciation to Dr Marta Czesnikiewicz-Guzik for her dedication and commitment when circumstances changed, and she stepped in as my primary supervisor. I am grateful for her involvement and support as my primary supervisor. Her valuable perspective and insights in the last year of my doctoral journey have provided me with utmost confidence to confront and surmount the challenges of drafting my thesis. My profound appreciation goes to Dr. Ryszard Nosalski, a pivotal figure in my academic journey. He has not only provided me with invaluable guidance and support, but he has also served as a role model who works diligently and intelligently. His mentorship played a fundamental role in introducing me to various experimental techniques and methodologies. He has gone above and beyond by helping me set up experiments and even dedicating some weekends, as necessary. His willingness to share his knowledge and expertise has been instrumental in my accomplishments. I am deeply grateful for his contributions to my academic growth and for the meaningful inspiration.

I am truly fortunate to have collaborated with some remarkable individuals during my academic journey. The Guzik group has wonderful people who have supported, inspired, and motivated me since the very first day. Blessy helped me get through the experimental nightmares of our collaborative western blotting experiences and many evenings working with the myographs. Eva brightened my days in the office with thoughtful gestures. The sweet treats from Spain, occasional check-ins when I was unwell and regular reassurances while drafting my thesis were more than just gestures, they were acts of kindness. Apart from our cell culture adventures in the laboratory, Eman's kindness and empathy was my source of affection and comfort in times of need when I was facing difficulties due to ill health. Emma brought laughter and a lot of fun to our shared moments in the office as well as on the badminton court. Each one of them has brought joy to my professional and personal life in their own way and they all will always hold a special place in my heart.

The most important acknowledgement is for the members of the Maffia group who went out of their way to collaborate with me on the systematic review and bring it to fruition. Dr. Elisabetta Caiazzo was always there for me to discuss and impart her knowledge on cell culture experiments. I will be forever grateful for her major contribution to the systematic review section of my thesis. I would also like to thank Asma for dedicating endless evenings to brainstorming research questions, search strategies and meticulously reviewing a vast array of research articles over the course of several months. Additionally, I would like to extend my gratitude to Moustafa for his significant contributions which were essential in achieving the success of our systematic review. Along with my peers, I would also like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my thesis mentor Dr. Sophie Westrop who guided me at every step of the writing process. Her insights from her own experiences and valuable tips to manage and navigate challenges faced while drafting a thesis were immensely helpful.

I would also like to extend my thanks to my friends who became my second family over the course of the last four years. Harshitha and Kotryna are two of the most loving and caring people I know. Whether it was preparing dinner for me when I worked late in the evenings, or midnight walks during lockdown, they made my life unfathomably happier. Berit, my dear friend, was instrumental in helping me navigate my mental health. When work or homesickness weighed me down, Laavanya and Ananya were my rays of sunshine in the grey Glasgow skies. I am grateful to Pranamya for making our weekly restaurant explorations a delightful escape from the demands of work. My dear friend Swetha has been a constant pillar of support in my life since the day we met and has always been there in times of need, and Visesh's encouraging words have always been a continuous source of support. I would also like to extend my thanks to my family friend and aunt Kate who has been a genuine support since my first day in the UK. All these incredible individuals have filled my life with warmth, love, support, and countless beautiful memories over the last few years and continue to do so every day, for which I am forever grateful.

The role of my family on this rollercoaster of a journey cannot be overstated. I want to convey my deepest appreciation to my mom Kalpna, my dad Daya Shankar and my lovely sister Adita. My parents have been a source of strength and support throughout my life. Their sacrifices and relentless dedication for my success are immeasurable. My sister has been my pillar of strength since the beginning but in the last four years she has helped me navigate through various challenges while managing responsibilities at home in my absence. I love you all and I am forever indebted to all of you.

Finally, I would like to extend my appreciation to all my fellow researchers, staff members and laboratory technicians at the university who added value to my work and my life with their suggestions and companionship.

A huge thank you to everyone from the bottom of my heart!

Author's Declaration

I declare that, except where reference is made to the contribution of others, this thesis is the result of my own work and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Name: Malvika Sharma

Signature:

Date: 14.03.2024

Definitions/Abbreviations

5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine (Serotonin)
α	Alpha
в	Beta
γ	Gamma
δ	Delta
к	Карра
ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme
ACEIs	Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors
ACh	Acetylcholine
Ang	Angiotensin
APS	Ammonium persulphate
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
ART	Antiretroviral therapy
BH4	Tetrahydrobiopterin
BMI	Body mass index
CENTRAL	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CI	Confidence interval

CKD	Chronic kidney disease
CRP	C reactive protein
Ct	Cycle threshold
CTLA	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate buffer saline
DUOX	Dual oxidase
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ESRD	End stage renal disease
ET-1	Endothelin-1
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
HAoEC	Human aortic endothelial cells
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
НК	Hartung and Knapp
HMOD	Hypertension modulated organ damage

HR	Hazard ratio
hsCRP	High sensitivity C reactive protein
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
iNK	Invariant natural killer
IQR	Interquartile range
JAK	Janus kinase
KPSS	Potassium physiological saline solution
M1	Macrophage 1
M2	Macrophage 2
MAP	Mitogen activated protein
MDSC	Myeloid derived suppressor cells
MESA	Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis
MeSH	Medical Subject Headings
mTOR	Mechanistic target of Rapamycin
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate

- NF-ĸB Nuclear factor kappa B NK Natural killer NO Nitric oxide NOX NADPH oxidase 02⁻ superoxide ion OR Odds ratio p-38 Protein-38 Phenylephrine Phe RAAS Renin angiotensin aldosterone system RIPA Radioimmunoprecipitation assay Risk of bias in non-randomized studies of exposures **ROBINS-E** ROS Reactive oxygen species RPMI Rosewell Park Memorial Institute RR Risk ratio S1177 Serine 1177 Sodium dodecyl sulphate SDS Signal transducers and activators of transcription STAT Sodium nitroprusside SNP
- SNP Single nucleotide polymorphism

SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
START	Strategic Timing of AntiRetroviral Treatment
T495	Threonine 495
ТВР	TATA binding protein
TEMED	N,N,N',N' -Tetramethyl ethylenediamine
TGF	Transforming growth factor
Th	T helper
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TNFR	TNF receptor
Treg	T regulatory
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VSMC	Vascular smooth muscle cell
WHI-OS	Women's Health Initiative-Observational Study
WESDR	Wisconsin Epidemiological Study of Diabetic Retinopathy

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Hypertension

Initially known as the hard pulse disease (Esunge, 1991), hypertension is characterised by consistently elevated blood pressure in the vasculature. According to international guidelines (Mancia Chairperson et al., 2023, Unger et al., 2020), when repeated office measurements of systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure is chronically over 140/90 mmHg, a person is termed to be hypertensive. Hypertension is classified into stages based on blood pressure levels as well as on stages based on the development of complications - such as chronic kidney disease (CKD), cardiovascular complications and hypertension modulated organ damage (HMOD).

The normal range for blood pressure is when systolic blood pressure is 120-129 mmHg and diastolic pressure is from 80-84 mmHg. A person is said to be prehypertensive when the systolic and diastolic blood pressure ranges from 130-139 mmHg and 84-90 mmHg, respectively. In Grade I hypertension, the systolic blood pressure ranges from 140-159 mmHg and diastolic pressure ranges from 90-99 mmHg. Grade II is when systolic pressure is 160-179 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure is 100-109 mmHg. Grade III hypertension is classified as blood pressure ≥180/110 mmHg (Mancia Chairperson et al., 2023).

1.1.1 Epidemiology of hypertension

The current world population is more than 8 billion, out of which at least 1.28 billion people between the ages of 30 and 80 suffer from hypertension (World Health Organisation, 2023). According to the World Health Organisation, around 46% of patients are unaware of their hypertensive condition, nearly 42% have controlled hypertension and approximately 66% live in low and middle income countries (World Health Organisation, 2023). This disparity also indicated the difference in level of awareness and available treatment in low and middle income countries when compared with higher income counties (Chow et al., 2013). Age and sex also play a part in the prevalence of hypertension with more biological males suffering from the disease than biological females worldwide (Zhou et al., 2021). More biological males develop hypertension in younger ages than biological females (Gillis and Sullivan, 2016), and the prevalence in biological females increases with increasing age, menopause being a milestone

in the development of hypertension over the age of 50 (Ji et al., 2020). Age is also a factor in increasing the pulse pressure in hypertensive patients (Benetos et al., 2019). In a 135-population based study, out of 0.97 million adults in ninety countries, it was estimated that women had lower prevalence of hypertension in higher income countries and highest in the Sub-Saharan region of Africa. The men, however, had lower prevalence in South Asia, and highest in Eastern Europe and Central Asia (Mills et al., 2016). In another study conducted in 2013, when comparing the rural and urban populations in different countries, rural residents in high income countries had higher prevalence of hypertension and lower prevalence in low income countries (Chow et al., 2013). These differences might likely occur due to and be influenced by risk factors for hypertension like diet, lifestyle, comorbidities and physical activity levels in different regions of the world (Ibrahim and Damasceno, 2012). While comparing socio-economic status and its association with the prevalence of hypertension, a study published in 2022 found that there was nearly 50% more prevalence of hypertension in unemployed or retired subjects indicating the need for focus on socio-economic statuses while developing strategies to prevent or manage hypertension (Qin et al., 2022).

Elevated blood pressure leading to hypertension is also associated with cardiovascular events and a serious cause of premature death worldwide. Increase in systolic and/or diastolic blood pressure leads to increase in development of cardiovascular diseases like ischemic heart disease, ischemic stroke, arrythmia, heart failure and result in hypertension induced cardiovascular event related deaths (Bundy et al., 2017, Bundy et al., 2018). Hypertension is also a risk factor for CKD and end stage renal disease (ESRD) (Anderson et al., 2015). Increase in systolic blood pressure levels has been associated with increase in CKD and ESRD over the years in thousands of patients. During the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial, deaths occurring because of cardiovascular events were observed in men over a 11.6 year followup period (Stamler et al., 1993). Over 16 years, men who were free of ESRD had developed the disease, which was associated with increase in systolic blood pressure (Klag et al., 1996). Mills and colleagues addressed the prevalence of hypertension in the world based on economic status of the countries, lifestyle differences and varied eating habits, and how elevated blood pressure levels are linearly associated with cardiovascular diseases (CVD) and CKD. They also discussed hypertension as a public health challenge and a fast-rising global cause of morbidity and mortality (Mills et al., 2020).

1.1.2 Aetiology of hypertension

Primary hypertension, widely known as essential hypertension, is when a healthy person experiences elevated blood pressure and its specific underlying cause is unidentified. Secondary hypertension is when patients develop hypertension but the cause is identifiable, potentially reversible, and mostly a consequence of another disease or disorder (2022). A majority of hypertensive patients suffer from essential hypertension and around 10-15% suffer from secondary hypertension. There are many clinical indicators that might suggest the development of secondary hypertension. The most common cause of secondary hypertension are renal parenchymal diseases like chronic nephritis, diabetic nephropathy, polycystic kidney disease and renal artery stenosis. Endocrine causes include adrenal disorders such as Cushing's syndrome and primary aldosteronism. Other endocrine causes are said to be hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism. Cardiovascular disorders like coarctation of aorta, neurological issues such as increased intracranial pressure, other causes like obstructed sleep apnoea, pre-eclampsia can also be a cause of secondary hypertension (2022).

Various risk factors contribute to the development of hypertension. As mentioned earlier, age affect the prevalence of hypertension in both men and women (Ji et al., 2020, Zhou et al., 2021). Race and ethnicity also play a factor in posing a higher risk for the development of hypertension. People of African-American origin have the highest prevalence of hypertension in the world (Al Kibria, 2019) whereas in the United States of America, Hispanics have the lowest prevalence, with non-Hispanic Asians and non-Hispanic Whites having higher prevalence than the Hispanic community (Deere and Ferdinand, 2020).While another study found that non-Hispanic Black people developed hypertension earlier in life than non-Hispanic Whites (Aggarwal et al., 2021).

Lifestyle factors such as sodium and potassium intake, alcohol consumption, smoking, eating habits and obesity can be contributing risk factors in the development of hypertension. A study published in 2014 suggests the effects of high sodium and low potassium diet influences blood pressure levels in both normotensive as well as hypertensive individuals of all ages, with the effects being profound in older subjects. They found a positive association between sodium excretion and systolic as well as diastolic blood pressure, and the increase per 1g of excreted sodium was higher in hypertensive patients. An inverse relationship was observed for potassium excretion with the increase in blood pressure levels (Mente et al., 2014). Hence a diet rich in potassium and low in sodium is being recommended in recent years. (Staruschenko, 2018)

Some other risk factors include obesity especially in adolescents and young adults (Litwin and Kulaga, 2021), unhealthy diet, smoking, alcohol consumption, air pollution, noise pollution, chronic stress and sleep deprivation. A study published in 2017 meta-analysed nearly 3000 participants, and found that reducing the amount of alcohol consumed in moderation did not bring about a reduction in BP levels but reducing high alcohol consumption reduced blood pressure levels significantly (Roerecke et al., 2017). Lack of physical activity is another risk factor in the progression of hypertension. Many studies have found that physical exercise, even walking in moderation can be effective in reducing BP levels and reduce the incidence of hypertension (Mills et al., 2020). Eating saturated fats and meat in moderation and increased intake of fruits and vegetables has proven to be effective in lowering blood pressure levels (Yokoyama et al., 2014). Bringing about lifestyle and environmental changes can support in lowering blood pressure levels and subsequently help in lowering the risk of hypertension.

1.1.3 Pathophysiology of hypertension

Regulation of blood pressure in our bodies is maintained by mainly three organ systems: the heart, the kidneys, and the vasculature. These are aided by various physiological systems to modulate their functions. Blood is effectively pumped by the heart, carried around to each and every part of the body by blood vessels while the kidneys control blood volume (Drummond et al., 2019). Any alterations in the physiological system results in disturbing the working equilibrium of the organ systems and subsequently causes variations in blood pressure. Another mechanism of pathogenesis of the disease in the recent decades has been found to be the immune system. From discovering the accumulation of immune cells in the kidneys in early 1960s (White and Grollman, 1964) to finding that activation of NADPH oxidase (NOX) 2 from regulatory T (Treg) cells can stimulate cardiovascular remodelling by angiotensin II induction (Emmerson et al., 2018), research exploring the role of immune system in the progression of hypertension has come a long way but the mechanism through which the immune system acts in promoting hypertension still remains understudied.

1.1.3.1 Classical mechanisms of hypertension pathophysiology

The classical mechanisms of hypertension pathogenesis involve the renin angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) and the sympathetic nervous system (SNS), which impact arterial stiffness, water levels and hormone levels in the blood. RAAS is crucial in maintaining vascular tone by controlling blood volume, systemic vascular resistance, and the balance of electrolytes in the body. As the name suggest, RAAS comprises of renin, angiotensinogen, and aldosterone along with angiotensin converting enzymes and angiotensin II receptors (Wu et al., 2018).

Renin, an enzyme produced in the juxtaglomerular cells of the kidney by cleaving prorenin, is released in the blood stream when arterial pressure drops. Renin circulates throughout the body and acts upon angiotensinogen to produce angiotensin (Ang) I which has limited vasoconstrictor properties and is cleaved by angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) to form an eight amino acid long peptide called angiotensin II. Ang II has strong vasoconstricting properties and has two primary effects in increasing arterial pressure. It results in the constriction of arterioles, which increases the total peripheral resistance, subsequently increasing arterial pressure, but this effect lasts for a shorter duration than salt and water retention in the kidneys (Hall and Hall, 2020). Elevated salt and water levels in the kidney eventually increase the blood volume, thereby increasing the arterial pressure for hours and, sometime, days. Ang II acts on the kidneys directly to cause the salt and water retention by increasing sodium and water reabsorption. Another way in which Ang II increases salt and water retention is by stimulating aldosterone. Aldosterone is a hormone produced by the adrenal glands. The main function of this mineralocorticoid is increasing reabsorption of sodium, increased secretion of potassium in the renal tubular epithelial cells and increasing arterial pressure in the kidneys.

Reabsorption of sodium and potassium secretion is also aided by aldosterone in the salivary and sweat glands (Williams, 2005, Hall and Hall, 2020). When the renin-angiotensin system gets activated, it results in the increased production of aldosterone and consequently increasing sodium reabsorption.

The SNS is a part of the autonomic nervous system which unconsciously works to regulate various functions of the body. The sympathetic nerves originate mainly from thoracic spinal nerves and these innervate the heart and the vasculature except the capillaries (Hall and Hall, 2020). SNS governs the flight or fight response in the body by producing epinephrine and nor epinephrine which modulate constriction of the vasculature and affect arterial pressure. The nerve supply to the arteries and arterioles cause constriction and lead to higher arterial pressure, and the nerve supply to the veins strongly constrict them resulting in increased pressure on the heart to pump blood (Touyz, 2014). The heart is also innervated with the SNS and is stimulated to increase the heart rate. In the kidneys, SNS increases renin secretion to increase the blood volume resulting in increased arterial pressure (Hall and Hall, 2020). This leads to the development of hypertension as well as causing atherosclerosis and insulin resistance (DeLalio et al., 2020). Some causes of overactivity of the SNS is unhealthy diet, unhealthy lifestyle, psychological stress and lack of sleep (Touyz, 2014).

1.1.3.2 Inflammatory mechanisms of hypertension

Along with the organ and physiological systems, immune system of the body is said to play a significant role in the pathogenesis and progression of hypertension. Recent studies have indicated that immune and inflammatory mechanisms can significantly contribute to the disease (Murray et al., 2021). However, the mechanisms of their involvement in hypertension remain poorly defined. Importantly, both genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and gene expression signatures of hypertension strongly point towards the role of the immune system and inflammation (Levy et al., 2009).

From initial days of GWAS looking at quantitative blood pressure phenotypes, multiple loci playing a role in blood pressure regulation with more than 1400 common SNPs have been identified (Lip and Padmanabhan, 2020). A recent Mendelian randomised study has established a positive association between leukocytes and increased systolic and diastolic blood pressure as well as pulse pressure (Siedlinski et al., 2020). Some SNPs found in immunoregulatory genes of immune cells such as T cell have been found to play a role in hypertension. One such example is the polymorphisms found in the SH2B3 gene which encodes for an adapter protein. Its effect on blood pressure has been demonstrated in murine studies where a knockout model of the gene showed increased blood pressure levels upon Ang II treatment (Huan et al., 2015). Karhunen and colleagues designed a bi-directional Mendelian randomised study to analyse the association between cytokines and cardiometabolic traits to find potential therapeutic target molecules. They found positive associations between BMI and 10 circulating biomarkers including cytokines amongst other bi-directional positive associations between cardiometabolic markers and cardiovascular events (Karhunen et al., 2023) indicating that immune system might play a role in associating genetic variability with hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. Cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1B, and TNF- α have been studied using Mendelian randomisations for their association with disorders such as diabetes and obesity (Meeks et al., 2021), and ESRD (Prakash et al., 2016), subsequently leading to cardiovascular events.

1.2 Immune system and hypertension

Innate and adaptive immune cells play a pivotal role in the production of cytokines and chemokines which regulate the inflammatory levels in the blood and influence the functioning of the vasculature. These inflammatory cytokines and chemokines are said to relay signals by interacting with the vascular cells and might potentially be responsible for the onset of hypertension via the immune pathways.

1.2.1 Innate immune cells and hypertension

Recent studies suggest that the innate immune system may be the first step in the pathogenesis of hypertension. While some cells protect, the others are said to play a part in the promotion of hypertension.

Macrophages are monocytes responsible for conducting phagocytosis. These cells secrete chemokines and cytokines and thus play a key role in the reactions and mechanisms of innate immunity (Drummond et al., 2019). Upon activation by haemodynamic injury, monocytes infiltrate the vasculature and organs (kidney and heart) where they differentiate into macrophage 1 (M1)- and macrophage 2 (M2)-like subtypes and produce cytokines and cause endothelial dysfunction in the vasculature and epithelial dysfunction in the organs (Justin Rucker and Crowley, 2017). M1-like macrophages are responsible for producing pro-inflammatory cytokines and inducing reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. The cytokines produced by M1-like macrophages are interleukin (IL)-1B and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α). M2-like macrophages, on the other hand, produced anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF-B (Justin Rucker and Crowley, 2017). Monocytes have also been found responsible in Ang II mediated hypertension and vascular function (Wenzel et al., 2011).

Dendritic cells are antigen presenting cells which are produced by the bone marrow and play a role in modulating various inflammatory responses. Their main role is to identify antigens in the bloodstream and act on the removal of foreign molecules. These cells activate the innate immune system by acting as the first defence against an infection by recruiting Natural Killer cells, modulate receptor mediated phagocytosis, process and present antigens, play a role in T- cell differentiation, by stimulating and controlling the maturation (Liu, 2016). They have multiple subsets and form a dense network in human tissues such as arteries and kidneys. During hypertension dendritic cells become activated and induce the activation of T-lymphocytes leading to increased inflammation (Lu et al., 2020).

Natural killer cells are a form of lymphocytes present as a part of the innate immune system. They are cytotoxic cells responsible for the managing tumour cells and infections by eliminating them. These cells also act as regulatory cells and influence the activity of other immune cells such as B cells, T cells and dendritic cells by secreting inflammatory cytokines(Vivier et al., 2008). These cells produce interferon gamma (IFN- γ) in vessel walls which activates the macrophages and monocytes inducing inflammation and create hypertensive conditions (Li et al., 2021). Natural killer cells have also been found to be associated with systolic blood pressure (Delaney et al., 2021).

Initially found in cancer patients, myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC) are a set of immature myeloid cells and myeloid progenitor cells which are immunosuppressive by function (Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009). They are precursors for dendritic cells and macrophages and regulate the production of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) consequently resulting in the production of reactive oxygen species. These cells get activated by inflammatory cytokines like IFN-γ, TGF-B, IL-13 and IL-4 via the nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) pathway or the Janus kinase (JAK) / signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) pathways (Gabrilovich and Nagaraj, 2009). MDSCs produce cytokines like IL-4, IL-10, TGF, and IL-13, all of which are anti-inflammatory cytokines. It has been reported that the levels of MDSC have found to be increased in a variety of hypertensive mouse models (Chiasson et al., 2018).

1.2.2 Adaptive immune cells and hypertension

T helper (Th) cells are the subtype of T cells and the cells of adaptive immune system which activate effector cells through antigen specificity. They lead to the maturation of B cells into plasma and memory B cells. They are also responsible for recruiting eosinophils and basophils to an inflamed or an infected area. They can differentiate into different subtypes depending on the kinds of cytokines each subtype produces, and the differentiation is dependent on signalling patterns from the antigen presenting cells. Th1 cells produce IFN-γ, TNF and IL-2. Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, IL-10 and TGF-8. Th17 cells are proinflammatory in nature, increase tissue damage and inflammation. These cells produce IL-17, IL-21 and IL-22 (Burrell et al., 2016, Nash et al., 2015, Nussenblatt, 2010, Pahl and Vaziri, 2020).

Other T cell subsets are also found to be actively involved in the development of hypertension. Immunosenescent CD8⁺ T cells are characterised by short telomeres, are CD28⁻ and CD57⁺, and increase production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Huff et al., 2019). They increase in number with ageing and chronic inflammatory disorders and are highly toxic. They are set to play a role in the pathogenesis of hypertension (Youn et al., 2013). Cytotoxic T-cells majorly produce TNF- α , IFN- γ and mediate hypertension. They are activated when the CD8⁺ receptor recognises an antigen and these cells then produce granzymes and perforins to get rid of them, thereby activating these cells to produce inflammatory cytokines which are said to modulate blood pressure levels (Ren and Crowley, 2019). Gamma-delta ($\gamma\delta$) T cells are also known to produce proinflammatory cytokines like IL-17, TNF- α and IFN- γ (Ren and Crowley, 2019).

Invariant natural killer (iNK) T cells, share features of adaptive and innate immune cells and have been demonstrated to potentially modulate hypertension (Drummond et al., 2019). They are a set of T cells specialized to identify self and non-self-lipid antigens. These cells are activated by CD1 presented lipids by T cell receptors as well as inflammatory cytokines. Upon activation, iNK T cells rapidly produce a variety of cytokines including IFN-γ, TNF, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17, IL-21 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Brennan et al., 2013).

T regulatory (Treg) cells as the name suggests, are a type of cluster of differentiation (CD) 4+ T cells which regulate the expression of other immune cells. The main functions of Treg cells are to suppress the inimical activities of the T helper (Th) cells, protect against autoimmune diseases by maintaining immune self-tolerance, tolerance to foetus during pregnancy, suppressing allergies, inducing oral tolerance against antigens ingested through diet, and regulate the effector cells. These cells, upon activation, produce cytokines like IL-10 and TGF-B. Some Treg cells have found to produce IL-17, when inflammatory conditions were responsible for the cells' activation (Corthay, 2009).

Though their effect in hypertension is not as profound as T cells, B cells mediate humoral immune response by producing antibodies and are present in blood, spleen, and lymph nodes. They develop from hematopoietic stem cells and differentiate into plasma cells and memory cells upon activation. Cytokines produced by various subsets of B cells include IL-2, IL-17, IFN γ , IL-6 and TNF (Shen and Fillatreau, 2015).

1.3 Cytokines produced by immune cells in hypertension

Cytokines are produced by immune cells as well as endothelial cells and they can be pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory in action and nature. The balance between the levels of pro- and anti- inflammatory cytokines is estimated to regulate the development of hypertension and cardiovascular diseases. Cytokine levels such as TNF- α and IL-6 are said to consistently increase in hypertension and may convey risk of developing the disease. Such increases in cytokines are also observed in relation to effector T cell specific cytokines such as IL-17 or IFN- γ . Recent attention has been focused on exploring the pathways and inflammatory mediators that immune cells use to drive high blood pressure and end-organ damage. When immune cells become activated and/or are recruited to a target organ, they produce cytokines that determine the local inflammatory response. Its detailed effector contributions to vascular dysfunction and hypertension will be further discussed in subchapter 1.5.

1.3.1 Pro-inflammatory cytokines in hypertension

IL-6 is a cytokine which has both anti and pro-inflammatory effects. Nearly one third of the circulatory IL-6 generates from the adipose tissue and results in T cell activation and B cell differentiation (Krüttgen and Rose-John, 2012). It is said to affect vascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. It is also responsible for the development of end organ damage due to hypertension. A study which looked at the role of epigenetics in the relationship between IL-6 and hypertension found that hypomethylation of IL-6 was correlated with the onset of hypertension (Mao et al., 2017a). It is a crucial element in the development of Th17 cells and C reactive protein (CRP)'s hepatic synthesis. IL-6 is essentially produced by the overproduction of ROS due to the effects of TNF- α , IL-1 receptor b, and Ang II (Tanase et al., 2019).

The chief mediator of adaptive and innate immunity, IFN- γ is produced by natural killer cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells primarily. It upregulates proinflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IL-12, IL-15, and also iNOS along with NF- κ B. IFN- γ is also responsible for the inhibition of IL-1 and IL-8 production, enhancing caspase dependent apoptosis, induction of suppressor of cytokine signalling protein and induction of IL-1Ra (Mühl and Pfeilschifter, 2003). IL-23 is activated by dendritic cells and macrophages, and it regulates the secretion of various cytokines like IL-6, IL17, IL-1 and TNF. IL-17 stimulates the production of pro inflammatory cytokines regulating endothelial dysfunction, renal dysfunction and, consequently, hypertension (Tanase et al., 2019).

TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by T cells, B cells, macrophages, natural killer cells, mast cells, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, cardiomyocytes, adipocytes and fibroblasts, including others (Bradley, 2008). It can be stimulated by bacterial lipopolysaccharide, immune complexes, IFN, and by autocrine mechanisms. It gets stimulated under the conditions like inflammation, infection, trauma, infarction and heart failure to name a few (Zelová and Hošek, 2013). The two main functions of TNF are to induce apoptosis and to stimulate cell expression of pro-inflammatory genes. It also controls its expression by negative feedback mechanism and by stimulating the production of anti-inflammatory cytokines. TNF α increases the vasodilation by increasing the production of prostanoids by the stimulation of cyclo-oxygenase 2 (Page et al., 2018). It also stimulates endothelial cells to produce ROS which activates some mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinases and increase intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 synthesis.

1.3.2 Anti-inflammatory cytokines in hypertension

IL-4, a pleiotropic cytokine, induces differentiation of naïve T helper cells to Th2 cells, which in turn produce more IL-4. Produced primarily by mast cells, Th2 cells, basophils and eosinophils, IL-4 stimulates B cells differentiation and T cell proliferation (Yagi et al., 2002). IL-4 is found to decrease the production of IFN- γ . The presence of IL-4 in extravascular tissues promotes alternative activation of macrophages into M2 cells and inhibits classical activation of macrophages into M1 cells (Kassem et al., 2020).

IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine which downregulates the expression of Th1 cytokines, MHC class II antigens, and co-stimulatory molecules on macrophages (Von der Thüsen et al., 2003). It also enhances B cell survival, proliferation, and antibody production. IL-10 can block NF-KB activity and participates in the regulation of the JAK-STAT signalling pathway. IL-10 predominantly inhibits lipopolysaccharide and bacterial product mediated induction of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-1B, IL-12 and IFN- γ (Tanase et al., 2019).

1.3.3 Inflammatory cytokines affect the vascular function

Both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines are produced by an array of immune cells and even though they have distinct roles and actions, cytokines majorly use the same signalling pathways and mechanisms of action. Most cytokines use the JAK/STAT pathway to mediate their functions where dimerization and phosphorylation of the JAK and STAT subunits take place to effectively mediate the signalling (Ihle, 2001). Some inflammatory cytokines use the NF- κ B and the MAP kinase pathway to relay their effects. The signals relayed by these molecules, often act through, and effect the vascular function by interacting with the endothelial cell or the vascular smooth muscle cells. These interactions can result in the production of ROS and the overproduction of which can lead to dysfunction (Sprague and Khalil, 2009). To have a better outlook on how cytokines may influence the vascular function, understanding the endothelium, its components and its functions is important.

1.4 Endothelium and vascular function

The vascular system spans the whole body and circulates blood and plasma. These fluids function as carriers for all the soluble and insoluble molecules produced by cells in different organs. Each vessel has a layer of cells which interact with the fluids and regulate the movement of these molecules through the vessels to the cells of the organs. Endothelium is a single celled innermost lining of the vessels. It acts as a barrier between the blood and vessel walls. Endothelium is made up of squamous cells which originate from the mesoderm (Da Luz et al., 2018).

1.4.1 Function of endothelium

Earlier thought to be a mere interface for facilitating circulation of fluids across its membrane (Da Luz et al., 2018), endothelium has been now found to have a variety of functions. The endothelium forms an interface between circulating blood or lymph in the lumen and the rest of the vessel wall. This forms a barrier between vessels and tissues and control the flow of substances and fluid into and out of a tissue. This controls the passage of materials and the transit of white blood cells into and out of the bloodstream. Molecules such as glucose and amino acids are transported through the endothelial walls. Excessive or prolonged increases in permeability of the endothelium, as in cases of chronic inflammation, may lead to tissue inflammation (Galley and Webster, 2004).

Endothelial cells are involved in many other aspects of vessel function, including thrombosis, angiogenesis, regulating the vascular tone by vasoconstriction and vasodilation (Galley and Webster, 2004, Boulanger, 2016). Angiogenesis takes place to either form new blood vessels or replace old, damaged ones. This process is mediated by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which is produced by the endothelial cells and acts in an autocrine manner. To maintain coagulation, thrombin binds to thrombomodulin, which is produced by the endothelial to thrombomodulin, which is produced by the endothelial to the produce and the vascular tone is maintained by a variety of vasoconstrictors and vasodilators which are produced by the endothelial cells. These are nitric oxide (NO) and endothelin. NO is the major contributor in maintaining endothelial cell functions and the molecule is produced by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Zhao et al., 2015).

1.4.2 eNOS, NO and ROS

Endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) is an enzyme of the endothelium which is responsible for maintaining endothelial function by producing NO. Endothelial function is maintained by NO which acts as a signalling molecule and relays vasodilation, stimulate hormones (Kiani et al., 2022). eNOS is activated by phosphorylation of amino acid residues such as threonine, serine, and tyrosine. eNOS is phosphorylated at serine and threonine in a calcium dependent manner whereas the enzyme phosphorylation on tyrosine residues in completely calcium independent (Fleming and Busse, 1999). Coupled eNOS uses L-arginine as a substrate and converts it to L-citrulline by using Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) to form nitric oxide (NO). When eNOS is activated by calcium, in a calcium/calmodulin manner, it reduces NADPH with the help of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4). Under normal circumstances, BH4 is reduced for NO production, but when eNOS is activated under inflammatory conditions, BH4 gets partially reduced and remains partially oxidised. Under such conditions, uncoupled eNOS produces superoxide ions $(O2^{-})$ a form of ROS, instead of NO.

1.4.3 NADPH oxidases

NADPH is a cofactor that is a reducing agent and is responsible for the production of ROS by NADPH oxidases in immune cells as well as in the endothelium. NADPH oxidase (NOX) is a multimeric molecule with seven homologues in humans, namely NOX1, NOX2, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, dual oxidase (DUOX)1 and DUOX2. They are transmembrane proteins which oxidise the NADPH molecule and generate ROS. It is found on the membranes of the cell, nucleus, endoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondria. Some of its functions include cellular proliferation, endothelial signalling, and eliciting immune response against infection. NOX1, NOX2, NOX3 and NOX4 show homology to the gp91^{phox} subunit and include p22^{phox} subunit in the active complex. NOX4, DUOX1 and DUOX2 are known to mainly produce hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) but all the other homologues of the NADPH oxidase are found to produce superoxide anion (Skonieczna et al., 2017).

1.4.4 Role of NO and NOX in endothelial dysfunction

Endothelial dysfunction, as the name suggests, is the dysregulation of the functioning of endothelium, resulting in the imbalanced production of various vasoconstrictors and dilaters maintaining the vascular tone, anti- and procoagulants for maintaining thrombosis and other molecules which play a role in maintaining endothelial function. NO bioavailability plays a critical role in the development of endothelial dysfunction, as it is responsible for majority of functions of endothelium. Endothelial dysfunction can be categorized by aetiology, function, and prognosis. Aetiological classification involves genotypic and phenotypic dysfunction, such as dysfunction observed in normotensive individuals with a history of hypertension, and dysfunction observed in all cardiovascular disorders, respectively. Functional classification may include vaso-tonic changes indicating dysregulation of vasomotor functions and vasoplegic changes may refer to dysfunction caused by cytokines which induces increased NO production. The third classification depends on reversible or irreversible effects caused due to cardiovascular events. Under stressful conditions, ROS is mainly produced intracellularly by uncoupled eNOS, xanthine oxidase and cyclooxygenase, and extracellularly by NOXs. Increase in the concentration of ROS results in the rapid reaction of coupling of the molecule with NO to reduce active NO availability and endothelial function. Increased ROS formation also results in uncoupling of eNOS, a condition in which monomeric form of eNOS produces superoxide rather than nitric oxide, subsequently resulting in endothelial dysfunction. ROS is also have been found to activate various signalling pathways such as MAP kinase pathway, activates Rho-kinase and inadvertently induces vasoconstriction (Da Luz et al., 2018).
1.5 Inflammatory cytokines in hypertension and their effect on endothelial dysfunction

1.5.1 IL-1β

IL-1B is a pro-inflammatory cytokine mostly produced by cells of the innate immune system like monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells in an inactive form called pro-IL-1B. This inactive form is then cleaved by caspase 1 to form the active IL-1B molecule which is around 17 kilo Dalton (kDa) in molecular weight (Thornberry et al., 1992). IL-1B is made up of 12 anti-parallel B strands (Veerapandian et al., 1992).

IL-18 might be linked to hypertension but not a lot of work has been done to study the effects of the cytokine on the disease, though IL-18 levels have found to be associated with blood pressure in hypertensive populations. In a prospective cohort of healthy individuals, baseline IL-18 levels were significantly higher in subjects that developed hypertension over the follow-up period and a linear relationship was recorded between systolic blood pressure and quartiles of the cytokine after adjustments indicating that IL-18 can be used as a potential marker to predict hypertension (Mauno et al., 2008). In contrast, when black and white women were enrolled in a nested case control study, the risk of developing hypertension was not significantly associated with baseline levels of IL-18 (Wang et al., 2011). Another study looked at serum levels of the cytokine in patients with essential hypertension and found significantly increased IL-18 levels when compared with the control group and also found a positive correlation with blood pressure (Dalekos et al., 1997).

IL-1B has been found to impair endothelium dependent relaxation in diabetic mice. When the vessels were treated with varying concentrations of the cytokine for 2 hours, impairment was observed for all concentrations (Vallejo et al., 2014). The role of IL-1B in endothelial dysfunction has been studied for diseases like rheumatoid arthritis (Yang et al., 2016, Garg et al., 2017), periodontitis (Bergandi et al., 2019), pulmonary hypertension (Voelkel et al., 1994), and more work is required to comprehend its actions and mechanisms in the development of hypertension and its potential role in endothelial dysfunction.

1.5.2 IL-6

IL-6 was first discovered between 1986 and 1987 when several groups purified the same molecule (Van Snick, 1990). IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine and a myokine which is around 21-28 kDa in molecular weight, depending on its source of origin, with four α -helix bundles in its structure (Scheller et al., 2011). IL-6 is produced by macrophages, monocytes, T cells, mast cells, fibroblasts, and its production is stimulated by a viral infection or by lipopolysaccharides (Scheller et al., 2011, Van Snick, 1990, Feng et al., 2022).

The cytokine signals through its receptor which occurs in a transmembrane as well as a soluble form. The cytokine receptor complex then activates the JAK/STAT signalling and MAPK signalling to modulate its functions (Tanaka et al., 2018). Among many functions of IL-6, it is responsible for the differentiation of T cells into Treg, cytotoxic T cells, Th17 cell, proliferation and differentiation of B cells, stimulates the production of acute phase proteins such as CRP and inhibits the production of albumin in the liver, activate vascular endothelial cells to produce cytokines, and increase endothelial permeability (Tanaka et al., 2018, Cronstein, 2007). High levels of the cytokine have pathological effects such as induced inflammation in lymph nodes in Castleman disease, and increased angiogenesis by stimulating VEGFs in rheumatoid diseases (Tanaka et al., 2018).

Increased levels of IL-6 have also found to impact the pathogenesis of hypertension. In a cross-sectional study with obese and hypertensive diabetic patients, while studying the effect of insulin resistance, the researchers found that significant increases in serum levels of IL-6 were found in the group with obese hypertensive patients (Lukic et al., 2014). Blood pressure levels are also associated with IL-6 levels. In a study looking at the cross-sectional relationship of the cytokine with blood pressure, IL-6 was found to be significantly associated with increased blood pressure (Bautista et al., 2005b). Another study found that lowering of blood pressure in young untreated hypertensive patients resulted in lower serum IL-6 values (Vázquez-Oliva et al., 2005). IL-6 is also found to affect the renal function in hypertensive patients. A study observed changes in the cytokine levels and its associations in urinary albumin excretion rate in hypertensive individuals and found positive correlation between the two (Yu et al., 2010). Higher serum levels of IL-6 are also found to be associated with

hypertension prevalent in women but not men, as well as in incident hypertension however genetic polymorphism of the cytokine did not associate with hypertension (Cheung et al., 2011b). Epigenetic changes in IL-6 have also been found to affect the risk of essential hypertension. When hypomethylation of IL-6 was studied in human blood samples from hypertensive and normotensive individuals, correlation between hypomethylated IL-6 and risk of hypertension was found (Mao et al., 2017b).

Studies in animal models also support the involvement of the cytokine in hypertension development. When Ang II induced and high salt diet hypertension was studied in wild type and IL-6 knockout mice, blood pressure levels were similar in both wild type and knockout mice with high salt diet whereas a significant increase in blood pressure levels was observed in wild type mice upon Ang II infusion indicating the role of IL-6 in the development of Ang II induced hypertension (Lee et al., 2006a). IL-6 has also been found to play a role in the JAK/STAT pathway activation in hypertension. When Ang II infusion was carried out in wild type and IL-6 knockout mice, increased arterial pressure was observed in wild type mice along with phosphorylation of JAK2 and STAT3 in the cortex of kidneys whereas no JAK/STAT phosphorylation was observed in knockout mice (Brands et al., 2010). IL-6 also mediates hypertension in pregnant rats by inhibiting eNOS activity resulting in reduced NO production and increased vascular pressure (Orshal and Khalil, 2004).

The mechanism by which IL-6 interferes with the development of hypertension can be its action on endothelium dysregulation. Research on non-diabetic men found negative association of circulating IL-6 levels with endothelium dependent vasodilation but no association was observed with endothelium-independent vasorelaxation (Esteve et al., 2007). In mouse models, when the effect of IL-6 was studied on Ang II induced hypertension in wild type, IL-6 knockout and NOX2 knockout mice, endothelium dependent relaxation with ACh was impaired in wild type Ang II infused mice (Schrader et al., 2007a). While looking for predictors of endothelial dysfunction in coronary arteries, a group of researchers found that coronary vascular resistance was higher in hypertensive patients when compared with normotensive patients and a univariate analysis correlated the increased vascular resistance with increased serum IL-6 levels and multivariate analysis resulted in IL-6 being an independent predictor of endothelial dysfunction in coronary arteries (Naya et al., 2007b).

1.5.3 TNF-α

TNF- α is a cytokine which was discovered in 1968 in mouse sera and showed tumor cell death (Carswell et al., 1975). It is 233 amino acid long and is first produced as a transmembrane protein, which is then cleaved by TNF- α converting enzyme to produce a soluble form, which is 157 amino acid long,17 kDa in weight, made up of β sheets, and forms a trimer to become a more stable and active form (Moss et al., 1997, Balkwill, 2006). TNF is highly expressed in the lungs, kidneys, spleen, colon, and thymus in humans. Low levels of the cytokines are found in the brain, liver, and heart. Upon increased stress and inflammation signals by pathogens, the cytokine is produced by the cells of the immune system such as mast cells, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, T cells, NK cells, as well as endothelial cells and fibroblasts (Falvo et al., 2010).

TNF- α has two receptor types, TNF receptor (TNFR) 1 and 2, both of which are transmembrane proteins. TNFR1 is activated by soluble forms of the cytokine whereas TNFR2 requires a membrane bound form if TNF- α (Balkwill, 2006). The cytokine signals via the activation of MAP kinase pathway, NF- κ B, by both receptors and AKT pathway by TNFR2 (Jang et al., 2021). TNF- α demonstrates a plethora of functions in cells or tissues. It is responsible for the initiation of apoptosis in almost all the cells in the body, deactivates T cell receptors on both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, activation of B cells, proliferation of Treg cells, stimulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells, activation and proliferation of macrophages, monocytes and natural killer cells, induces dysfunction in adipocytes and cytokine production in endothelial cells (Yamada and Takaoka, 2021).

Apart from its apoptosis inducing properties, TNF- α is also a critical factor in the development of hypertension, though the mechanism through which the cytokine acts is understudied. Higher levels of the cytokine are found in hypertensive patients when compared to normotensive patients where increased blood pressure in hypertensive individuals is found to increase oxidative stress (Verma et al., 2019). Whereas, when TNF- α levels were measured in individuals enrolled

in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) study, the cytokine levels were not significantly associated with any blood pressure measurements or hypertension (Allison et al., 2013). In mice, when hypertension was induced by Ang II infusion, TNF- α production was increased in T cells and blocking its production averted the development of hypertension (Guzik et al., 2007). In another study, levels of TNF- α along with other inflammatory cytokines were significantly increased in liver, heart, brain and kidneys of spontaneously hypertensive rats (Sun et al., 2006). TNF- α has been found to play a part in the progression of pulmonary hypertension (Liu et al., 2020, Hurst et al., 2017, Sutendra et al., 2011) and preeclampsia (Davis et al., 2002, LaMarca et al., 2007). Increased plasma levels of TNF- α induces high levels of blood pressure in pregnant rats, suggesting that TNF- α may be responsible for preeclampsia but the increased blood pressure levels due to the cytokine can be countered with endothelin receptor A treatment (LaMarca et al., 2005b). In another study, infusion of TNF- α resulted in increased plasma levels of the cytokine, increased arterial pressure and increased renal vascular resistance in the treated pregnant rats indicating a role of the cytokine in mediating renal alterations and inducing arterial pressure variations (LaMarca et al., 2005a).

TNF- α is known to increase the production of NOXs in the endothelium which results in higher levels of ROS subsequently causing endothelial dysfunction (Gao et al., 2007a). TNF- α has also been found to act on the eNOS promoter and inhibit its action resulting in reduced eNOS activity and low NO levels (Neumann et al., 2004). Intravenous treatment with TNF- α in the 1990s showed significant impairment of endothelium dependent relaxation by ACh which was also supported by in-vitro treatment of vessels demonstrating similar results (Wang et al., 1994). When administered to healthy humans intravenously, plasma TNF- α levels were increased in both administered and non-administered arms but no changes in blood pressure were observed whereas a decrease in relaxation was observed with Ach indicating endothelial dependent impairment (Chia et al., 2003). Another study looking at the effect of TNF- α on endothelium in prediabetic metabolic rat model demonstrated endothelial dependent relaxation was impaired but restored upon treatment with anti-TNF, ROS production was increased and TNF levels were increased in endothelial cells of the heart (Picchi et al., 2006). TNF- α is also associated with endothelial

dysregulation in cardiovascular events like ischemia and reperfusion injuries (Gao et al., 2008, Gao et al., 2007b, Zhang et al., 2010).

1.5.4 IFN-γ

IFN- γ was first discovered in 1965 as an interferon-like virus inhibitor (Wheelock, 1965), and it was designated at it is known now, in early 1970s (Billiau and Matthys, 2009). IFN- γ is a soluble monomer which is composed of six α -helices and occurs as a dimer in its active form (Gray and Goeddel, 1982). It is made up of 146 amino acids (Gray and Goeddel, 1982) and is primarily produced immune cells such as Th1 cells, natural killer cells, and cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and its secretion is activated by increased inflammatory cytokines such as IL-18, IL-12 and IL-18 (Pereiro et al., 2019, Gocher et al., 2022).

IFN- γ is known for its anti-tumor and pro-inflammatory properties. The cytokine activates macrophages, induces major histocompatibility complex class II and amplifies antigen presentation, increases ROS production and increases phagocytosis (Kak et al., 2018, Ng et al., 2023). IFN- γ is also known to enhance iNOS production by myeloid cells (Gocher et al., 2022). The receptor for IFN- γ is a heterodimer and the cytokine majorly signals through the JAK/STAT pathway. Other signaling pathways activated by IFN- γ are MAP kinase pathway, mechanistic target of Rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway (Schroder et al., 2003).

IFN- γ has been studied to have a role in the pathogenesis of hypertension. Higher serum levels of the cytokine have been found in hypertensive patients when compared with normotensive patients in a study conducted by Ji and colleagues (Ji et al., 2017). A study published in 2019 measured serum levels of inflammatory cytokines in diabetic, obese and hypertensive men and found that serum levels of IFN- γ were significantly higher in subjects with both diabetes and hypertension (Asadikaram et al., 2019). In a study on IFN- γ knockout mice, Ang II infusion resulted in blunted blood pressure increase but the diuretic responses were maintained suggesting that IFN- γ might be necessary for sodium reabsorption in the kidneys (Kamat et al., 2015). A study on brain endothelial cells of hypertensive and normotensive rats demonstrated that IFN- γ stimulation increased the level of intercellular adhesion molecule 1 significantly more in hypertensive rats than in normotensive rats (McCarron et al., 1994), indicating a possible mechanism of hypertension leading to the development of cardiovascular diseases. The role of epigenetics also affects IFN- γ induced hypertension, as studied by Bao and colleagues (Bao et al., 2018). They found that hypomethylation of IFN- γ promoter gene has a positive link with essential hypertension in human subjects.

The pleiotropic effects of IFN- γ are well known and its part in vascular dysfunction is widely studied. IFN- γ has been found to act on endothelial cells but its mechanism of action is still under question. When HUVECs were stimulated with different concentrations of the cytokine [10, 100 and 1000 microgram per milliliter (µg/ml)] for 24 hours, NO production was decreased but the difference was only significant at the highest concentration (Javanmard and Dana, 2012). A significant role played by IFN- γ in modulating endothelial function is interfering with its permeability. In one study, HUVECs were stimulated with various concentrations of IFN- γ for multiple time points and the permeability of the endothelium was studied. A biphasic increase in permeability via actin rearrangement was observed (Ng et al., 2015). IFN- γ is also known to alter eNOS transcription by stimulating class II trans activator which acts on eNOS promoter (Weng et al., 2019).

1.5.5 IL-17A

First discovered as cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen (CTLA) 8 in 1993, IL-17 gene was cloned from a murine T-cell hybridoma formed by combining mouse cytotoxic T cell clone and rat T cell lymphoma (Rouvier et al., 1993). IL-17A is a 155 amino acid long protein with molecular weight of 35 kDA with disulfide bridges in its conserved C terminus (Onishi and Gaffen, 2010). The IL-17 family has six isoforms IL-17 A-F. IL-17A is interchangeably known as IL-17, and has the highest homology with IL-17F, and both can either be found as homodimers or IL-17 A/F heterodimer (McGeachy et al., 2019).

Majorly produced by the Th17 cells, IL-17A is also produced by γδ T cells, natural killer T cells, neutrophils, innate lymphoid cells, mast cells, cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and myeloid cells (Ge et al., 2020). The cytokine signals via the IL-17 receptors (IL-17R A-E) which are present on various cells such as epithelial cells and fibroblasts along with neutrophils. IL-17A signals through the NF-κB nuclear factor, the MAP kinase pathway and JAK/STAT signaling (Kostareva et al., 2019). IL-17A is known to mediate inflammation by inducing the production of cytokines, antimicrobial peptides, chemokines responsible for activating immune defense mechanisms via the neutrophils, macrophages, DCs and monocytes. It is also known to induce the production of iNOS and other proteins responsible for vascular maintenance. IL-17 has been also known to play a part in vascular remodeling in pulmonary inflammation, in the spleen, and myocardial infarction (Kostareva et al., 2019, Ge et al., 2020).

The role of IL-17A in the development of hypertension is a subject of debate. A study by Madhur and colleagues (Madhur et al., 2010b) found that infusing Ang II in C57BL/6J mice increased the production of IL-17 by T cells, as well as IL-17 was required in the development of Ang II induced hypertension, and IL-17 induced vascular dysfunction in Ang II treated mouse aortas. Furthermore, they observed that IL-17 serum levels were higher in diabetic patients with hypertension. Another study found that IL-17 induced arterial stiffness with Ang II treatment (Wu et al., 2014) which may lead to increased arterial pressure and subsequently hypertension but the mechanism of action still remains understudied. In variance, a study looking at the effect of anti-IL-17 therapy in reducing blood pressure did not show any changes upon investigation. Blocking the effect of IL-17 did not lower blood pressure nor did it affect cardiac hypertrophy (Markó et al., 2012). Another study looked at the role of IL-17 in hypertensive renal damage and found that IL-17 induces renal inflammation and increased blood pressure (Orejudo et al., 2019). So, to have a clearer understanding of the action mechanism of IL-17, further studies are needed.

To understand the role of IL-17 better in the pathogenesis of hypertension, recognizing the cytokine's role in vascular function is important. IL-17 is known to increase ROS production, alter phosphorylation of eNOS, impairs elasticity of the vasculature and promotes fibrosis (Harrison et al., 2021). A study published in 2013 demonstrated that IL-17 significantly induced eNOS phosphorylation at Threonine 495 (T495) in endothelial cells and Rho-kinase inhibitor treatment prevented the increase in IL-17 induced phosphorylation. The study also demonstrated that IL-17 has direct effects on vascular function by significantly impairing endothelium dependent relaxation by acetylcholine (Ach) and infusion

of IL-17 in mice increased serum levels of the cytokine as well as increased blood pressure significantly (Nguyen et al., 2012). Another study showed that IL-17 induces endothelial cell death in the human umbilical vasculature as well as increased serum levels of the cytokine in patients with acute coronary syndrome (Zhu et al., 2011). The mechanisms by which IL-17 induces its vascular dysregulation are not studied in detail but a few studies suggest signaling pathways that may or may not be used in inducing IL-17 effects. Endothelin-1 pathway is not a mechanism for the endothelial dysfunction caused by IL-17 in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) as well as in pregnant rats (Cornelius et al., 2013). Zhang and colleagues demonstrate the effect of IL-17 on endothelial senescence in their recent study (Zhang et al., 2021). This expression was inhibited by blocking the NF-κB signaling confirming the link between IL-17 and endothelial cell death.

1.5.6 IL-15

IL-15 was discovered 29 years ago in 1994 in two separate laboratories simultaneously and was initially classified as a T cell growth factor (Burton et al., 1994, Grabstein et al., 1994). With a molecular weight of 14-15 kDa, IL-15 is a glycoprotein which belongs to the four-α helix cytokine family (Fehniger and Caligiuri, 2001). IL-15 protein is 114 amino acid long in both humans and mice (Sindaco et al., 2023). Alternate splicing of IL-15 pre-mRNA results in different sizes of signaling peptides which decide if the mature IL-15 will remain cytosolic or is secreted by the cells (Perera et al., 2012). IL-15 is produced and expressed by cells such as macrophages, monocytes, dendritic cells, fibroblasts, a variety of tissue epithelial cells, nerve cells, keratinocytes and low levels in T cells (Perera et al., 2012, Patidar et al., 2016).

IL-15 plays a vital role in the activation, differentiation, and proliferation of various cells of the innate and adaptive immune system. While the cells do not produce or express IL-15, NK cells express the IL-15 receptor α and $\beta\gamma$ complex though this receptor presentation does not act in the relaying the functions of IL-15 in the cells' maintenance (Perera et al., 2012). IL-15 is expressed by monocytes and induces the production of chemokines which attracts the first line of defence to the infection site. They act as the autocrine regulator of inflammatory cytokines, when IL-15 is higher, the cells produce pro-

inflammatory cytokines and lower levels of IL-15 induces the cells to produce anti-inflammatory cytokines (Perera et al., 2012). IL-15 acts in an autocrine manner to modulate the production of DCs which control the activities of NK cells, produce inflammatory cytokines and function as the first line of defence in an infectious environment. IL-15 manages the activities of neutrophils and stimulates their phagocytotic behaviour as well as stimulate the cells to produce IL-8 (Verri Jr et al., 2007). IL-15 is also known to stimulate mast cells via a nonclassical receptor unlike NK cells and T cells. IL-15 is responsible for the development of CD8⁺ T cells and the maintenance of memory CD8⁺ T cells but only limited concentrations are required to maintain CD4⁺ T cells (Waldmann, 2017). Whereas the role of IL-15 in the functioning of B cells is very limited and sometimes indirect (Gil et al., 2010).

The role of IL-15 is has been studied in various cardiovascular diseases like myocardial infarction, myocarditis, atherosclerosis and arterial fibrillation and a positive effect has been found (Guo et al., 2020), but its role in the progression of hypertension is not very well studied. Kaibe and colleagues (Kaibe et al., 2005) studied around 400 patients with essential hypertension in Osaka, Japan and found significantly elevated levels of IL-15 in patients with severe organ damage. So, to decipher the role of IL-15 in the pathogenesis of hypertension cannot be strongly supported by this study due to its limitations but exploring the mechanisms of oxidative stress caused by varying levels of IL-15 could be a considerable factor. IL-15 activates various immune cells via JAK/STAT pathways by binding to its receptor domains α and $\beta\gamma$ complex (Schluns et al., 2005). It has been found that in brain endothelium, IL-15 signals via tha NF- κ B pathway (Stone et al., 2011). Not only the JAK/STAT pathway, IL-15 also activates the MAP kinase pathway (Perera et al., 2012). The interplay between the stimulation of signalling pathways and the activation of immune cells results in the increase of inflammatory cytokines which affect the equilibrium of reactive oxygen species maintaining the functions of the endothelium and may result in endothelial dysfunction.

1.6 Aims and objectives

The main objective of this thesis has been to identify vascular effects of inflammatory cytokines relevant in the development of hypertension and endothelial dysfunction.

To achieve this, three aims were set:

- 1. Identifying and investigating the association of inflammatory cytokine levels and the development of hypertension in humans.
- Investigating the direct effects of the identified inflammatory cytokines on vascular function in mouse blood vessels by studying endotheliumdependent and independent vasomotor effects.
- 3. Investigate mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction caused by the selected inflammatory cytokines by studying.
 - a) eNOS phosphorylation in human endothelial cells and expression in mouse vessels
 - b) NADPH oxidase expression in mouse vessels

Chapter 2 Inflammatory cytokines and risk of developing hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis

2.1 Introduction

Hypertension is a major modifiable risk factor for CVDs but is frequently undiagnosed and poorly controlled (Collaboration, 2017, Liberale et al., 2021, Cheema et al., 2022). The pathophysiology of hypertension is complex (Nosalski et al., 2017, Griendling et al., 2021, Brandes, 2014, Murray et al., 2021, Siedlinski et al., 2020, Mikolajczyk et al., 2021).

Experimental and clinical studies suggest a positive association between proinflammatory cytokines and systolic blood pressure (Chae et al., 2001, Nguyen et al., 2013a, Dalekos et al., 1997, Chamarthi et al., 2011, Elmarakby et al., 2008, Madhur et al., 2010a, Saleh et al., 2015, Crosswhite and Sun, 2010, Lee et al., 2006b, Gonzalez-Amor et al., 2022). Consistent with this notion, inhibitors of TNF- α and IL-6 have been shown to reduce blood pressure in experimental models (Abdelrahman et al., 2018, Murray et al., 2021), but findings were contradictory in humans (Faria et al., 2021, Rothman et al., 2020, Provan et al., 2015). The use of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) and angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) might suppress the production of IL-6, IL-1B, and TNF- α by various cells, perhaps as a result of their antihypertensive properties (Schindler et al., 1995, Peeters et al., 1998, Vazquez-Oliva et al., 2005). The activation of the renin-angiotensin system and sympathetic nervous system stimulates the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines (Zhang et al., 2003, Funakoshi et al., 1999, Han et al., 1999, Ruiz-Ortega et al., 2002, Sanz-Rosa et al., 2005), which further supports a potential role for cytokines in the regulation of blood pressure. An imbalance between pro-inflammatory cytokines, for instance, TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1B (Kany et al., 2019), that initiate inflammation in response to tissue injury, and anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10, that inhibit excessive inflammatory reactions (Opal and DePalo, 2000), might lead to the development of hypertension and other severe cardiovascular complications, including coronary artery disease and heart failure (Caiazzo et al., 2022). Importantly, recently pharmacological targeting of IL-1B was shown to significantly reduce the rate of secondary cardiovascular events in atherosclerotic patients (Ridker et al., 2017a). Similarly, the effect of IL-6 inhibition in patients at high atherosclerotic risk is currently under investigation (Ridker, 2021).

However, whether pro-inflammatory cytokines are associated with the development of hypertension is unclear (Bautista et al., 2005a, Ghazi et al., 2020, Lakoski et al., 2011, Sesso et al., 2007); thus, we performed this systematic review of the literature and a meta-analysis to investigate this association.

2.2 Methods

This study was reported based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (http://www.prismastatement.org/). The review protocol was registered in PROSPERO, the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/index.asp, identifier: CRD42022378211). This systematic review and meta-analysis is published in Pharmacol Res. 2023, Dec 29;200:107050. DOI: 10.1016/j.phrs.2023.107050.

2.2.1 Data sources

We searched Medline (Pubmed), Web of Science, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) and Embase 1947-present (Ovid) databases for relevant studies published from database inception to the 23rd of August 2022, using the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms/Emtree and keywords related to the topic of interest limited to title and/or abstract. The search was reviewed by an experienced librarian of the University of Glasgow, Paul Cannon.

2.2.2 Search Strategy

2.2.2.1 Cytokine keywords

Cytokine OR cytokines OR Interleukin OR Interleukins

IL-1 OR IL1 OR interleukin 1 OR interleukin-1 OR interleukin1 OR interleukin 1 alpha OR Interleukin1alpha OR Interleukin 1alpha OR IL-1alpha OR IL-1 alpha OR IL-1A OR IL1A OR Hematopoietin-1 OR Hematopoietin 1 OR interleukin 1 beta OR Interleukin 1beta OR Interleukin-1 beta OR IL-1beta OR IL1 beta OR IL-1B OR IL1B OR IL-1Gamma OR interleukin-1 gamma OR interleukin 1 gamma OR interleukin 1gamma OR Lymphocyte-Activating Factor OR Lymphocyte Activating Factor OR Epidermal Cell Derived Thymocyte-Activating Factor OR Epidermal Cell Derived Thymocyte Activating Factor

IL-2 OR IL2 OR interleukin 2 OR interleukin-2 OR interleukin2 OR Interleukin II OR T Cell Stimulating Factor OR Thymocyte Stimulating Factor OR T-Cell Stimulating Factor OR Mitogenic Factor OR T-Cell Growth Factor OR T Cell Growth Factor IL-3 OR IL3 OR interleukin 3 OR interleukin-3 OR interleukin3 OR colonystimulating factor OR multi-CSF OR Multipotential Colony Stimulating Factor OR Multipotential Colony-Stimulating Factor OR Eosinophil-Mast Cell Growth-Factor OR Eosinophil Mast Cell Growth Factor OR Mast Cell Colony-Stimulating Factor OR Mast-Cell Colony-Stimulating Factor OR mast cell growth factor OR Hematopoietin-2 OR Hematopoietin 2 OR Colony-Stimulating Factor 2 Alpha OR hematopoietic growth factor

IL-4 OR IL4 OR interleukin 4 OR interleukin-4 OR interleukin4 OR B Cell Proliferating Factor OR B-Cell Proliferating Factor OR B-Cell Stimulatory Factor-1 OR B-Cell Stimulatory Factor 1 OR B-Cell Stimulating Factor-1 OR B Cell Stimulating Factor 1 OR B-Cell Growth Factor-1 OR B-Cell Growth Factor-I OR B Cell Growth Factor I OR B Cell Growth Factor 1 OR Mast Cell Growth Factor 2 OR Mast Cell Growth Factor-2 OR lymphocyte stimulatory factor 1

IL-5 OR IL5 OR interleukin 5 OR interleukin-5 OR interleukin5 OR B-Cell Growth Factor-II OR B Cell Growth Factor II OR Eosinophil Differentiation Factor OR Bcell differentiation factor 1 OR B-cell differentiation factor-1

IL-6 OR IL6 OR interleukin 6 OR Interleukin-6 OR interleukin6 OR B Cell Differentiation Factor 2 OR B Cell Differentiation Factor OR B-Cell Differentiation Factor-2 OR B-Cell Stimulatory Factor 2 OR B Cell Stimulatory Factor-2 OR B Cell Stimulatory Factor 2 OR IFN-beta 2 OR beta-2 Interferon OR Interferon beta 2 OR Interferon beta-2 OR Myeloid Differentiation-Inducing Protein OR Myeloid Differentiation Inducing Protein

IL-7 OR IL7 OR interleukin 7 OR interleukin-7 OR interleukin7 OR Lymphopoietin 1 OR Lymphopoietin-1

IL-8 OR IL8 OR interleukin 8 OR interleukin-8 OR interleukin8 OR chemokine C-X-C motif ligand 8 OR CXCL8 OR CXCL8 Chemokine OR CXCL8 Chemokines OR Chemokine CXCL8 OR neutrophil chemotactic factor OR Anionic Neutrophil-Activating Peptide OR Anionic Neutrophil Activating Peptide OR Alveolar Macrophage Chemotactic Factor-I OR Alveolar Macrophage Chemotactic Factor I OR Granulocyte Chemotactic Peptide Interleukin 8 OR Granulocyte Chemotactic Peptide-Interleukin-8 OR Monocyte-Derived Neutrophil Chemotactic Factor OR Monocyte-Derived Neutrophil-Activating Peptide OR Macrophage-Derived Chemotactic Factor OR Lymphocyte-Derived Neutrophil-Activating Peptide OR Granulocyte chemotactic protein 1 OR Neutrophil-activating protein 1 OR T-cell chemotactic factor

IL-9 OR IL9 OR interleukin 9 OR interleukin-9 OR interleukin9 OR T-Cell Growth Factor P40 OR P40 TCell Growth Factor OR T Cell Growth Factor P40 OR P40 T Cell Growth Factor OR Cytokine P40

IL-10 OR IL10 OR interleukin 10 OR interleukin-10 OR interleukin10 OR human cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor OR cytokine synthesis inhibitory factor

IL-11 OR IL11 OR interleukin 11 OR interleukin-11 OR interleukin11

IL-12 OR IL12 OR interleukin 12 OR interleukin-12 OR interleukin12 OR IL-12 p70 OR Interleukin-12 p70 OR Interleukin 12 p70 OR Cytotoxic Lymphocyte Maturation Factor OR Natural Killer Cell Stimulatory Factor OR IL-12 alpha OR IL-12A OR IL 12A OR IL12A OR IL-12a OR IL-12 subunit p35 OR NK cell stimulatory factor chain 1 OR IL-12 beta OR IL-12B OR IL12B OR IL-12 subunit p40 OR NK cell stimulatory factor chain 2

IL-13 OR IL13 OR interleukin 13 OR interleukin-13 OR interleukin13

IL-14 OR IL14 OR interleukin 14 OR interleukin-14 OR interleukin14 OR alphataxilin OR alpha taxilin

IL-15 OR IL15 OR interleukin 15 OR interleukin-15 OR interleukin15

IL-16 OR IL16 OR interleukin 16 OR interleukin-16 OR interleukin16 OR Lymphocyte Chemoattractant Factor

IL-17 OR IL17 OR interleukin 17 OR interleukin-17 OR interleukin17 OR interleukin 17A OR interleukin-17A OR IL-17A OR IL 17A OR CTLA-8 OR CTLA8 OR Cytotoxic T lymphocyte Associated Antigen 8 OR Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-Associated Antigen 8 OR Interleukin-17B OR Interleukin 17B OR IL-17B OR IL 17B OR IL17B OR Interleukin-17C OR Interleukin 17C OR IL-17C OR IL17C OR Cytokine CX2 OR interleukin 17F OR Interleukin-17F OR IL-17F OR IL17F OR Cytokine ML-1 OR Cytokine ML 1

IL-18 OR IL18 OR interleukin 18 OR interleukin-18 OR interleukin18 OR interferon-gamma inducing factor OR Interferon-gamma-Inducing Factor OR Interferon gamma Inducing Factor OR IFN-gamma Inducing Factor OR IFN gamma Inducing Factor

IL-19 OR IL19 OR interleukin 19 OR interleukin-19 OR interleukin19

IL-20 OR IL20 OR interleukin 20 OR interleukin-20 OR interleukin20

IL-21 OR IL21 OR interleukin 21 OR interleukin-21 OR interleukin21

IL-22 OR IL22 OR interleukin 22 OR interleukin-22 OR interleukin22 OR IL-10related T-cell-derived inducible factor OR IL-TIF

IL-23 OR IL23 OR interleukin 23 OR interleukin-23 OR interleukin23 OR IL-23A OR IL-23alpha

IL-24 OR IL24 OR interleukin 24 OR interleukin-24 OR interleukin24 OR Melanoma differentiation associated gene 7 protein OR MDA-7 OR Suppression of tumorigenicity 16 protein

IL-25 OR IL25 OR interleukin 25 OR Interleukin-25 OR Interleukin25 OR IL-17E OR IL17E OR interleukin-17E OR Interleukin 17E

IL-26 OR IL26 OR interleukin 26 OR interleukin-26 OR interleukin26 OR Protein AK155

IL-27 OR IL27 OR interleukin 27 OR Interleukin-27 OR interleukin27 OR Interleukin-17D OR Interleukin 17D OR IL-17D OR IL17D OR IL-27A OR IL-27 alpha OR Epstein-Barr virus-induced gene 3 protein OR EBV-induced gene 3 protein OR interleukin 27beta IL-28 OR IL28 OR interleukin 28 OR interleukin-28 OR interleukin28 OR IL-28A OR IL28A OR interleukin 28A OR interleukin-28A OR IL-28B OR IL28B OR interleukin 28B OR interleukin-28B

IL-29 OR IL29 OR interleukin 29 OR interleukin-29 OR interleukin29 OR interferon lambda OR IFN lambda

IL-30 OR IL30 OR interleukin 30 OR interleukin-30 OR interleukin30 OR IL27-p28 OR Interleukin-30 IL27p28

IL-31 OR IL31 OR interleukin 31 OR interleukin-31 OR interleukin31

IL-32 OR IL32 OR interleukin 32 OR interleukin-32 OR interleukin32 OR IL-32alpha OR IL-32beta OR IL-32delta OR IL-32gamma OR natural killer cell transcript 4 OR NK4

IL-33 OR IL33 OR interleukin 33 OR interleukin-33 OR interleukin33 OR Interleukin-1 family member 11 OR IL-1F11 OR Nuclear factor from high endothelial venules OR NF-HEV

IL-34 OR IL34 OR interleukin 34 OR interleukin-34 OR interleukin34

IL-35 OR IL35 OR interleukin 35 OR interleukin-35 OR interleukin35

IL-36 OR IL36 OR interleukin 36 OR interleukin-36 OR interleukin36 OR FIL1 epsilon OR Interleukin-1 epsilon OR IL-1 epsilon OR Interleukin-1 family member 6 OR IL-1F6 OR FIL1 eta OR Interleukin-1 eta OR IL-1 eta OR Interleukin-1 family member 8 OR IL-1F8 OR Interleukin-1 homolog 2 OR IL-1H2 OR IL1-related protein 2 OR IL-1RP2 OR Interleukin-1 family member 9 OR IL-1F9 OR Interleukin-1 homolog 1 OR IL-1H1

IL-37 OR IL37 OR interleukin 37 OR interleukin-37 OR interleukin37 OR IL-1 family member 7 OR IL-1F7 OR FIL1 zeta OR IL-1X OR Interleukin-1 family member 7 OR Interleukin-1 homolog 4 OR IL-1H OR IL-1H4 OR Interleukin-1 zeta OR IL-1 zeta OR Interleukin-1-related protein OR IL-1RP1

IL-38 OR IL38 OR interleukin 38 OR interleukin-38 OR interleukin38

IL-39 OR IL39 OR interleukin 39 OR interleukin-39 OR interleukin39

IL-40 OR IL40 OR interleukin 40 OR interleukin-40 OR interleukin40

TNF OR tumor necrosis factor OR tumour necrosis factor OR tumor necrosis factor alpha OR tumour necrosis factor alpha OR Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha OR Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha OR TNFalpha OR TNF-alpha OR cachexin OR cachectin OR Cachectin-Tumor Necrosis Factor OR Cachectin Tumor Necrosis Factor OR Tumor Necrosis Factor Ligand Superfamily Member 2 OR Tumour Necrosis Factor Ligand Superfamily Member 2

TNFb OR TNFB OR Tumor Necrosis Factor-beta OR Tumour Necrosis Factor-beta OR Tumor Necrosis Factor beta OR Tumour Necrosis Factor beta OR TNF-beta OR lymphotoxin-alpha OR Lymphotoxin alpha OR alpha-Lymphotoxin OR alpha Lymphotoxin OR Lymphotoxin-alpha3 OR Soluble Lymphotoxin alpha OR Soluble Lymphotoxin-alpha OR Lymphotoxin alpha3 OR Lymphotoxin OR Tumor Necrosis Factor Ligand Superfamily Member 1 OR Tumour Necrosis Factor Ligand Superfamily Member 1 OR LT-alpha

Tumor Necrosis Factor C OR TNF-C OR TNFC OR Tumour Necrosis Factor C OR Lymphotoxin beta OR LT-beta OR Tumor Necrosis Factor Ligand 1C OR Tumour Necrosis Factor Ligand 1C OR TNF Superfamily Member 3

IFN OR IFN a OR interferon alpha OR alpha Interferon OR Interferon alpha 1 OR Interferon alpha-1 OR IFNalpha1 OR IFN-alpha2 OR IFN alpha D OR IFN-alpha D OR Interferon alpha 4 OR Interferon alpha4 OR Interferon alpha-4 OR Interferon alpha-J OR Interferon alpha J OR Interferon alpha 7 OR Interferon alpha-7 OR Lymphoblastoid Interferon OR Leukocyte Interferon OR Interferon Alfa OR Lymphoblast Interferon OR Interferon alpha-17 OR Interferon alpha 17 OR Interferon alpha-88 OR Interferon alpha 88 OR Interferon alpha-T OR Interferon alpha T OR Interferon alpha 5 OR IFN-alpha5 OR Interferon alpha-5 OR IFN alpha5 OR Interferon alpha5

IFN b OR IFNb OR interferon beta OR Interferon-beta OR beta-1 Interferon OR Interferon beta1 OR Interferon-beta1 OR beta 1 Interferon OR Fibroblast Interferon OR beta Interferon OR betaInterferon IFN g OR IFNg OR interferon gamma OR Interferon-gamma OR gamma-Interferon OR Interferon Type II OR Type II Interferon OR Immune Interferon OR INF-gamma OR INFG

TGF OR TGF a OR TGFa OR TGF-alpha OR TGFalpha OR TGF alpha OR transforming growth factor alpha OR Epidermal Growth Factor Related Transforming Growth Factor OR Epidermal Growth Factor-Related Transforming Growth Factor OR ETGF OR TGF type 1

TGF b OR TGFb OR TGF-beta OR TGFbeta OR TGF beta OR transforming growth factor beta OR transforming growth factor b OR Bone Derived Transforming Growth Factor OR Bone-Derived Transforming Growth Factor OR Platelet Transforming Growth Factor

M-CSF OR macrophage colony stimulating factor OR Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor OR colony stimulating factor 1 OR Colony-Stimulating Factor 1 OR CSF-1 OR CSF1

GM-CSF OR Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor OR Granulocyte-Macrophage ColonyStimulating Factor OR colony-stimulating factor 2 OR Histamine-Producing Cell-Stimulating Factor OR Histamine Producing Cell Stimulating Factor OR CSF2 OR CSF-2

G-CSF OR granulocyte colony stimulating factor OR Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor OR Pluripoietin

Growth Differentiation Factor 15 OR Macrophage Inhibitory Cytokine 1 OR GDF-15 OR GDF15 OR Prostate Differentiation Factor OR MIC-11 OR NSAID-activated gene 1 protein OR NAG-1 OR NSAID regulated gene 1 protein OR NRG-1 OR Placental TGF-beta OR Placental bone morphogenetic protein

2.2.2.2 Condition keywords

Incident hypertension OR incident HTN OR incident HT OR incidence hypertension OR incidence HTN OR incidence HT OR incidence of hypertension OR incidence of HTN OR incidence of HT OR incident hypertension cases OR incident HTN cases OR incident HT cases OR incident hypertensive OR incident hypertension comparing OR incident HTN comparing OR incident HT comparing OR incident hypertension risk OR incident HTN risk OR incident HT risk OR new onset hypertension OR new onset HTN OR new onset HT OR new onset hypertensive OR new onset hypertensive patients OR newly diagnosed hypertension OR newly diagnosed HTN OR newly diagnosed HT OR new HTN OR new hypertension OR new HT OR newly developed hypertension OR newly developed HTN OR newly developed HT OR future hypertension OR future HTN OR future HT OR hypertension occurrence OR HTN occurrence OR HT occurrence OR development of hypertension OR development of HTN OR development of HT OR hypertension OR risk of HTN OR risk of HT OR hypertension risk OR HTN risk OR HT risk

2.2.2.3 Study design keywords

Clinical trials OR clinical trial OR randomized clinical trials OR randomised clinical trials OR randomized clinical trial OR randomised clinical trial OR randomized controlled trials OR randomised controlled trials OR randomized controlled trial OR randomised controlled trial OR controlled clinical trial OR controlled clinical trials OR trial OR randomization OR randomisation OR controlled study OR controlled trial OR single blind method OR single blind OR single blind methods OR double blind method OR double blind methods OR double blind OR placebo OR case control studies OR case controlled studies OR case control study OR case controlled study OR case control OR case controlled OR retrospective OR retrospective studies OR retrospective study OR prospective OR prospective studies OR prospective study OR observational OR observational study OR observational studies OR cohort study OR cohort studies OR cohort OR cross sectional OR cross sectional study OR cross sectional studies OR population studies OR population study OR population OR follow up studies OR follow up study OR follow up OR cohort analysis OR cohort analyses OR longitudinal study OR longitudinal studies OR longitudinal OR nested study OR nested studies OR nested case study OR nested case studies OR nested control study OR nested control studies OR nested case control OR nested case controlled OR nested case control study OR nested case control studies OR nested case controlled study OR nested case controlled studies OR proportional hazards models OR hazard ratio OR hazards ratio OR HR OR risk ratio OR relative risk OR rate ratio OR RR

2.2.3 Eligibility

We selected studies that reported associations for circulating cytokines with incident hypertension in the general population with no restrictions on age, gender, or ethnicity. We included randomized trials and observational studies (cohort studies, nested case-control studies). We excluded studies that enrolled pregnant women with preeclampsia and articles not written in English. Conference abstracts, editorials, letters, comments, cellular and animal model experiments, narrative or systematic reviews and meta-analyses, and ongoing studies were also excluded.

2.2.4 Definition of primary and secondary outcomes

The primary outcome was the risk for incident hypertension, defined as SBP ≥140mmHg or diastolic blood pressure ≥90mmHg and/or the use of antihypertensive medications. The secondary outcomes were the identification of cytokines associated with incident hypertension, and differences in baseline and longitudinal changes in cytokine levels in patients who developed hypertension compared to those who did not.

2.2.5 Study selection

Articles were initially screened by title and abstract according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria, independently by four investigators. For secondary screening, full-text articles and supplemental materials were independently reviewed by four investigators. Reasons for study exclusion were recorded and cross-checked. Any inconsistencies were resolved through consultation with supervisors. A flow diagram summarizes the process of study selection (Figure 2.1).

2.2.6 Data extraction and quality assessment

For eligible studies, the following information were independently extracted by three reviewers: publication data including the first author's name, country, study design, population type, total number of participants, patients with events, follow-up time, incident hypertension definition, baseline and follow-up cytokine levels, change in blood pressure by cytokine levels, participants' baseline demographics [age, gender, ethnicity, body mass index (BMI), glucose, blood lipid levels, blood pressure status, alcohol and tobacco consumption, baseline comorbidities]. Three reviewers independently assessed the risk of bias using the risk of bias in non-randomized studies of exposures (ROBINS-E).

2.2.7 Statistical analysis

Pooled estimates of hazard ratios (HRs) and risk ratios (RRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for incident hypertension were calculated using the DerSimonian and Laird method in a random-effects model for the highest quartile compared with the lowest quartile (reference group) before and after adjustment for potential confounding factors including age, gender, and BMI. When data were available only in figures, HRs and RRs were extracted from figures with Digitizelt (version 2.5) software. To account for the small number of studies included, the Hartung and Knapp (HK) correction was used. Cytokine concentrations were reported using the median (interquartile range, IQR) or mean differences and 95% CI. Heterogeneity among the studies included in the meta-analysis was assessed through visual inspection of the forest plots and using the I^2 statistic. All analysis was performed using the R package meta, Version 5.2 with two-sided p < 0.05 set for statistical significance.



Figure 2.1 Flow chart reporting the search strategy according to PRISMA.

2.3 Results

A total of 725 studies were identified through the initial online search of the databases. Of these, 156 studies were duplicates. Title and abstract screening identified 39 studies for final full-text review using the inclusion/exclusion criteria. Of the 39 potentially relevant articles, after reading the full text of all articles, 24 were excluded because they did not report the outcome or the population of interest. Finally, the search yielded 15 studies for the qualitative analysis and of these, 6 studies were included in the quantitative analysis. The process of literature selection is shown in Figure 2.1. Among the searched cytokines, a pooled estimate of HRs and RRs for incident hypertension could only be produced for IL-6 and IL-18 that were thus meta-analysed.

2.3.1 Characteristics of studies and quality assessment

Of the six studies included in the meta-analysis, three of them were based on populations originally enrolled in randomized trials. The first study by Sesso (2007) (Sesso et al., 2007) was a prospective nested case-control analysis from the Women's Health Study, a randomized trial assessing the role of low-dose aspirin and vitamin E in the primary prevention of CVD and cancer, the other (2015) (Sesso et al., 2015) was a prospective nested case-control analysis of the Physicians' Health Study, a randomized trial of low-dose aspirin and beta carotene in the primary prevention of CVD and cancer. The study by Ghazi and colleagues (Ghazi et al., 2020) was a prospective cohort analysis from the Strategic Timing of AntiRetroviral Treatment (START) trial assessing immediate vs. deferred antiretroviral therapy (ART) in Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)-positive participants. Wang and colleagues (Wang et al., 2011) reported findings from a nested-control analysis of the Women's Health Initiative-Observational Study (WHI-OS); the remaining two were observational, prospective cohort studies (Crouch et al., 2020a, Lakoski et al., 2011). Four studies were conducted only in the USA (Lakoski et al., 2011, Sesso et al., 2015, Sesso et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2011), one in South Africa (Crouch et al., 2020a), and one was from USA, Asia, Africa, Australia, Europe, Israel and Latin America (Ghazi et al., 2020).

Table 2.1 Main characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis.

Study ID	Country	Study design	Population	Total participants	Participants with events	Follow up	Incident Hypertension Definition	Cofounders that were controlled
Sesso 2007(Sesso et al., 2007)	USA	Nested Case- Control	Women aged ≥45 years	800	400	10 years	Self-reports of a physician diagnosis of hypertension at years 1, 3, and all annual questionnaires thereafter; self- reports of antihypertensive treatment at years 1, 3, and 4; self-reports of systolic BP 140 mm Hg; or self- reports of diastolic BP 90 mm Hg	Age, smoking status, alcohol use, exercise, BMI, age, follow-up time, post- menopausal hormone use, parental history of myocardial infarction, personal history of hypercholesterolemia, history of diabetes
Lakoski 2011(Lakoski et al., 2011)	USA	Prospective Cohort	General population aged 45-84 years	3543	714	5 years	Participants with a blood pressure ≥140/90 mm Hg or a history of	Age, gender, ethnicity, smoking, diabetes, statin use, aspirin use, alcohol use, Multi-Ethnic

							hypertension and use of blood pressure medications at Exam 2 or Exam 3	Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) study site, BMI
Wang 2011 (a)(Wang et al., 2011)	USA	Nested Case- Control	Post- menopausal black women aged < 70 years	800	400	5.9 years (Median)	Initiation of medication specifically for increased BP and/or measured BP at the year-3 follow-up visit of either SBP ≥140 mmHg or DBP ≥90 mmHg	Age, clinical centre, time of enrolment, BMI, smoking, alcohol intake, physical activity, hormone replacement therapy
Wang 2011 (b)(Wang et al., 2011)	USA	Nested Case- Control	Post- menopausal white women aged < 70 years	800	400	5.9 years (Median)	Initiation of medication specifically for elevated BP and/or measured BP at the year 3 follow-up visit of either SBP ≥140 mmHg or DBP≥90 mmHg	Age, clinical centre, time of enrolment, BMI, smoking, alcohol intake, physical activity, hormone replacement therapy
Sesso 2015(Sesso et al., 2015)	USA	Nested Case- Control	Men aged 40-84 years	792	396	14 years	Self-reported initiation of antihypertensive	Age, follow-up time, date of hypertension, randomized

							treatment, systolic blood pressure ≥140 mm Hg, or diastolic blood pressure ≥90 mm Hg during follow-up	treatments, smoking status, physical activity, alcohol consumption, parental history of myocardial infarction, BMI, high cholesterol, diabetes mellitus
Crouch 2020 (Crouch et al., 2020a)	South Africa	Prospective Cohort	20-30-year- old general population	358	68	4.45 years (Median)	4 repeated clinic blood pressure measurements, i.e., SBP>=140 mmHg and/or DBP >=90 mmHg.	Glucose, Socio- economic Status, Activity Energy Expenditure, Total Cholesterol, Estimated glomerular filtration rate, Cotinine, Gamma glutamyl transferase, Sex, Ethnicity, Age, BMI
Ghazi 2020(Ghazi et al., 2020)	Asia, Africa, Australia Europe, Israel, Latin America, USA	Prospective Cohort	HIV infected adults	3313	554	3 years (Median)	Systolic blood pressure ≥140 mm Hg, or diastolic blood pressure ≥90 mm Hg, or use of blood pressure lowering therapy among participants who	Age, gender, race, BMI, diabetes mellitus, smoking, treatment group, HIV RNA at baseline, CD4 ⁺ T cell

			were not	
			hypertensive at	
			baseline	

Abbreviations: BP, blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; SBP, systolic blood pressure

The population included in the meta-analysis varied among the six studies. One study reported results for middle-aged and older women (Sesso et al., 2007), one reported separate analyses for black and white postmenopausal women (Wang et al., 2011), and one reported results for middle-aged and older men (Sesso et al., 2015). Crouch and colleagues reported separate results for young black and white men and women (Crouch et al., 2020a); upon request, we obtained the original data (Schutte et al., 2019) of this study and calculated the hazard ratio for the highest quartile compared with the lowest quartile of IL-6 and IL-1B, before and after adjustment for age, sex and BMI. Ghazi et al. reported results for HIV-positive persons (Ghazi et al., 2020). Lakoski and colleagues (Lakoski et al., 2011) reported results from a longitudinal analysis of the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) study including the adult general population.

 Table 2.2 Baseline Characteristics of patients included in the meta-analysis.

	Sesso 2007(Sesso et al., 2007)		Lakoski 2011(Lakoski et al., 2011)		Wang (a) 2011(Wang et al., 2011)		Wang (b) 2011(Wang et al., 2011)		Sesso 2015(Sesso et al., 2015)		Crouch 2020(Crouch et al., 2020a)		Ghazi 2020(Ghazi et al., 2020)	
	Case	Ćontro l	Case	, Contr ol	Case	Contr ol	Case	Contr ol	Case	Contro	Case	Ćontrol	Case	Contr ol
No. of Participants	400	400	714	2829	400	400	400	400	396	396	36	320	554	2759
Age (years)	54.5 ± 6.7	54.5 ± 6.6	63	58	58.2 ¥	58.1 ¥	60.8 ¥	60.8 ¥	47.5 ± 6.1	47.3 ± 6.1	26.0 ± 2.6	25.1 ± 3.2	38 [31, 45]*	34 [27, 41]*
Gender (% female)	100	100	53	51	100	100	100	100	0	0	36.1	59.4	21.1	26.8
Ethnicity (% White)	-	-	38	45	0	0	100	100	-	-	63.9	41.6	57.2	42.4
SBP, mmHg(%)			-	-	121.1 ¥	115.3 ¥	120.9 ¥	113.3 ¥	122.1 ± 8.1	118.9 ± 8.0	133 ± 6.45	115 ± 8.0	125 [118, 131]*	116 [110, 124]*
<110 (%)	6.9	24.1												
110-119 (%)	25.3	44.1												
120-129 (%)	45.4	25.6												
130-139 (%)	22.4	6.3												
DBP, mmHg (%)			-	-	74.7 ¥	71.9 ¥	74.1 ¥	70.2 ¥	77.3 ± 5.9	75.0 ± 6.7	78 ± 6.23	68 ± 5.24	80 [74, 84]*	73 [67, 80]*
<65 (%)	3.6	13.8												
65-74 (%)	29.8	48.4												
75-84 (%)	50.6	34.3												

85-89 (%)	16.0	3.5												
BMI (kg/m²)	26.8 ± 4.8	24.4 ± 3.9	29 ± 6	27 ± 5	30.1 ¥	28.2 ¥	26.8 ¥	25.2 ¥	24.6 ± 2.4	24.1 ± 2.4	29.07 §	24.39 §	25.2 [22.8, 29.2]*	23.7 [21.5, 26.5]*
Waist circumferen ce (cm)	-	-	100 (14)\$	94 (14)\$	88.8 ¥	84.6 ¥	83.6 ¥	79.0 ¥	-	-	91.53 §	77.75 §	-	-
HDL [(mg/dl)/ (mmol/l)]	52.0 ± 12.9	56.2 ± 15.5	50 ± 15	52 ± 15	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.26 ± 0.38	1.36 ± 0.40	-	-
LDL [(mg/dl)/ (mmol/l)]	123.8 ± 33.5	120.6 ± 31.8	119 ± 33	119 ± 30	-	-	-	-	-	-	3.03 §	2.51 §	-	-
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	-	-	116 (82)\$	105 (79)\$	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.05 §	0.81 §	-	-
History of HCL (%)	30.0	22.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	9.6	13.2			-	-
Diabetes (%)	2.3	1.0	13	7	9.8	4.0	2.5	1.0	0.5	1.0			3.1	1.5
Parental history of MI, <60y (%)	12.2	12.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	10.2	11.3			-	-
Smoking (%)													38.3	32.2
Rarely/ Never	53.5	50.3	48	51	46.5	51.4	49.1	50.9	57	61	61.1	67.2		
Former	33.5	37.7	38	34	40.2	38.2	45.1	43.0	36.9	33.7	13.9	9.4		
Current	13	12	14	15	13.3	10.4	5.8	6.1			25.0	23.4		
Current <15cigarettes /day	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.8	2.0				

Current >15 cigarettes/ day	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	4.3	3.3				
Alcohol use (%)											66.7	62.2	-	-
Rarely/ Never	43.5	34.8	19	18	13.9	17.3	8.8	8.3	12.9	14.4				
Former	-	-	-	-	30.1	26.0	16.8	15.0	-	-				
Current	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
1-3 drinks/ month	13.7	14.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
<1 drink/ week	-	-	-	-	36.5	30.8	34.8	28.3						
<2 drinks / week	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	28.4	29.1				
1-6 drinks / week	33.8	39.2	-	-	14.7	20.4	27.0	35.6	36.8	36.7				
≥ 7 drinks/ week					4.8	5.6	12.8	12.8						
≥ 1 drink/ day	9.0	11.2	-	-	-	-	-	-	21.8	19.8				
Physical activity			-	-	10.8 MET- h/wk ¥	12.9 MET- h/wk ¥	15.0 MET- h/wk ¥	16.9 MET- h/wk ¥			472.2 ± 234.7 AEE kcal/da y	412.9 ± 191.3 AEE kcal/da y	-	-
Rarely/ Never (%)	38.3	30.8							13.4	8.4				

< 1 time/week (%)	20.0	17.5							-	-				
< 2 times/week (%)	-	-							28.1	29.9				
≥ 2 times/week (%)	-	-							58.5	61.8				
1-3 times/wee (%)	30.0	41.0							-	-				
≥ 4 times/week (%)	11.7	10.7							-	-				
Statins use (%)	-	-	10	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Asprin use (%)	-	-	24	20	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Current hormone therapy (%)	44.6	44.5	-	-	39.4	34.5	60.5	53.8	-	-	-	-	-	-
IL-6	1.08 (µg/dL)§	0.93 (µg/dL)§	1.24 (1.2) pg/m L \$	0.99 (0.9) pg/mL \$	1.99 (ng/L) §	1.71 (ng/L) §	1.50 (ng/L) §	1.29 (ng/L) §	1.51 (pg/m L) §	1.07 (pg/m L) §	1.71 (pg/mL) §	2.08 (pg/mL) §	1.35 [0.93, 2.11] pg/mL *	1.33 [0.94, 2.08] pg/mL *
IL-1B	-	-	-	-	0.27 (ng/L) §	0.25 (ng/L) §	0.25 (ng/L) §	0.24 (ng/L) §	-	-	1.01 (pg/mL)§	0.99 (pg/mL)§	-	-

*Median [25th, 75th]; \$Median (IQR); \$Geometric Mean; ¥Mean; All other values as Mean ± S.D. if not mentioned

Abbreviations: AEE, activity energy expenditure; BMI, body mass index; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; HCL, hypercholesterolemia; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MET, metabolic equivalent of task; MI, myocardial infarction; SBP, systolic blood pressure
A total of six studies with 10,406 participants and 2,932 incident cases of hypertension were included in the meta-analysis. The age of patients enrolled ranged from 20 to 84 years and the total follow-up times ranged from 3 to 14 years. The confounder factors more commonly used for adjustment were age, BMI, smoking status and alcohol use; specifically, all the studies controlled for age, smoking, BMI and alcohol intake, and three controlled for gender and ethnicity (Crouch et al., 2020a, Ghazi et al., 2020, Lakoski et al., 2011). Circulating cytokine levels of IL-6 were measured by ultrasensitive enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Ghazi et al., 2020, Lakoski et al., 2011, Sesso et al., 2015, Sesso et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2011) or Luminex xMAP technology (Crouch et al., 2020a) in serum or plasma samples. All studies defined incident hypertension as new-onset hypertension (SBP/DBP ≥140/90 mm Hg) or use of antihypertensive medications. The main characteristics of studies included in the current meta-analysis and patients' characteristics of studies included in the meta-analysis are reported in Table 2.1 and Table 2.2.

Most of the studies were assessed at low risk of bias, some concerns were reported about two studies due to self-reports of BMI values (Sesso et al., 2015, Sesso et al., 2007) and about one study for 11% missing data on IL-1B (Wang et al., 2011); all studies were included in the meta-analysis. The result of the risk of bias assessment through ROBINS-E is shown in Table 2.3. Table 2.3 ROBINS-E risk of bias assessment. A summary table reporting each risk of bias item for each study is shown.

Study	Confounding	Measurement of the exposure	Selection of participants	Post- exposure interventions	Missing data	Measurement of the outcome	Selection of the reported result	Overall				
Sesso 2007(Sesso et	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns				
al., 2007)	Participants provided self-reports of BMI											
Lakoski 2011(Lakoski et al., 2011)	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low				
Wang	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low for IL-6				
2011(Wang et al., 2011)	For IL-6 low risk of bias about missing data and some concerns about IL-1B for the same domain due to 11% missing data.											
Sesso 2015(Sesso et	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns				
al., 2015)	Participants provided self-reports of BMI											
Crouch 2020 (Crouch et al., 2020a)	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low				
Ghazi 2020 (Ghazi et al., 2020)	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low				

Green: Low risk of bias, Yellow: Some concerns.

2.3.2 IL-6

All studies included in the quantitative analysis reported effect estimates per quartile of IL-6 levels. In crude models, the highest quartile of IL-6 levels was associated with a significantly higher risk of developing hypertension than the lowest quartile, with substantial heterogeneity across studies (Figure 2.2A; HR/RR: 1.61; [95% CI, 1.00 to 2.60]; I2=87%; n= 6]. In multivariable models not adjusted for BMI, HR/RR for the highest versus the lowest quartile of IL-6 was still associated, significantly greater with the risk of hypertension (Figure 2.2B; HR/RR: 1.71; [95% CI, 1.22 to 2.39]; I2=39%; n= 5). There was no significant association after adjustment including BMI (Figure 2.2C; HR/RR: 1.24; 95% CI, 0.96 to 1.61; I2= 56%, n= 6).

Hypertension is a growing problem in HIV-infected adults, especially in HIVinfected adults on ART (Gazzaruso et al., 2003, Peck et al., 2014, Xu et al., 2017, Nduka et al., 2016, Onen et al., 2010, Fahme et al., 2018). Pathophysiologic mechanisms for hypertension in HIV-infected adults may include chronic inflammation. In HIV-infected adults who participated in a trial of early versus delayed initiation of ART in Port-au-Prince, Haiti, Batavia et al. showed that higher plasma levels of IL-6 were independent predictors of incident hypertension only after adjustment for age, BMI and SBP (aHR 1.24 per log2 increase [95% CI, 1.12 to 1.38], p-value <0.001). In crude models, IL-6 did not predict incident hypertension (HR 1.09 per log2 increase [95% CI, 0.98 to 1.21], p-value 0.123)(Batavia et al., 2018). In contrast, in the nested case-control study performed by Okello and colleagues involving HIV-infected subjects taking ART in southwestern Uganda, the risk of incident hypertension was associated with age, male gender, and BMI, but not with IL-6 level in both univariate (OR 1.12 per log10 unit increase [95% CI, 0.81 to 1.56], p-value 0.483) and multivariate analyses (aOR 1.12 per log10 unit increase [95% CI, 0.73 to 1.74], pvalue 0.600) (Okello et al., 2016) suggesting that traditional risk factors and not inflammation are predictive of hypertension in HIV-infected individuals (Fourie et al., 2015, Phalane et al., 2019, Phalane et al., 2020). Interestingly, in our sensitivity analysis excluding Ghazi 2020 (Ghazi et al., 2020) that enrolled HIV infected adults, baseline levels of IL-6 were associated with future hypertension in both crude and adjusted models after adjustment for BMI (Figure 2.3; respectively A, HR/RR: 1.78 [95% CI, 1.04 to 3.04], I2=79%, n= 6; B, HR/RR:

1.41 [95% CI, 1.19 to 1.67], I2=0%, n= 6), suggesting IL-6 as independent predictor of incident hypertension in HIV population. Therefore, conflicting data highlights the need for a better understanding of the relationship between circulating IL-6 levels and risk of developing hypertension in HIV-infected that may help identify underlying mechanisms of cardiovascular diseases in this population.

(A)

()				
Study ID	IL-6 Lower quartile (n of patients)	IL-6 Upper quartile (n of patients)	HR/RR	HR/RR 95%-Cl Weight
Sesso 2007	<0.573 µa/dL (n=159)	>1.28 µa/dL (n=241)		2.87 [1.81: 4.55] 13.6%
Lakoski 2011	<0.68 pg/mL (n=93)	≥1.69 pg/mL (n=225)		2.69 [2.12: 3.43] 16.0%
Wang 2011a	0.74 pg/mL (n=173)	4.39 pg/mL (n=235)		1.92 [1.27; 2.91] 14.2%
Wang 2011b	0.58 pg/mL (n=174)	2.78 pg/mL (n=217)		1.69 [1.12; 2.57] 14.2%
Sesso 2015	<0.71 pg/mL (n=NA)	≥1.31 pg/mL (n=NA)		1.51 [1.01; 2.25] 14.3%
Crouch 2020	0.020-1.135 pg/mL (n= 88)	4.490-32.630 pg/mL (n=88)		0.63 [0.34; 1.17] 11.7%
Ghazi 2020	0.16 – 0.97 pg/mL (n=NA)	2.11 - 10.00 pg/mL (n=NA)	+	1.02 [0.80; 1.30] 15.9%
Random effects model (HK)				1.61 [1.00; 2.60] 100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 87\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.22$	2, <i>p</i> < 0.001		0.2 0.5 1 2	5
(B)				
(8)	II & Lower quartile			
Study ID	(p of potients)	(p of potients)	UD/DD	HP/PP 05%-CI Weight
Study ID	(nor patients)	(n or patients)	00/00	nn/nn 85%-ci weight
Sesso 2007	<0.573 µg/dL (n=159)	>1.28 µg/dL (n=241)		2.54 [1.46; 4.42] 12.5%
Lakoski 2011	<0.68 pg/mL (n=93)	≥1.69 pg/mL (n=225)		1.85 [1.43; 2.38] 28.4%
Wang 2011a	0.74 pg/mL (n=173)	4.39 pg/mL (n=235)		1.99 [1.27; 3.12] 16.5%
Wang 2011b	0.58 pg/mL (n=174)	2.78 pg/mL (n=217)		1.64 [1.06; 2.55] 17.1%
Sesso 2015	<0.71 pg/mL (n=NA)	≥1.31 pg/mL (n=NA)		1.53 [0.98; 2.37] 16.7%
Crouch 2020	0.020-1.135 pg/mL (n= 88)	4.490-32.630 pg/mL (n=88)		0.76 [0.38; 1.51] 8.8%
Random effects model (HK)			\sim	1.71 [1.22; 2.39] 100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 39\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.03$	3, <i>p</i> = 0.143			
			0.2 0.5 1 2 3	
(C)				
	IL-6 Lower quartile	IL-6 Upper quartile		
Study ID	(n of patients)	(n of patients)	HR/RR	HR/RR 95%-CI Weight
Sesso 2007	<0.573 µg/dL (n=159)	>1.28 µg/dL (n=241)	<u>↓ : ∎</u>	1.70 [0.92; 3.13] 9.9%
Lakoski 2011	<0.68 pg/mL (n=93)	≥1.69 pg/mL (n=225)		1.49 [1.14; 1.95] 20.7%
Wang 2011a	0.74 pg/mL (n=173)	4.39 pg/mL (n=235)		1.58 [0.96; 2.59] 12.7%
Wang 2011b	0.58 pg/mL (n=174)	2.78 pg/L (n=217)		1.23 [0.76; 1.97] 13.2%
Sesso 2015	<0.71 pg/mL (n=NA)	≥1.31 pg/mL (n=NA)		1.36 [0.86; 2.13] 13.9%
Crouch 2020	0.020-1.135 pg/mL (n= 88)	4.490-32.630 pg/mL (n=88)		0.91 [0.46; 1.81] 8.5%
Ghazi 2020	0.16-0.97 pg/mL (n=NA)	2.11-10.00 pg/mL (n=NA)		0.83 [0.64; 1.07] 21.0%
Random effects model (HK)				1.24 [0.96; 1.61] 100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 56\%$, $\tau^2 = 0.0$	5, <i>p</i> = 0.035			1
			02 05 1 2	5

Figure 2.2 Forest plots of pooled HR/RR of hypertension for the highest versus lowest quartile of IL-6.Hazard ratio (HR)/Risk ratio (RR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) from the eligible studies of the association between IL-6 circulating levels and incident hypertension estimates in a random effects model with crude RR/HR pooled in (A), adjusted RR/HR pooled in (B) without BMI and adjusted RR/HR pooled in (C) including BMI.

Hypertension is more common in black populations with an earlier onset of the disease (Lackland, 2014) mainly attributed to several factors including differences in salt sensitivity, ionic transport mechanisms, obesity, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (Gafane et al., 2016, Lindhorst et al., 2007,

Sowers et al., 1988). Interestingly, a different inflammatory profile has been reported between blacks and whites but with contradictory findings (Mwantembe et al., 2001, Albandar et al., 2002, Crouch et al., 2020b). Crouch et al. reported a significant increase in blood pressure over 4-5 years only in young white populations (Crouch et al., 2020a) than young black populations. The authors have reported association between a large panel of pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators (individually and in clusters) and ΔBP only in white participants suggesting that in young age, new onset of hypertension may be driven by changes in inflammation, in this population. Wang et al. (Wang et al., 2011) reported a significant positive association for IL-6 and risk of developing hypertension in both black and white postmenopausal women that was lost after controlling for BMI suggesting adiposity as link to explain the association between inflammation and hypertension in black and white individuals requires further investigation.



Figure 2.3 Forest plots showing sensitivity analysis performed by removing Ghazi 2020. Hazard ratio (HR)/Risk ratio (RR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) from studies of the association between IL-6 circulating levels and incident hypertension estimates in a random effects model with crude RR/HR pooled in (A), adjusted RR/HR pooled in (B) including BMI. In addition, genetic variants in the gene encoding IL-6 may predispose to hypertension. Cheung and colleagues showed no association of plasma IL-6 and three single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in IL-6 (rs17147230, rs1800796, rs2069837) with incident hypertension. However, they did not investigate SNPs in genes encoding other inflammatory markers that may affect SNPs in IL-6 and included a small sample size of Hong Kong Chinese (Cheung et al., 2011a).

2.3.3 Interleukin-1β

Two studies assessed the risk of new onset hypertension associated with higher quartiles for IL-1B (Crouch et al., 2020a, Wang et al., 2011). In crude models, HR/RR comparing the highest versus the lowest quartile of circulating IL-1B was 1.03 [95% CI, 0.60 to 1.76]; I2= 0%, n=2 (Figure 2.4A). Similarly, there was non-significant difference in multivariable models with and without adjustment for BMI (Figure 2.4, respectively B, HR/RR: 1.02 [95% CI, 0.54 to 1.92], I2= 0%, n= 2; C, HR/RR: 0.97 [0.60 to 1.56], I2= 0%, n= 2). In contrast, Mauno et al. in their longitudinal study of 396 apparently healthy middle/aged men and women showed a statistically significant linear association between the quartiles of IL-1B and change of SBP in a 6.5-year follow-up confirmed after adjustments for age, follow-up time, sex, baseline SBP, and BMI (P = 0.036) (Mauno et al., 2008).

(A)



Figure 2.4 Forest plots of pooled HR/RR of hypertension for the highest versus lowest quartile of IL-1 β . Hazard ratio (HR)/Risk ratio (RR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) from the eligible studies of the association between IL-6 circulating levels and incident hypertension estimates in a random effects model with crude RR/HR pooled in (A), adjusted RR/HR pooled in (B) without BMI and adjusted RR/HR pooled in (C) including BMI.

2.3.4 Other cytokines

It has been shown that high levels of plasma transforming growth factor B1 (TGF-B1) predict the development of hypertension (Nakao et al., 2017). Specifically, TGF-B1 was significantly related to higher odds of developing incident hypertension in a Japanese normotensive population (OR 1.948; [95% CI, 1.015 to 3.740]; P=0.045).

In a study that enrolled patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus (Wisconsin Epidemiological Study of Diabetic Retinopathy; WESDR) (Sahakyan et al., 2010) followed up for over 15 years, serum IL-6 and TNF- α were associated with the development of hypertension in models adjusted for age and sex; however, when BMI was added to the model only soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1) was associated with greater risk. In a cohort of 471 postmenopausal women, of whom 195 developed hypertension, no statistically significant associations were found amongst several markers, including IL-8, IL-10, TNF- α , IL-2, IL-4 and IL-6 with greater risk (Gordon et al., 2021). Interestingly, statistically significant interactions were observed for SBP with IL-10 (P = 0.07). Baseline SBP of 120-139 mmHg was associated with higher hypertension risk for IL-10 (HR 1.11, 95% CI 0.91-1.34) in comparison with SBP <120 mmHg (0.85; 95% CI 0.68-1.05). These studies did not report RRs/HRs according to the highest quartile compared with the lowest quartile of the cytokines, therefore were not included in the quantitative analysis.

2.3.5 Baseline and follow-up plasma and serum cytokine levels

In a prospective cohort of 1,500 heathy subjects aged 20 to 69 years, among TNF- α , IL-1B and IL-6, Yoo et al. found higher significant levels of IL-1B, at baseline, in subjects who developed hypertension than those who did not develop hypertension (P = 0.028, adjusted for BMI at baseline) (Yoo et al., 2020). In addition, they found higher significant IL-1B levels in new-onset hypertension group after the 2-year follow-up (P = 0.003, adjusted for BMI at follow-up). Similarly, baseline plasma IL-1B levels were statistically higher in newly diagnosed hypertensive patients compared with normotensive patients at the end of study performed by Mauno et al (Mauno et al., 2008).

These findings contrast those from the Anniston Community Health Survey study that showed higher, but not statistical significant geometric means (adjusted for age, sex, race, gender, and BMI) of IL-1 B together with TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8 and IL-17 in the incidence of hypertension (Pavuk et al., 2019) and trials reported in other studies(Pavuk et al., 2019, Wang et al., 2011). Similarly, median IL-8, TNF- α and IL-10 concentrations were higher but not statistically significant in postmenopausal women in the Buffalo OsteoPerio Study who developed incident hypertension compared with those who did not (Gordon et al., 2021).

In the prospective study conducted in Japan on 133 normotensive participants by Nakao and colleagues, subject with baseline plasma TGF-B1 levels \geq 9.0 ng/ml were shown to have a 3.58-fold higher risk of developing hypertension in 14 years than those with TGF-B1 levels \leq 8.9 ng/ml (Nakao et al., 2017).

Baseline plasma IL-6 levels were not statistically different between 100 subjects with and 415 without incident hypertension in Hong Kong Chinese cohort over 5 years follow-up after adjusting for age, sex and follow-up duration (P = 0.355) (Cheung et al., 2011a). Similarly, other studies showed no statistically significant difference in baseline plasma IL-6 levels among subjects who developed hypertension compared with subjects without new-onset hypertension at follow-up (Ghazi et al., 2020, Sesso et al., 2015, Cheung et al., 2011a, Gordon et al., 2021, Pavuk et al., 2019, Yoo et al., 2020). In contrast, other studies showed higher significant baseline IL-6 levels among participants who developed incident hypertension compared with those who did not (Lakoski et al., 2011, Sesso et al., 2007, Wang et al., 2011). Baseline cytokine levels in plasma or serum together with follow-up changes in qualitative and quantitative studies are shown in Table 2.4.

Table 2.4 Baseline cytokine levels in plasma or serum together with follow-up changes in qualitative and quantitative studies.

Study ID	Group (Incident Hypertension)	Cytokin e	Baseline level	P value	Follow -up level	P value	SBP at Baseline (mmHg)	P value	DBP at Baselin e (mmHg)	P value	Follow- up time
Sesso 2007(Sesso	Yes	IL-6	1.08¥	0.000	-	-	-	-	-	-	10 years
et al., 2007)	No	(µg/dL)	0.93¥	7	-	-	-	-	-	- IU years	TO years
Mauno	Yes	IL-1B	0.67 ± 0.62	0 020	-	-	-	-	-	-	2 10255
et al., 2008)	No	(pg/mL)	0.56 ± 0.32	-	-	-	-		-	z years	
Cheung 2011(Cheun	Yes	IL-6	0.51 (0.45 - 0.59)*	0.255	-	-	124.8 ± 8.7	-0.001	77.0 ± 7.4	-0.001	5 years
g et al., 2011a)	No	(ng/l)	0.44 (0.41 - 0.48)*	(0.41 -	-	-	112.4 ± 10.2	~0.001	71.9 ± 8.1	-0.001	(median)
Lakoski 2011(Lakosk	Yes	IL-6	1.24 (1.2)\$	<0.00	-	-	-	-	-	-	Ever
i et al., 2011)	No	(pg/ml)	0.99 (0.9)\$	1	-	-	-		-	-	5 years
	Yes	IL-6	1.99¥	0.007	-	-	Yes:		Yes:		
Wang (a)	No	(ng/L)	1.71¥	0.007	-	-	121.1	0.001	74.7	0.004	
et al., 2011)	Yes	IL-1B	0.27¥	0.27¥ 0.25¥ 0.36	-	-	No:	<0.001	No:	<0.001	5.9 years
	No	(ng/L)	0.25¥		-	-	115.3		/1.9		
	Yes	IL-6	1.50¥	0.006	-	-	Yes:	< 0.001	Yes:	< 0.001	5.9 years

Wang (b)	No	(ng/L)	1.29¥		-	-	121.1		74.7		
2011(Wang	Yes	IL-1B	0.25¥	0.37	-	-	Net		Net		
et al., 2011)	No	(ng/L)	0.24¥		-	-	115.3		NO: 71.9		
Sesso	Yes	IL-6	1.51¥	0.40	-	-	122.1 ± 8.1	<0.001	77.3 ± 5.9	-0.001	14 yoars
2015 (Sesso et al., 2015)NoNakao 2017 (NakaoYes	No	(pg/mL)	1.07¥	0.12	-	-	118.9 ± 8.0	<0.001	75.0 ± 6.7	<0.001	14 years
	Yes	TGF-B1	5.05 (3.78 - 8.93)\$	0.020	-	-	-	-	-	-	14 yoars
et al., 2017) No	No	(ng/mL)	4.70 (3.45 - 6.43)\$	0.030	-	-	-	-	-	-	14 years
	Yes	TNF-α	3.02¥	0.71	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/IIIL)	2.94¥		-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-1B (pg/mL)	0.35¥	_ 0.31	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No		0.30¥		-	-	-	-	-	-	
Pavuk 2019 (Pavuk	Yes	IL-6	0.50¥	0.07	-	-	-	-	-	-	9 400 55
et al., 2019)	No	(pg/mL)	0.40¥	0.07	-	-	-	-	-	-	o years
	Yes	IL-8	4.43¥	0.44	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	3.99¥		-	-	-	-	-	-	
-	Yes	IL-17	2.60¥	0.70	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(P8/IIIE)	2.47¥		-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IFN-γ	6.94 ±2.11€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

	No	(pg/mL)	6.91±2.29€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-1B	1.01±2.52€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
-	No	(pg/mL)	0.99±2.36€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-2	0.68±3.26€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	0.83±2.49€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-7	5.31±2.06€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	5.58±2.40€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-8	1.64±2.21€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	1.81±2.24€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-12	1.69±2.19€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	1.82±2.47€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-17a	3.19±2.32€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	3.23±2.64€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Crouch 2020(Crouc Yes	Vos		121.48±3.43	_		_			_		4.45
	165	IL-23	€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
h et al.,	No	(pg/mL)	119.98±3.26	_		_			_		(Median)
2020a)			€	_		-	_		-	_	(methall)
	Yes	TNF-α	1.54±2.11€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	No	(pg/mL)	1.69±2.15€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	Yes	IL-4	43.47±2.51€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	No	(pg/mL)	43.19±2.4€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	Yes	IL-5	0.83±2.65€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	0.99±2.35€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-10	4.43±2.63€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	4.89±2.54€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	Yes	IL-13	4.03±3.27€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	4.41±3.00€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	GM-CSF	7.67±2.45€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	No	(pg/mL)	7.36±2.92€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-6	1.71±3.33€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

	No	(pg/mL)	2.08±3.02€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
	Yes	IL-21	1.31±2.98€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
	No	(pg/mL)	1.38±2.53€	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Ghazi 2020 (Ghazi et al., 2020)	Yes	IL-6 (pg/mL)	1.35 [0.93, 2.11]&	0.60	-	-	125 [118, 131] &	<0.000	80 [74, 84] &	<0.000	3 years
	No		1.33 [0.94, 2.08]&		-	-	116 [110, 124] &	1	73 [67, 80] &	1	(median)
	Yes		11.5 ± 1.37		10.7 ± 0.92	0.067 Adjuste					
Yoo 2020 (Yoo et al., 2020)	No	TNF-α (pg/mL)	9.83 ± 0.74	0.487	10.2 ± 1.22	d for BMI at follow- up; 0.726. Adjuste d for baseline values at the changed value	Yes: 126.0 ± 0.86 No: 116.8 ± 0.71	<0.001	Yes: 79.9 ± 0.66 No: 73.8 ± 0.54	<0.001	2 years
	Yes		0.91 ± 0.10	0.028	0.86 ± 0.06	0.003 Adjuste					
	No	IL-1B (pg/mL)	0.73 ± 0.06		0.74 ± 0.07	d for BMI at follow- up; 0.969.					

	Yes		4.10 ± 0.34		3.92 ± 0.36	Adjuste d for baseline values at the changed value 0.420 Adjuste	-				
	No	IL-6 (pg/mL)	3.64 ± 0.25	0.086	3.61 ± 0.23	d for BMI at follow- up; 0.806 Adjuste d for baseline values at the changed value					
	Yes	IL-2	0.75 (0.43- 1.53)&	-	-	-	Vest		Vee		
Gordon	No	(pg/mL)	0.76 (0.49- 1.44)&	-	-	-	118.4 ±		70.5 ±		10.2
2021 (Gordo n et al., 2021)	Yes	IL-4 (pg/mL)	1.7 (1.2- 3.2)&	-	-	-		<0.001		<0.001	years (average
	No		1.8 (1.3- 3.6)&	-	-	-	- NO: 109.0 ±		No: 66.5 ±)
	Yes	IL-6 (pg/mL)	0.88 (0.48- 2.21)&	-	-	-	11.4		6.9		

No		0.92 (0.50- 2.18)&	-	-	-
Yes	IL-8	9.9 (6.9- 15.4)&	-	-	-
No	(pg/mL)	9.0 (6.4- 13.4)&	-	-	-
Yes	IL-10	0.85 (0.40- 2.35)&	-	-	-
No	(pg/mL)	0.83 (0.49- 2.32)&	-	-	-
Yes	TNF-α	1.6 (1.2- 2.0)&	-	-	-
No	(pg/mL)	1.5 (1.2- 1.9)&	-	-	-

*Geometric mean (95% CI); \$ Median (IQR); ¥ Geometric mean; & Median (25th–75th percentile); Otherwise, values Mean ± S.D.; € Geometric mean ± S.D

2.4 Discussion

In this systematic review and meta-analysis, we analysed associations for circulating cytokines with incident hypertension. Fifteen studies met the inclusion criteria; however, although many cytokines were reported they could not be combined because of heterogeneity of statistical methodology for reporting effect estimates and variation in unit change; therefore, pooled estimates could only be combined for two cytokines (IL-6 and IL-1B) from six studies.

We found that higher levels of circulating IL-6 were significantly associated with 61% greater risk of developing hypertension. In contrast, higher levels of IL-1B were not associated with the risk of incident hypertension, but few studies were available for the quantitative analysis. Thus, additional studies are needed to define the role of IL-1B more clearly in the development of the hypertensive phenotype.

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine secreted by various cells including macrophages, monocytes, T lymphocytes, endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells, typically regarded as a pro-inflammatory cytokine and an anti-inflammatory myokine (Barton, 1996). Preclinical evidence suggests that IL-6 might be involved in the initiation, as well as in the progression and maintenance of hypertension through a reduction in nitric oxide bioavailability, increase in vascular superoxide, regulation of angiotensin II expression and alterations in vascular function and structure (Schrader et al., 2007b, Gomolak and Didion, 2014). IL-6 is the major proinflammatory cytokine that has been described to be linked with hypertension; however, preclinical and clinical studies associate increased circulating levels of IL-6 with hypertension without demonstrating causality (Gibas-Dorna et al., 2015, Naya et al., 2007a, Fernandez-Real et al., 2001). Thus, more research is required to identify the specific contribution of IL-6 in hypertension development.

In line with a previous meta-analysis (Jayedi et al., 2019) that included a smaller number of studies, we found that the positive association between IL-6 and risk of hypertension became insignificant after adjustment for BMI. This finding suggests a link between IL-6 and obesity driving hypertension risk. Obesity is a well-known risk factor for hypertension, and weight loss is an important treatment strategy to prevent and control hypertension (Kuwabara et al., 2018, Neter et al., 2003, Xu et al., 2022). Obesity, inflammation and hypertension share common underlying cellular and humoral mechanisms involving oxidative stress (Camargo et al., 2022, Sagris et al., 2022), activation of cytokines and activation of the renin-angiotensin system (Yudkin et al., 2000), and alteration of immune function. A positive relationship between BMI and circulating IL-6 has been shown in postmenopausal women (Straub et al., 2000) as well as in healthy subjects with obesity (Werida et al., 2021). On the other hand, Sesso and colleagues also reported high association between IL-6 and risk of developing hypertension except for women with a BMI <25 kg/m² with no significant interactions (P= 0.51) (Sesso et al., 2007). Similarly, Wang et al. reported no significant associations between IL-6 and risk of developing hypertension in any category of baseline BMI in a cohort of white and black postmenopausal women, suggesting an independent association between obesity and IL-6 in the risk of future hypertension (Wang et al., 2011). Interestingly, IL-6 level is a well-known predictor of cardiovascular mortality also when adjusting for BMI (Botha et al., 2015). It has been estimated that around 25% of circulating IL-6 is released by subcutaneous adipose tissue (Mohamed-Ali et al., 1997, Schmidt et al., 2015); thus, adipose tissue-derived IL-6 may be involved in hypertension development.

In our sensitivity analysis, removing patients with HIV (Ghazi et al., 2020), high baseline IL-6 levels were significantly related to a higher risk of developing incident hypertension in both crude and adjusted models after adjustment for BMI suggesting IL-6 as independent from BMI in predicting hypertension incidence in individuals without HIV. However, there is no consensus about the association between high levels of IL-6 as a predictor of incident hypertension in HIVinfected adults (Batavia et al., 2018, Okello et al., 2016), highlighting the need for a better understanding of this relationship in HIV population. On the other hand, IL-6 has been shown to predict cardiovascular mortality in black South Africans also when adjusting for BMI (Botha et al., 2015), therefore may be interesting investigating more in-depth the association of cytokines with the risk of developing hypertension and adiposity in black and white individuals. Our meta-analysis has several strengths. First, we performed a broad and systematic search to identify cytokines associated with incident hypertension. Secondly, our study shows that the association between IL-6 and the risk of hypertension is weakened by BMI, highlighting the important relationship between inflammation and adiposity in the risk of developing hypertension. Third, we have updated the existing evidence of the role of elevated IL-6 on the risk of hypertension with a robust sample size, inclusion of modern cohorts and unpublished data.

There are also several limitations in this study. First, cytokines were only measured at enrolment. Second, the number of studies for IL-1B analysis was limited to two. Third, even if we reported multivariate analysis after adjustment for known risk factors, residual confounding may occur. Fourth, we were unable to perform subgroup analysis based on characteristics, such as race/ethnicity or genetic polymorphisms, which may predispose to hypertension.

2.5 Conclusion

The mechanisms underlying the involvement of cytokines in hypertension range from classical immune-regulatory functions (Bullenkamp et al., 2021) to direct modulation of vascular and renal functions (Alexander et al., 2021). The importance of these observations extends beyond our understanding of the pathophysiology of hypertension and provides important clues for common mechanisms between hypertension, atherosclerosis (Libby, 2021, Welsh et al., 2017) and heart failure (Pugliese et al., 2023, Bertero et al., 2022). It is also important to consider inflammatory cytokines as biomarkers for identifying patients presenting with the immune and inflammatory mechanisms of hypertension (Evans et al., 2022) and atherosclerosis (Hettwer et al., 2022). We observed that higher levels of circulating IL-6, but not of IL-1B, were significantly associated with risk of incident hypertension. The positive association observed for IL-6 was no longer statistically significant after adjusting for BMI. Our results highlight the important link between inflammation and adiposity in the risk of developing hypertension. Further research is required to better identify their links to incident hypertension.

Chapter 3

Investigating the effects and mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction induced by inflammatory cytokines

3.1 Introduction

Hypertension is characterised as a disorder where the blood pressure is chronically over 140/90 mmHg. It is a global cause of morbidity and mortality affecting over a billion people worldwide with the primary cause of the disease being unknown after years of research (Drummond et al., 2019). A variety of treatment options targeting the renal, cardiac, vascular, and central nervous system are available but hypertension still remains untreated and increases cardiovascular risks like myocardial infarction, heart failure and stroke in a majority of patients undergoing treatment (Drummond et al., 2019, Lackland and Weber, 2015).

The regulation of blood flow and volume involves interactions between the heart, kidneys, and the vascular system by means of physiological systems such as RAAS and SNS. These physiological systems play a crucial role on blood pressure regulations and are found to be upregulated in hypertensive conditions. Recent studies have indicated that immune and inflammatory mechanisms can significantly contribute to the disease. However, the mechanisms of their involvement in hypertension remain poorly defined.

The immune system can protect and promote hypertension by producing cytokines which are pro - or anti - inflammatory in nature. A number of cytokines such as: IFN-γ, TNF, TGFB, GM-CSF, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17, IL-21, and IL-22 are produced by innate and adaptive immune cells such as T regulatory cells, invariant natural killer T cells, macrophages, myeloid derived suppressor cells, and dendritic cells (Nussenblatt, 2010, Nash et al., 2015, Burrell et al., 2016, Pahl and Vaziri, 2020, Corthay, 2009, Brennan et al., 2013, Justin Rucker and Crowley, 2017, Shen and Fillatreau, 2015, Chiasson et al., 2018). These inflammatory cytokines along with others may possibly modulate vascular mechanisms involved in increasing blood pressure and cardiovascular risk including oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase activity, and consequently endothelial dysfunction (Rucker et al., 2018).

Endothelium is a single celled, innermost lining of the circulatory system. It is semi-permeable and acts as a barrier to the exchange of material in the vasculature. Functions of endothelium include maintaining vascular tone by vasoconstriction and vasodilation, maintaining cardiac homeostasis by regulating thrombosis and thrombolysis, cell proliferation and angiogenesis among other functions (Tousoulis et al., 2012). These functions maintain the bioavailability of NO, which is produced by eNOS.

eNOS converts L-arginine to L-citrulline by reducing NADPH in a calcium/calmodulin dependent manner and produces NO with the help of BH4, a redox labile cofactor (Drummond and Sobey, 2014). Under inflammatory conditions caused by diabetes or hypertension, ROS production causes oxidation of BH4, resulting in the uncoupling of eNOS to produce ROS, and hence causing an imbalance in the bioavailability of NO to maintain endothelial function (Montezano and Touyz, 2012a, Chen et al., 2008, Landmesser et al., 2003). NO production is also regulated by phosphorylation of amino acid residues on eNOS. Most phosphorylation sites studied before are Serine 1177 (S1177) and Threonine 475 (T495) in humans. When eNOS is phosphorylated at S1177 NO production is enhanced and when phosphorylated at T495, NO production is inhibited (Guzik et al., 2000).

Even though eNOS is responsible for the production, it is said to be the secondary producer or ROS, while specific NOX isoforms are the primary producers in the endothelium. There are seven isoforms of NOXs named NOX1, NOX2, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, DUOX1, and DUOX2. Four of these isoforms are found in the endothelium. NOX1, NOX2 and NOX5 produce superoxide anions resulting in reduced NO bioavailability and subsequently endothelial function. NOX4 is highly expressed in the endothelium and produces hydrogen peroxide (Drummond and Sobey, 2014) which is not found to react with NO. Hence NOX4 can be considered to act as a vaso-protective entity and its overproduction has found to be related with overexpression of eNOS (Craige et al., 2011).

To study and comprehend the effect of inflammatory cytokines like IL-1B and IL-6, which have been associated with the incidence of hypertension, and TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-17a and IL-15, which are otherwise said to affect endothelial function, the effects of the selected cytokines on vascular function, gene expression and their mechanisms of action was investigated.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Vasomotor studies

3-month-old C57BL/6 male mice were obtained from Charles River, and their thoracic aortas were used to study the effect of IL-1B, IFN- γ , IL-6, IL-17A, IL-15 and TNF- α on endothelium-dependent and endothelium-independent function of the vessel. 610DMT multi-wire myograph system, PowerLab data acquisition system, and LabChart software were used to record and analyse the changes in vasomotor function. Contraction and relaxation of mouse vessels were conducted using high potassium physiological saline solution (KPSS), phenylephrine (Phe), serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5HT), acetylcholine (ACh), and sodium nitroprusside (SNP).

3.2.1.1 Vessel harvesting

A mouse was carefully transferred to a carbon dioxide chamber using a cardboard tube. After securing the lid, carbon dioxide was let inside the chamber at an appropriate flow rate to allow a slow increase of gas. Once the animals were unconscious, the flow of carbon dioxide was rapidly increased and maintained for 2 minutes or until respiratory arrest was observed. Death was confirmed by dislocation of upper cervical spinal column or by severing the femoral artery. The mouse was then pinned down on a surgical board with ventral side exposed. After sterilizing the site of incision, a vertical cut was made in the abdomen using sterile forceps and scissors. While holding the skin in place, the skin was cut until the diaphragm in the thoracic cavity, and lungs, along with rib cage were removed. The heart was then perfused with cold sterile Dulbecco's phosphate buffer saline [DPBS (Gibco[™] Thermo Scientific, cat. no. 14190144)] using a syringe and extra fluid was removed using a sterile gauze. The abdominal cavity was cleared of all the gastro-intestinal organs, and the aorta was carefully separated from the spine and collected in cold sterile DPBS.

3.2.1.2 Cytokine induced media preparation

In a sterile environment, Rosewell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 media (Thermo Scientific, cat. no.11875093) with antibiotics was used to prepare cytokine rich media. Cytokine concentrations were selected from previous experimental values available in literature and has been discussed in detail in Section 3.4 and Table 3.3. The selected cytokine concentrations are as follows:

- i) Mouse IL-18: 1 ng/ml
- ii) Mouse IFN-γ: 10 ng/ml
- iii) Mouse IL-6: 5 ng/ml
- iv) Mouse TNF-α: 1 ng/ml
- v) Mouse IL-17a: 1 ng/ml
- vi) Mouse IL-15: 10 ng/ml

3.2.1.3 Vessel treatment

Upon harvesting, the perivascular adipose tissue was carefully removed from the vessels in cold conditions. The vessels were then cut into 2 mm rings and were put in media containing cytokines or a vehicle. Then the vessels were cultured for 18 hours in 95% oxygen - 5% carbon dioxide at 37°C.

3.2.1.4 Mounting of vessels

The myograph chambers were first cleaned with double distilled water and cold PSS (118.99 mmol/l NaCl, 4.69 mmol/l KCl, 1.17 mmol/l MgSO4-7H2O, 1,18 mmol/l KH₂PO₄, 2,5 mmol/l CaCl₂-2H₂O, 25 mmol/l NaHCO₃, 11.1 mmol/l glucose, 0.03 mmol/l EDTA) thoroughly, and were then filled with cold PSS. Around 2.2 cm of 40 µm was placed between the jaws of the myograph and one end was wrapped around a fixing screw in clockwise manner. The rings were removed from the incubator and were mounted on the wire through the unscrewed end. The wire was wound at both ends with the screws and another piece of wire was passed through the lumen and wound clockwise onto the other jaw of the myograph chamber with the jaws always aligned together.

3.2.1.5 Myography protocol

Once the rings were mounted, they were let to acclimatise in the chambers until the chamber temperature rose to 37°C. Once the optimum temperature was attained, the rings were washed with warm oxygenated PSS and let to equilibrate for 15 minutes. The rings were normalised to 15 mN slowly but steadily increasing no more than 2 mN tension at once. After the rings normalised and equilibrated for 10-15 minutes without any changes in tension, the rings were pre-constricted with 5 ml KPSS (64.86 mmol/l NaCl, 58.82 mmol/l KCl, 1.17 mmol/l MgSO₄-7H₂O, 1,18 mmol/l KH₂PO₄) twice to determine maximum constriction. Then the rings were constricted with increasing doses (10⁻⁶M - 10⁻²M) of Phe or 5-HT. The endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation of rings were observed using increasing doses of ACh (10⁻⁶M - 10⁻²M). Endotheliumindependent vasodilation was assessed using increasing doses of SNP (10⁻⁶M - 10⁻ 2 M) as a vasorelaxant. Figure 1 illustrates the sequential flow of the experiment and Table 1 presents the quantities of concentrated stock solutions added to the organ bath. The vessels were washed three times with warm oxygenated PSS after each relaxation until they reached baseline tension of 15 mN.



Figure 3.1 Sequential flow of organ bath experiment.

3.2.1.6 Data analyses and statistics

The curves were analysed using the LabChart software and data was analysed in Microsoft Excel. Graphs were generated in GraphPad Prism and repeated measure two-way ANOVA with Geisser-Greenhouse correction was also performed using GraphPad Prism.

Table 3.1 Volume of concentrated stock solutions to add in the bath to increases doses of Phe, Ach, 5-HT, and SNP

Volume of bath = 5 ml									
Stock solution	Volume to add (µl)	Concentration in bath (M)							
(Molar)									
1x10 ⁻⁶	5	1x10 ⁻⁹							
1x10 ⁻⁶	10	3x10 ⁻⁹							
1x10 ⁻⁶	35	1x10 ⁻⁸							
1x10 ⁻⁵	10	3x10 ⁻⁸							
1x10 ⁻⁵	35	1x10 ⁻⁷							
1x10 ⁻⁴	10	3x10 ⁻⁷							
1x10 ⁻⁴	35	1x10 ⁻⁶							
1x10 ⁻³	10	3x10 ⁻⁶							
1x10 ⁻³	35	1x10 ⁻⁵							
1x10 ⁻²	10	3x10 ⁻⁵							

3.2.2 Gene profiling

For RNA extraction and qRT-PCR, qiazol, chloroform, metal beads, elusion columns, RNAse free tubes, centrifuge, RNAse free water, homogeniser, 100% ethanol, Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit (Cat. No. 74106), cDNA kit (reverse transcription buffer, dNTP mix, reverse transcription primers, multi-scribe reverse transcriptase, RNAse inhibitor), TaqMan gene expression master mix, TaqMan probes (NOS3, NOX1, CYBB, NOX4 and TBP), PCR thermal cyclers and TaqMan PCR machine were used.

3.2.2.1 RNA extraction

For RNA extraction, to an RNAse free tube, a metal bead and 700 μ l of qiazol was added along with the mouse vessel. The tissue was homogenised for 6 minutes at 30 Hz. The homogenised mix was rested at room temperature for 5

minutes after which 140 µl of chloroform was added to the mix, vortexed for 15 seconds and incubated for 3 minutes at room temperature. The mix was then centrifuged at 12000 g for 15 minutes at 4°C, and the aqueous phase was collected in a separate RNAse free tube. Equal volume of 100% ethanol was added, vortexed, and then transferred to a column. The column was then centrifuged at 15000 g for 30 seconds at room temperature. The column was then washed with 400 µl of wash buffer and centrifuged again at 15000 g for 30 seconds at room temperature. The column was then incubated with 80 µl DNAse-I solution mix for 15 minutes at room temperature. Later the column was washed with 400 µl pre-wash buffer twice followed by centrifugation at 15000 g for 30 seconds at room temperature. 700 µl wash buffer was added and the column was centrifuged for 2 minutes at 15000 g, followed by another 30 seconds centrifugation. The column was then transferred to a new RNAse free tube and RNAse free water was added and incubated for 3 minutes after which the columns were centrifuged and at 15000 g for 1 minute at room temperature and the eluted RNA was guantified using nanodrop ND1000 (ThermoFisher Scientific) by assessing the A260/280 ratio.

3.2.2.2 RT-PCR

For cDNA preparation, 13.2 μ l RNA sample was added to Eppendorf tubes with 6.8 μ l 2X reverse transcription master mix (2 μ l 10x reverse transcription buffer, 0.8 μ l 25X dNTP mix, 2 μ l 10X reverse transcription primers, 1 μ l RNAse inhibitor and 1 μ l multi scribe reverse transcriptase). The Eppendorf tubes were sealed, centrifuged to remove air bubbles, and settle the mix. The tubes were then placed in a thermal cycler. The different steps were defined for temperature and time, and the cycler was run for 20 μ l sample volume.

Table 3.2: PCR annealing, polymerisation and enzyme denaturation steps defining time and temperature per step

	Step 1 -	Step 2 -	Step 3 -	Step 4 -		
	primer	polymerisation	enzyme	stabilisation		
	annealing		denaturation	and storage		
Temperature	25	37	85	4		
(°C)						
Time	10 minutes	120 minutes	5 minutes	∞		

3.2.2.3 qPCR

After the cDNA was obtained, qPCR mix was prepared using 4.5 μ l cDNA template and 5.5 μ l PCR reaction mix [5 μ l 2xTaqMan gene expression master mix (ThermoFisher, cat. No. 4444556) and 0.5 μ l 20xTaqMan probe] and added to each well on a 96 well plate. The plate was sealed and centrifuged to remove any air bubbles. The plate was then run on Quant Studio 5 real-time PCR system (ThermoFisher Scientific) and PCR was conducted. The probes were run for eNOS, NOX1, NOX2, NOX4 and housekeeping gene TATA-binding protein (TBP).

3.2.2.4 Data analyses and statistics

Samples were run in technical replicates and Cycle threshold (Ct) values were obtained after the qPCR. Relative quantification of genes of interest was carried out in Excel. The results were compiled, and two tailed unpaired t-test was performed, and graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism (version 9.5.1).

3.2.3 Cell culture

Human aortic endothelial cells (HAoEC) were obtained from PromoCell (Cat. No. C-12271) along with human endothelial cell growth media (Cat. No. C-22010). For cell stimulation, recombinant human IL-15 (10 μ g, Cat. No. 200-15) and recombinant human IFN- γ (100 μ g, Cat. No.300-02) were ordered from PeproTech. DPBS (Gibco^m) was used in the cell cultures and radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer from Thermo Scientific (Cat. No. 89901) was used to lyse the harvested cells. Trypsin, fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin and streptomycin, cell culture dishes, 15 ml tubes and flasks were used from the laboratory stock.

3.2.3.1 Media preparation

Human endothelial cell growth media, human endothelial cell growth supplement and antibiotics (Penicillin and Streptomycin) were thawed and warmed up to 37°C in a water bath. Upon reaching the required temperature, all vials and bottles were opened in sterile conditions, and 10 ml growth supplement and 10 ml antibiotic mixture were added to 500 ml growth media. This growth media mix was then used to seed the cells.

3.2.3.2 HAoEC seeding

Cryopreserved HAoECs were thawed at 37°C in a water bath. Under sterile conditions, 1 ml of warm media mix was added to the cell vial and gently mixed. The contents of the vial were then added to a 15 ml tube along with 8 ml media mix. The tube was then centrifuged at 1200 revolution per minute for 3 minutes at room temperature. The supernatant was discarded, and the cell pellet was then resuspended in 1 ml media mix and mixed gently. A T-75 flask was prepared with 9 ml media mix and the resuspended cells were added to the flask. The flask was then lightly tapped to spread the cells evenly and then incubated at 37°C with 95% oxygenation.

3.2.3.3 Media change and cell passaging

After 24 hours of seeding the cells, the flask was observed under a microscope to check for cell adherence, cell growth and acidity of media. Media mix was warmed up to 37°C, and the pre-existing media from the T-flask was aspirated and replaced with the warm media mix under a laminar flow hood to maintain sterility.

Upon reaching nearly 90% confluence, the cells were prepared to split into more than 1 T-150 flask. Media mix was warmed up in a water bath to 37°C and 12 ml of warm media was added to each sterile T-150 flask. The cells were then removed from incubation and the media was aspirated. 2 ml of warm trypsin was added to the cells and the flask was tapped lightly to detach the cells from the surface. The flask was then placed in the incubator for 3 minutes for detachment of the cells and the same was observed under the microscope afterwards. If the cells were not detached, the flask was kept in the microscope for two addition minutes and then 10 ml warm media mix was added to the flask to stop the trypsinisation process. The media was then mixed around on the attachment surface to remove all the loosely attached cells and the media was then centrifuged in a 15 ml conical centrifuge tube at 1200 revolutions per minute for 3 minutes at room temperature. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1 ml media mix after removing the supernatant and equal volumes of the resuspended cells were then added to each T-150 flask. The flasks were tapped gently to evenly distribute the cells on the adherent surface and then were placed in an incubator with 95% oxygenation at 37°C. The cells were observed for adherence and cell growth after 24 hours and fresh media was changed to aid cell growth.

3.2.3.4 Cytokine induced media preparation

Varying concentrations of cytokines was added to growth media mix to prepare cytokines induced media. 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml IL-15 was added growth media mix to prepare two different concentrations of IL-15 stimulation media. 10 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml IFN- γ was added growth media mix to prepare two different concentrations of IFN- γ stimulation media. The control media consisted of growth media mix without any additions.

3.2.3.5 Cell stimulation

After reaching nearly 90% confluence upon the 7th passage, the cells were ready to be stimulated with desired cytokine concentrations. Starving media was prepared by mixing 0.5% FBS with endothelial cell growth media and antibiotics. The cells were then starved for 2.5 hours, in an incubator at 37°C, by replacing the growth media mix with starving media mix. After starvation, the cells were then induced with desired cytokine media mix for varying time points (15 minutes, 30 minutes, 4 hours, and 24 hours). Upon stimulation with the cytokines for the required amounts of time, the process was stopped by washing the cells with DPBS after removing the media and then immediately freezing the cells using dry ice. The cell plates were then moved to -20°C to be harvested at a later stage.

3.2.3.6 Cell extraction and homogenate preparation

Cell lysis mixture was prepared in cold conditions using RIPA buffer (Thermo Scientific, cat. No. 89901), Halt Protease Inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific; cat. No. 78430) and Halt Phosphatase Inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Scientific; cat. No. 78420) along with EDTA. For every 100 μ l of RIPA, 1 μ l of 100x phosphatase inhibitor, 1 μ l protease inhibitor and 1 μ l 0.5M EDTA were added. The cells were transferred from -20°C and thawed on ice by placing the dishes in a vertical manner to collect the excess DPBS that was not removed after stopping the stimulation. Upon complete thawing of cells, the excess liquid (if present) was aspirated and 100ul of cell lysis mix was added to the dishes. Using a sterile scraper, the cells were scraped from the dishes for 30 seconds while moving the dish around to keep the cells covered with the liquid and efficient scraping. The liquid containing scraped cells was then collected from the dishes and was stored in well labelled 1 ml Eppendorf tubes.

To prepare the cell homogenate, the tubes containing cells were vortexed, centrifuged at 10000 g for 1 minute and then sonicated at 50% amplitude for 10 seconds twice. The probe was washed between each set of samples and the sonicated samples were then centrifuged at 14000 g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then collected and stored for further estimations and investigations.

3.2.4 Protein quantification using BCA assay

Protein concentrations were estimated in cell homogenate samples using the Pierce BCA Protein Assay kit obtained from Thermo Scientific (Cat. No. 23227). Standards were prepared using BSA ampule provided in the kit by diluting it in RIPA buffer and working reagent was prepared by mixing 50:1 Reagent A: B. 10 μ l of each standard and 5 μ l of each sample diluted with 5 μ l water was added to a 96 well plate. After 200ul working reagent was added to all the wells, the plate was covered and kept on a shaker for 30 seconds to mix the solutions. The plate was then incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes and the absorbance was measured after cooling the plate at 562nm using plate reader Victor X3 (PerkinElmer). The standard curve was prepared using the absorbance and concentrations of the standards and the unknown protein concentrations were estimated.

3.2.5 Protein profiling: Western blotting from cell homogenate

For primary antibodies, BD Biosciences' mouse anti - eNOS [pT495] (Cat. No. BD - 612707), and mouse anti-eNOS [pS1177] (Cat. No. BD - 612393), Abcam's rabbit anti - eNOS (Cat. No. Ab - 66127), and Sigma Aldrich's rabbit anti-NOX1 (Cat. No. SAB2108601) were used. Secondary antibodies were IRDye 800CW and IRDye 680RD (LI-COR) for both goat anti-mouse and goat anti-rabbit. Pipettes, Eppendorf and falcon tubes and all chemicals and required solutions were used from the laboratory stock.

3.2.5.1 Sample preparation

After estimating the concentration of protein in the cell homogenate, protein samples were prepared to run western blots. Cell homogenate was diluted with double distilled water to prepare samples with 15 μ g protein in 25 μ l volume. 5 μ l loading buffer (6X) was added and a total volume of 30 μ l was prepared. The samples with the loading dye were heated in 95°C for 5 minutes. The samples were then removed from the thermoblock and were vortexed, followed by a short 30 second spin in a centrifuge to collect the samples at the bottom.

3.2.5.2 Gel preparation

To prepare a 7.5% resolving gel, the apparatus was first cleaned with 70% ethanol and dried completely. The plates were assembled in a casket, mounted on the gel solidification apparatus, and were checked for any leaks using double distilled water. The plates were then dried completely with filter paper and were ready to be poured with the gels. In two separate 50 ml tubes, the stacking and separating gel solutions were prepared.

To prepare 7.5% resolving gel, 1.5M Tris pH 8.8, 40% acrylamide, 10% SDS, 10% APS, and TEMED were required. 10% SDS was prepared by dissolving 10 g SDS in 100 ml water.1.5M Tris buffer was prepared by dissolving 18.165 g Tris base in 80 ml water and topping up with water to prepare 100 ml solution. The pH was adjusted to 8.8. In a falcon tube, 5.475 ml water, 2.5 ml 1.5M Tris pH 8.8, 1.875

ml 40% acrylamide, 0.1 ml 10% SDS, 90 μ l 10% APS and 5 μ l TEMED were added bringing the total volume to 10 ml for preparing 1 gel.

For stacking gel, 0.5M Tris pH 6.8 along with 40% acrylamide, 10% SDS, 10% APS, and TEMED were required. 0.5M Tris buffer was prepared by dissolving 6.055 g in 80 ml water and a final volume of 100 ml was prepared by adding water. The pH was adjusted to 6.8. In a falcon tube, 2.54 ml water, 1 ml 0.5M Tris pH 6.8, 0.4 ml 40% acrylamide, 40 μ l 10% SDS, 40 μ l 10% APS and 4 μ l TEMED were added bringing the total volume to 4 ml for preparing 1 gel.

After adding TEMED and APS, the tubes were quickly vortexed to mix the solution well. The separating gel was added to the chamber first and isopropanol was added over it to remove any air gaps or bubbles. Once the gel solidified, the alcohol was removed using a filter paper. The stacking gel was prepared using and immediately after adding TEMED and APS, the tubes were quickly vortexed, and the gel was added over the separating gel in the gel casting chambers. A 15 well comb was introduced to the gel to create the desired number of sample loading chambers. The gel was then allowed to solidify.

3.2.5.3 Gel loading and running

10x Tris-glycine buffer was prepared by mixing 30g Tris base and 145g glycine in IL water. Running buffer was prepared by adding 100 ml of 10x Tris-glycine buffer with 890 ml water and 10 ml 10% SDS. Once the gel was solidified, the gel caskets were removed from the gel solidification apparatus and were placed in the running chamber. The chamber was then filled with running buffer halfway. The gels were then loaded with 5 μ l ladder and 30 μ l protein samples in desired chambers in a careful manner. The running chamber was then filled with more running buffer until the required levels with the gels submerged in the buffer. The probes were connected to a power supply and the gels were run at 150 V, at room temperature, for 1 hour 15 minutes or until the samples and ladder run to the bottom of the gel.

3.2.5.4 Transfer of protein

1L of transfer buffer was prepared by mixing 200 ml methanol, 700 ml water and 100 ml 10x Tris-glycine and was cooled down to 4°C. After the gels were run,

the caskets were removed from the electrophoresis apparatus and the gels were then removed from the plates and placed in a transfer buffer. The transfer apparatus including the filter papers, transfer membranes and sponges were soaked in transfer buffer to activate them for the protein transfer. The gels and membranes were arranged in the transfer cassettes in a transfer sandwich order. The air bubbles between each layer were removed using a rolling pin and once set, the transfer cassette was placed in a transfer tank. The tank was then filled with cold transfer buffer and an ice block was placed inside the tank to maintain the cold temperature. The transfer tank was then placed in an ice bath. The probes were then connected, and the protein transfer was run at 100 V, at 4°C, for 1 hour 55 minutes.

3.2.5.5 Blocking of membrane

After the proteins were transferred to the membranes, the membranes were placed in Ponceau S to confirm success and the membranes were cut and labelled as desired. 10x TBS was prepared by mixing 24.2g Tris base with 8g sodium chloride in 1L double distilled water. The pH was adjusted to 7.6 and the solution was diluted to 1x for use. The membranes were then washed in TBS 3 times for 5 minutes each while placed on a shaker. After washing the membranes, they were blocked in 5% BSA prepared in TBS for 1 hour at room temperature, while placed on a shaker.

3.2.5.6 Antibody incubation

TBS-T was prepared by adding 1 ml Tween-20 and 100 ml 10x TBS to 900 ml double distilled water. Once the membranes were successfully blocked, they were then washed with TBS-T quickly. The membranes were then incubated with primary antibodies at 4°C on a shaker. After an overnight incubation, the membranes were removed from the primary antibodies and again washed with TBS-T 3 times for 5 minutes each. Secondary antibodies were added to the membranes at room temperature and the membranes were incubated for 1 hour on a shaker. After the incubation, the membranes were again washed with TBS-T and analysed for relative protein quantification using Licor Odyssey Clx infrared imaging system.

3.2.5.7 Stripping the membrane for housekeeping proteins

Once the membranes were analysed, they were quickly washed with double distilled water for a maximum of 10 seconds. Restore Plus stripping buffer from ThermoFisher Scientific (cat. No. 46430) was added to the membranes for 5 minutes. The membranes were again washed with TBS-T 3 times for 5 minutes each. The membranes were blocked again with 5% BSA prepared in TBS for 1 hour at room temperature while shaking. Once the membranes were blocked, they were quickly rinsed with TBS-T and then were incubated with housekeeping protein antibodies overnight at 4° C. The membranes were then incubated with TBS-T 3 times on a shaker for 5 minutes each. The membranes were then incubated with the secondary antibodies for 1 hour at room temperature. The membranes were then washed in TBS-T and analysed again.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 The effect of inflammatory cytokines on vascular function in mouse aortas.

To have a better understanding of how the vascular function is affected by inflammatory cytokines, vasomotor studies were conducted. Mouse vessels were co-cultured for 18 hours with pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-6, TNF- α , IL-15, IFN- γ , IL-18, IL-17a, and then vasoconstriction was studied using Phe and 5-HT, and relaxation was studied using ACh and SNP in an organ bath.

3.3.1.1 The impact of IL-1 β on vascular function ex vivo

The vascular constriction mediated by Phe was not significantly different when compared IL-1B (1 ng/ml) treated with the control vessels (Fig.3.2A) In contrast, endothelium-dependent relaxation was significantly impaired upon IL-1B treatment (P <0.001, Fig.3.2B) with 35.88 \pm 6.79% relaxation of vessels in response to Ach (3x10⁻⁵), whereas the control vessels relaxed to 90.05 \pm 5.35% (Mean \pm SEM). Similarly, to Phe, the 5HT-mediated constriction of the vessels was the same in both studied groups (P= 0.9354, Fig.3.2C). Vascular relaxation, upon 5-HT pre-constriction, showed significant differences in relaxation in comparison to the untreated vessels (P= 0.004). The stimulated vessels reached 80.36 \pm 7.60% relaxation while the unstimulated vessels reached 103.98 \pm 1.86 % relaxation with 3x10⁻⁵ ACh (Fig.3.2D). The endothelium-independent relaxation in response to SNP did not show any significant differences between the studied groups (Fig 3.2E).


Figure 3.2: Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on constriction with increasing doses of Phe. (B) Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with Phe. (C) Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on vascular constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with 5HT. (E) Effect of IL-1 β (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-independent relaxation induced by SNP. The data points are represented as Mean ± SEM, n=6.

3.3.1.2 The impact of IFN-γ on vascular function ex vivo

The aortic constriction attained with Phe was not significantly different between the IFN- γ -treated and control vessel (Fig.3.3A). The vascular relaxation after pre-constriction with Phe showed a trend toward impairment of endothelial function upon IFN- γ incubation, however, these changes were not significantly different when compared with the control group (P=0.0924, Fig.3.3B). The 5HT mediated constriction was not affected in both studied groups (Figure.3.3C). After pre-constricting, the vessels with 5HT, IFN- γ -treated aortic rings displayed significant impairment of endothelial function in compassion to the control group (P=0.0099). The control vessels reached a relaxation of 99.30 \pm 3.12% whereas the incubated vessels reached an 83.46 \pm 5.81% relaxation with 3x10⁻⁵M ACh (Fig 3.3D). Endothelium-independent relaxation mediated by increasing doses of SNP was not significantly different between stimulated and unstimulated vessels (Fig. 3.3E).



Figure 3.3: Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on constriction with increasing doses of Phe. (B) Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with Phe. (C) Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on vascular constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with 5HT. (E) Effect of IFN- γ (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-independent relaxation induced by SNP. The data points are represented as Mean ± SEM, n=6.

3.3.1.3 The impact of IL-6 on vascular function ex vivo

Aortic rings incubated with 5 ng/ml of IL-6, showed similar Phe-mediated vasoconstriction to vessels in vehicle treated group (Fig.3.4A). The endotheliumdependent relaxation, after pre-constriction with Phe, was significantly affected in the IL-6-treated when compared with the control group. The maximum relaxation in the IL-6-treated group was 76.78±5.51% with $3x10^{-5}$ ACh, while the control relaxed to $90.06\pm5.35\%$ (P=0.014, n=6, Fig.3.4B). The 5HT-induced constriction was comparable between groups (Fig.3.4C). Similarly, there was no significant difference in both treated and control groups when the vessels were relaxed with ACh after constriction with 5HT (Fig.3.4D) Endothelium-independent relaxation was also not significantly affected by IL-6 or vehicle treatment (Fig.3.4E).



Figure 3.4: Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on constriction with increasing doses of Phe. (B) Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with Phe. (C) Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on vascular constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with 5HT. (E) Effect of IL-6 (5 ng/ml) on endothelium-independent relaxation induced by SNP. The data points are represented as Mean ± SEM, n=6.

3.3.1.4 The impact of TNF- α on vascular function ex vivo

Vessels incubated with 1ng/ml TNF- α did not show any significant changes in Phe- and 5-HT- induced vasoconstriction when compared with the control group, with the maximal contraction 79.71±9.02% vs 80.82±9.69% and 79.00±6.93% vs 71.81±8.54%, respectively (Fig. 3.5A and B). Aortic rings treated with TNF- α exhibited comparable vascular relaxation to control vessels upon preconstriction with Phe (Fig. 3.5B). Similarly, upon initial exposure to 5HT, endothelium-dependent relaxation was comparable between the studied groups with 98.12±2.36% and 103.98±1.86% in TNF- α and the control group, respectively (Fig. 3.5D). Endothelium-independent relaxation was also not affected by TNF treatment (Fig. 3.5E).



Figure 3.5: Effect of TNF- α (1 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of TNF- α (1 ng/ml) on constriction with increasing doses of Phe. (B) Effect of TNF- α (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with Phe. (C) Effect of TNF- α (1 ng/ml) on vascular constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of TNF a (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of TNF a (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with 5HT. (E) Effect of TNF- α (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-independent relaxation induced by SNP. The data points are represented as Mean ± SEM, n=6.

3.3.1.5 The impact of IL-15 on vascular function ex vivo

Vessels incubated with 10 ng/ml IL-15 did not show any significant changes in Phe- and 5-HT- induced vasoconstriction when compared with the control group, with the maximal contraction 82.49±11.55% vs 86.59±12.60% and 97.37±6.26% 96.27±5.84%, respectively (Fig. 3.6A and C). Aortic rings treated with IL-15 exhibited comparable vascular relaxation to control vessels upon preconstriction with Phe (Fig. 3.6B). Similarly, upon initial exposure to 5HT, endothelium-dependent relaxation was comparable between the studied groups with 86.66±13.36% and 80.96±11.70% in IL-15 and the control group, respectively (Fig. 3.6D). Endothelium-independent relaxation was also not affected by IL-15 treatment (Fig. 3.6E).



Figure 3.6: Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on constriction with increasing doses of Phe. (B) Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with Phe. (C) Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on vascular constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with 5HT. (E) Effect of IL-15 (10 ng/ml) on endothelium-independent relaxation induced by SNP. The data points are represented as Mean ± SEM, n=4.

3.3.1.6 The impact of IL-17a on vascular function ex vivo

The vascular constriction attained with Phe in the treated vessels showed a trend towards higher contractility, in initial doses of Phe, when compared to the control vessels. However, these changes were not significant, and maximal constriction was similar (87.70±5.94% vs 84.32±6.47%). (Fig. 3.7A) The maximum relaxation of Phe-constricted vessels was also not significantly affected by 1 ng/ml IL-17a treatment (Fig.3.7B). Upon exposure with 5HT, similar constriction was observed in both groups (Fig. 3.7C). Similarly, there were no significant differences between treated and control vessels in endothelium-dependent relaxation after constriction with 5HT (Fig.3.7D) Endothelium-independent relaxation was also not significantly different between studied groups (Fig.3.7E).



Figure 3.7: Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on vasoconstriction and relaxation on mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on constriction with increasing doses of Phe. (B) Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with Phe. (C) Effect of IL-17 (1 ng/ml) on vascular constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with increasing doses of 5HT. (D) Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-dependent relaxation with increasing doses of ACh after pre-constriction with 5HT. (E) Effect of IL-17a (1 ng/ml) on endothelium-independent relaxation induced by SNP. The data points are represented as Mean ± SEM, n=3.

3.3.2 Changes in NADPH oxidase subunits and eNOS mRNA expression level in mouse vessels treated with IL-1 β and IFN- γ

Upon observing significant differences in vascular relaxation impairment after treatment with IL-1B and IFN- γ , the gene expression of eNOS and NADPH oxidase subunits was studied next. This was done to determine the direct effect of studied cytokines on the transcription changes of genes implicated in NO and ROS production.

3.3.2.1 Changes in gene expression induced by IL-1β

Vessels treated with 1 ng/ml IL-1B, showed 1.45- fold induction in *nox1* (Fig. 3.8A), and 0.71 decrease of NOX2 (Fig. 3.8B) mRNA expression level compared to untreated vessels; however, the differences were not statistically significant. In contrast, IL-1B treatment significantly reduced NOX4 gene expression (1±0.012 vs 0.59±0.08, p = 0.0082) (Fig. 3.8C). A similar trend was observed in eNOS mRNA level (Fig. 3.8D) where the treated vessels showed 0.69-decrease compared with untreated vessels (P = 0.0185).



Figure 3.8: Effect of IL-1 β and IFN- γ on NADPH oxidase subunits and eNOS gene expression in mouse thoracic aortas. (A) Effect of cytokine treatment on NOX1 gene expression (B) Effect of cytokine treatment on NOX2 gene expression (C) Effect of cytokine treatment on NOX4 gene expression (D) Effect of cytokine treatment on eNOS gene expression. Data presented as Mean ± SEM and analysed using two-tailed unpaired T-test; n=3.

3.3.2.2 Changes in gene expression induced by IFN-y

IFN- γ treatment at 10 ng/ml showed no significant difference in NOX1 gene expression compared to untreated vessels (1±0.18 vs 0.97±0.32 1, Fig. 3.9A).The induction of NOX2 expression was slightly higher (1.23-fold) in treated vessels compared to untreated vessels, but the difference was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.9B). A significant impact of IFN- γ treatment was observed in NOX4 mRNA level (p = 0.0022, Fig 3.9C) with 0.45- fold decrease compared to control. A similar effect was observed for eNOS (Fig.3.9D) where the treated vessels showed a significant reduction in gene expression when compared with the untreated vessels (1±0.08 vs 0.64±0.08, P = 0.0297).

3.3.3 Cytokine induced eNOS and ERK phosphorylation in HAoECs in vitro.

To explore the potential mechanism of observed endothelium dysfunction and changes in eNOS and NOX4 expression levels, human aortic endothelial cells were used to study the direct effect of cytokines on eNOS (Threonine 495 and Serine 1177) and ERK phosphorylation. Since IFN- γ showed significant effects on gene expression as well as receptor dependent endothelial function, the cytokine was selected to study the mechanisms of endothelial function. As a comparator, IL-15 was selected due to no significant responses in the receptor dependent endothelial function.

3.3.3.1 Effect of IL-15 stimulation on eNOS and ERK phosphorylation

Upon extracting the cell homogenate after treatment, western blots were run to observe phosphorylation of eNOS at T495 and S1177, and phosphorylation of ERK.

HAoECs stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml of IL-15 for 15 minutes showed no differences in phosphorylation of eNOS T495 (Fig. 3.9A), but 50 ng/ml IL-15 showed a slight increase in phosphorylation of S1177 (Fig 3.9B) when compared with controls. When the cells were stimulated for 30 minutes, no significant differences in phosphorylation of eNOS at T495 (Fig. 3.9A) as well as at S1177 (Fig 3.9B) were observed for treated and untreated cells, even though phosphorylation at both S1177 and T495 was observed for cells stimulated with 50 ng/ml. Four hours stimulation with 10 ng/ml IL-15 showed a significant decrease (P=0.0498) in eNOS phosphorylation at T495 (Fig. 3.9A) and a significant increase (P=0.0035) in phosphorylation at S1177 (Fig 3.9B). In contrast, 50 ng/ml IL-15 showed no significant difference in eNOS phosphorylation at T495 (Fig. 3.9A) and at S1177 (Fig 3.9B). Although nonsignificant, an upward trend was observed in the phosphorylation of eNOS at S1177. After 24 hours of stimulation by IL-15, the phosphorylation of eNOS at T495 was not significantly affected (Fig. 3.9A). There was a significant 0.91-fold decrease (P=0.0032) in phosphorylation at S1177 (Fig 3.9B) observed in cells stimulated with 10 ng/ml IL-15, whereas no difference in cells stimulated with 50 ng/ml IL-15 was observed.

A non-significant change with a downward trend in phosphorylation of ERK was observed after 15 minutes treatment with 10 ng/ml IL-15 and 50 ng/ml (Fig 3.9C). Phosphorylation of ERK decreased significantly when 10 ng/ml IL-15 was used (P=0.0011) and increased upon 50 ng/ml stimulation cells for 30 minutes, though the difference was not significant. The longer exposure of HAoECs to both IL-15 concentrations did not result in significant changes in ERK phosphorylation at 4 and 24 hours compared to the control.



Figure 3.9 Western blot results for HAoEC homogenate for various time points when the cells were stimulated with varying concentrations of IL-15 and IFN- γ . (A) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of eNOS (T495) for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml IL-15. (B) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of eNOS (S1177) for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml IL-15. (C) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of ERK for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml IL-15 (D) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of eNOS (T495) for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 50 ng/ml IL-15 (D) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of eNOS (T495) for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml IFN- γ . (E) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of eNOS (S1177) for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml IFN- γ . (F) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of ERK for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml IFN- γ . (F) Graphs depicting phosphorylation of ERK for various time points when cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml IFN- γ .



Figure 3.10 Western blot membranes for HAoEC homogenate for various time points when the cells were stimulated varying concentrations of IL-15 and IFN- γ . (A) Western blot membranes showing protein bands for p-eNOS (T495), t-eNOS, p-ERK, t-ERK and housekeeping protein beta actin. (B) Western blot membranes showing protein bands for peNOS (S1177), t-eNOS, and housekeeping protein beta actin. Data represented as mean±SEM.

3.3.3.2 Effect of IFN-γ stimulation on eNOS and ERK phosphorylation

HAoECs stimulated with 10 ng/ml IFN- γ for 15 minutes showed increased phosphorylation of eNOS T495 and negligible changes in the phosphorylation of eNOS S1177. 50 ng/ml of IFN- γ decreased phosphorylation of eNOS at T495 but increased at S1177. 100 ng/ml of IFN- γ showed decrease in phosphorylation at eNOS T495 but had no effect on the phosphorylation of eNOS at S1177 (Fig. 3.9D). When the cells were stimulated for 30 minutes, no significant differences in phosphorylation of eNOS at T495 (Fig. 3.9A) were observed. In contrast, 10 ng/ml IFN- γ showed significant difference in the phosphorylation of eNOS at S1177 (Fig 3.9E). Four hours stimulation with 100 ng/ml IFN- γ showed a significant increase (P=0.0007) in eNOS phosphorylation at T495 (Fig. 3.9D), and no phosphorylation of eNOS at S1177 (Fig. 3.9E). When the cells were stimulated for 24 hours, an increase in the phosphorylation of eNOS at S1177 was observed but the difference between the treated and untreated groups were not statistically significant (Fig. 3.9D, E). A significant increase in phosphorylation of ERK was observed after 15 minutes treatment with 100 ng/ml IFN- γ (P=0.0137; Fig 3.9C) and a non-significant downward trend was observed for 50 ng/ml. Negligible changes were observed with all concentrations of the cytokine after 30 minutes of treatment. After four hours of treatment, 100 ng/ml IFN- γ showed increased ERK phosphorylation in comparison to the control group. Prolonged exposure to all concentrations of IFN- γ did not result in significant changes in ERK phosphorylation at 24 hours compared to the control.

3.4 Discussion

Hypertension is a globally recognized disorder of blood pressure affecting more than a billion people worldwide with almost 70% of the patients subsequently developing cardiovascular disorders (Drummond et al., 2019). Endothelial dysfunction has been found to be a major factor in the development of hypertension and other cardiovascular diseases. The bioavailability of NO plays a role in maintaining a proper endothelial function by regulating the vascular tone through constriction and relaxation of vascular smooth muscle cells.

The role of inflammatory cytokines IL-18, TNF- α , IL-6, IFN- γ , IL-15 and IL-17a was studied on vascular function by conducting vasomotor studies. Thoracic aortas from C57BL/6 male mice were co-cultured with inflammatory cytokines and vascular constriction, endothelium-dependent and endothelium-independent relaxation were studied. The concentration of cytokines was selected based on serum concentrations of the cytokines in mice as well as concentrations selected for previously undertaken work available in the literature. 1 ng/ml IL-18, 5 ng/ml IL-6, 1 ng/ml TNF- α , 1 ng/ml IL-17a, 10 ng/ml IL-15 and 10 ng/ml IFN- γ were selected for the experiments and vasoconstriction and relaxations were observed for all stimulated and unstimulated vessels.

Table 3.3 Mouse serum concentration of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IFN γ , IL-17a and
cytokine concentrations used in vasomotor experiments in the available
literature.

Cytokine	Serum levels in mice	Concentrations used in experiments
TNF-α	3 pg/ml (Cheng et al., 2019)	0.1 ng/ml (Chen et al., 2017), 1 ng/ml (Chen et al., 2017, Giardina et al., 2002), 3 ng/ml (Oike et al., 2018) and 10 ng/ml (Chen et al., 2017, Choi et al., 2018)
IL-1B	1.5 pg/ml (Cheng et al., 2019)	1 ng/ml (Dorrance, 2007, Vallejo et al., 2014), 2.5 ng/ml (Vallejo et al., 2014), 5 ng/ml (Vallejo et al., 2014), 10 ng/ml (Dorrance, 2007, Vallejo et al., 2014), 20 ng/ml (Dorrance, 2007)

IL-6	400 pg/ml (Wang et al., 2018)	5 ng/ml (Suda et al., 2011)
IFN-γ	0.5 pg/ml (Cheng et al., 2019)	10 ng/ml (Kimura et al., 2018)
IL-17a	1 pg/ml (Oike et al., 2018), 23 ug/l (Tang, 2019)	1 ng/ml (Nguyen et al., 2013b)

In the current study, it was observed that even though the vessels demonstrated vasoconstriction and relaxation, significant impairment in relaxation with increasing doses of Ach were only observed after constriction with both Phe and 5HT in IL-1B stimulated vessels indicating endothelium dependent dysfunction. These results are in accordance with the previously published data. Vallejo et.al. (Vallejo et al., 2014) demonstrated through their studies that after incubating mesenteric arteries from diabetic mice with increasing concentrations of IL-1B (1, 2.5, 5 and 10 ng/ml) for 2 hours, endotheliumdependent and independent relaxation impairment was observed in all treatment concentrations when compared with the control group. Though the contractility did not show any impairments, the relaxation after constriction with Phe showed a significant difference in treated vessels. In another study, the effect of IL-1B on endothelium-dependent relaxation was investigated after incubating rat thoracic aortas with 500 pg/ml IL-1B for 2 hours (Loughrey et al., 2003). The authors showed a significant impairment in the endothelium function in the relaxation of Phe pre-constricted vessels. However, not only rodent vessels but also human vessels also showed an adverse effect of IL-1B on vascular function. A study by Foudi et.al. showed that vasorelaxation of internal mammary arteries in humans, stimulated with 100 ng/ml IL-1B, for 24 hours along with lipopolysaccharide was impaired when compared with the control group (Foudi et al., 2017). Chook and colleagues (Chook et al., 2023), while studying the effect of protocatechuic acid on endothelial dysfunction in diabetic mice, also studied the effect of IL-1B on wild type C57BL/6 male mice. The treatment caused significant impairment in vascular dependent relaxation using Ach but endothelium independent relaxation using SNP was not affected. Similar to our results, a recently published research, studying the effect an oxidative stress sensitive transcription factor on IL-1B-induced inflammatory response, found that incubating C57BL/6 mouse aortic rings with 10 ng/ml of IL-1B for 24

127

hours caused significant impairment in endothelium-dependent relaxation (Gonzalez-Carnicero et al., 2023).

When vessels were treated with 10 ng/ml IFN γ , no significant contractile impairment was observed between treated and untreated vessels except for endothelium-dependent relaxation after constriction with 5-HT. Impairment after constricting with Phe was also absent for both endothelium-dependent and -independent relaxations. In a study conducted by Mikolajczyk and colleagues (Mikolajczyk et al., 2016) to understand chemokines in perivascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction, mouse aortas from C57BL/6 mice were incubated with 50 ng/ml IFN- γ overnight, and significant impairment in endothelium dependent relaxation was observed.

When studying the effect of IL-6 on endothelium dependent vascular function, the mouse aortas were cocultured with 5 ng/ml IL-6 overnight. The aortic rings showed no contractile impairment upon treatment with Phe and 5HT but showed significant impairment upon relaxation with ACh after pre-constriction with PE. A study published in 2011, looking at the effect of simvastatin on endotoxin induced cardiovascular dysfunction also studied the effect of IL-6(Suda et al., 2011). They incubated aortas harvested from the control group with 5 ng/ml IL-6 for 30 minutes before observing a significant difference in Ach-mediated dilation between the IL-6 treated and untreated vessels. In a study by Lee et.al (Lee et al., 2017), when wild-type mice aortas were incubated with 5 ng/ml of IL-6 and a significant impairment in endothelium-dependent relaxation with ACh was observed amongst the IL-6 treated and untreated vessels. Another study where exercise training in diabetic mice restored endothelial dysfunction, incubation of C57BLK/J (wild type) mouse aortas with 5 ng/ml IL-6 for 30 minutes displayed impairment of endothelium dependent relaxation with ACh (Lee et al., 2011).

In the current study vessels incubated with TNF- α , IL-17a, and IL-15 did not show any significant impairment in vascular function. Contrary to our results, a study by Nyugen et.al., while studying the effect of IL-17a on Rho-kinase mediated endothelial dysfunction, mouse aortas were incubated with 1µg/ml IL-17A for 1 hour and they observed significant impairment of Phe-induced endothelialdependent relaxation by ACh (Nguyen et al., 2013b). Giardina and colleagues studied the effect of TNF- α on pregnancy by collecting aortic vessels from pregnant and non-pregnant virgin mice. They found that when vessels were pretreated with 1000 pg/ml cytokine for 2 hours, the contractile effects of Phe were considerable in both the groups and the differences were significantly different from the non-treated group. Endothelium-dependent relaxation with ACh was also impaired due to TNF- α in both virgin and pregnant mice groups when compared with the control group, though endothelium-independent relaxation due to SNP was not significantly affected (Giardina et al., 2002). In another study, when mesenteric arteries from male Wistar rats were treated with 1 nM TNF- α for 30 minutes, significant differences in endotheliumdependent relaxation with Ach were observed after the vessels were constricted with Phe, but endothelium-independent relaxation with SNP did not show significant differences between the treated and the vehicle group (Wimalasundera et al., 2003). Similar to our findings for TNF- α treated vessels, when aortas from male Sprague-Dawley rats were treated with 100 ng/ml TNF- α for nearly 24 hours, no significant differences were observed in endotheliumdependent relaxation (Blaedel et al., 2016). Not only mouse vessels, but human arteries also show no impairment when treated with TNF- α . A research led by Gillham and colleagues studied the effect of TNF- α treatment (1 nM; 1-2 hours) on human omental arteries and found no effect on endothelium-dependent relaxation (Gillham et al., 2008).

After observing significant impairments amongst aortas treated with IL-1B, IL-6 and IFN- γ , the next step was to identify the effect of these cytokines on gene expression of molecules indicating endothelial dysfunction. IL-1B and IFN- γ were selected as they developed stronger impact on endothelial function impairment than IL-6.

In the current study both IL-1B and IFN- γ cytokines significantly reduced vascular NOX4 and eNOS gene expression in comparison to the untreated vessels. Although no-significant changes were observed, there was an upward trend in NOX1 and a downward trend of NOX2 gene expression by IL-1B. There was no significant difference observed in NOX1 and NOX2 gene expression because of IFN- γ but NOX2 gene expression demonstrated an upward trend in gene expression upon treatment. Few studies have looked at role of IL-1B on eNOS as well as NOXs gene expression. Yamagata et.al showed that treatment with IL-1B for 8 hours significantly reduced eNOS gene expression in human endothelial cells in vitro (Yamagata et al., 2012). Ellmark and colleagues studied the effect of IL-1B on the mRNA expression of NOX1 and NOX4 by stimulating endothelial cells obtained from aortas of C57BL/6 mice. They observed that IL-1B stimulated cells did not affect the NOX1 expression but reduced the NOX4 expression (Ellmark et al., 2005). Some studies demonstrated outcomes contrary to our results, though they were not based on endothelial cell stimulations. A study conducted 10 years ago found that 25 ng/ml of IL-1B increased the production of NOX1 protein when Caco-2 cells were co-cultured with the cytokine for 24 hours (Tesoriere et al., 2014). Human knee articular chondrocytes showed upregulation of iNOS gene expression upon 24-hour treatment with 10 ng/ml IL-1B (Wu et al., 2020).

Once it was established that IL-1B and IFN- γ altered the vascular function as well as reduced gene expression levels of NOX4 and eNOS, the molecular mechanisms of this interaction were further explored. In the next steps, the IFN- γ and IL15 were chosen to study their effect on eNOS and ERK phosphorylation in human aortic endothelial cells. The first cytokine exerted detrimental effects, while the second one was used as a comparator due to the lack of direct effect on endothelial function ex vivo.

For selecting the concentrations of the cytokines and time points for stimulation of cells 10 ng/ml IFN- γ was selected as it already demonstrated its effects on vasomotor and gene expression. 10 ng/ml IL-15 was selected to compare its effect on the mechanisms of action and contrast the results with its effect on vasomotor studies and gene expression The higher cytokine concentrations were added by considering previously undertaken work on IL-15 and IFN- γ stimulated endothelial cells. Estess et.al (Estess et al., 1999) stimulated human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) with 50 ng/ml IL-15 and 10 ng/ml IFN- γ for 4 hours to study the hyaluronan expression. Nilsen et.al. (Nilsen et al., 1998) used 100 ng/ml IFN- γ to study the cytokine profile of HUVEC for 2 to 24 hours. A study by Kou and Michel on murine endothelial cells observed phosphorylation of eNOS when stimulated with epinephrine for 2, 5, 15, 30 and 60 minutes (Kou and Michel, 2007).

After culturing the cells in different concentrations of IL-15 and IFN- γ for varying time points, phosphorylation of ERK and eNOS at T495 and S1177 was studied by

western blotting. In contrast to its effect on vascular function and gene expression, 10 ng/ml IFN- γ showed no significant effect on eNOS phosphorylation at T495, though there were sporadic fluctuations in phosphorylation when compared with the control group throughout the time points studied. A brief period of 10 ng/ml IL-15 treatment resulted in significantly decreased phosphorylation of ERK (P=0.0011, n=3). This result is in contrast to a previous study (Yeghiazarians et al., 2014), where they treated cardiomyocytes with 5 ng/ml of IL-15 resulted in increase of phosphorylation of ERK1/2. The disparity in results from the vasomotor studies and the cell culture studies suggested that even though IFN-y may directly affect endothelial-dependent vascular relaxation, a few nanograms of the cytokine per millilitre of culture media may not be responsible for affecting NO production through eNOS phosphorylation. Stating that the concentrations used are low would not be superlative as there is a very high variation of serum concentrations observed in untreated groups of various murine models (Cheng et al., 2019, Schloot et al., 2002, Buatois et al., 2017). Furthermore, IFN may be responsible in promoting vascular dysfunction by activating other pathways than directly affecting eNOS phosphorylation. IFN is found to be responsible for the activation of iNOS, which disturbs the NO-ROS equilibrium (Kopitar-Jerala, 2017) subsequently causing endothelial dysfunction.

As observed, IL-15 might not directly affect endothelial function, but it may function as a precursor in increasing NO concentration by downregulating eNOS phosphorylation at T495, and upregulating eNOS phosphorylation at S1177. However, in pathological conditions such as inflammation, NO production in conjunction with superoxide, or other ROS, may contribute to oxidative stress and promote vascular dysfunction (Da Luz et al., 2018).

Finally, it is important to note that the n numbers were low and not consistent throughout the phosphorylation study so a meaningful conclusion cannot be made from the observed results. Furthermore, underpowering study may lead to false positive results and further mechanistic studies are needed.

Chapter 4 Discussion

Hypertension is a main contributor to a global burden of cardiovascular diseases and is responsible for cardiovascular events like myocardial infarction, stroke, renal and other target organ damage, all subsequently leading to cardiovascular event related deaths (Mancia Chairperson et al., 2023). Many different patterns of hypertension are observed such as essential hypertension, masked hypertension, secondary hypertension, as well as hypertensive emergencies in special populations such as pre-eclampsia (Unger et al., 2020). While hypertension is quite clearly defined clinically, its clinically silent initial stages of development make it difficult for physicians to diagnose a person suffering from hypertension before complications develop and a diagnosis is usually made in the advanced stages of chronically high blood pressure. Indeed current awareness of hypertension in general population suffering from high blood pressure is as low as 40.5% (Beaney et al., 2019).

As evident from heterogeneity of clinical presentations and predominating clinical complications, hypertension pathogenesis is complex and includes number of different key changes in the kidney, vasculature, and central nervous system.

The kidneys play an essential role in the regulation of blood pressure and are extensively involved in the progression and pathogenesis of hypertension. The main function of the kidneys in hypertension is to regulate blood volume by adjusting secretion and reabsorption rates of water and sodium(Coffman and Crowley, 2008). The kidneys manage this function by various methods. They are responsible for filtering salt from the blood to manage excessive levels from dietary intake of salt (Grillo et al., 2019). They are also responsible for balancing fluid levels in the blood by maintaining sodium and water concentrations to regulate the blood volume. When the blood pressure drops, the kidneys retain more sodium and water to elevate arterial pressure and conversely release excess sodium and water in high blood pressure conditions to lower arterial pressure by decreasing blood volume (Samue et al., 2018). The kidneys also produce Renin in response to low arterial pressure, which initiates a cascade of events leading to the production of a vasoconstrictor Ang II (Coffman and Crowley, 2008). Ang II increases vascular constriction and increases arterial pressure. Ang II is responsible for the increased production of aldosterone which leads to the reabsorption of water and sodium in the kidneys and increases blood volume resulting in increased blood pressure. In an event of kidney dysfunction, impaired blood volume regulation, and dysregulated removal of electrolytes and salts may contribute to hypertension (Adamczak et al., 2002). Hence regular monitoring of kidney function is essential in individuals suffering from hypertension as kidney health is imperative in managing hypertension and vice versa.

The vasculature also plays an integral role in the development, progression, and the pathogenesis of hypertension. Blood pressure is essentially the force exerted by blood against the arterial walls as the heart pumps it through the circulatory system (Ma et al., 2023). The vasculature is responsible for maintaining the blood pressure to provide adequate blood flow to all body parts without rupturing or damaging the vessel walls. The blood vessels have the capacity to maintain their elasticity, allowing expansion and contraction at each heartbeat to regulate diastolic and pulse pressure constantly. The structure of the blood vessels can be altered by various signals from the cells of the vessels such as VSMCs, fibroblasts, adipocytes as well as endothelial cells (Martinez-Quinones et al., 2018). The vasculature also maintains vascular tone by constricting and dilating blood vessels to regulate blood pressure under low- or high-pressure levels, respectively. Vascular tone is also mediated by the endothelium. Endothelial cells produce molecules such as nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species which regulate vasodilation (Ambrosino et al., 2022). A change in the NO-ROS equilibrium results in impaired endothelium mediated vascular tone and results in increased blood pressure (Kruger-Genge et al., 2019). The blood vessels are also responsible for managing the heart rate and maintaining homeostasis by signalling the central nervous system in response to changing arterial pressure using baroreceptors and chemoreceptors (Chaudhry et al., 2023). The ability of the vascular system to manage and maintain elasticity, vascular tone among other functions is critical for maintaining arterial and blood pressure. Any dysfunction in these mechanisms can lead to increased blood pressure and can contribute to various cardiovascular issues.

The brain and central nervous system represent another key regulator blood pressure. It is responsible for secreting signalling molecules through the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system which have antagonistic functions (Kelly and Rothwell, 2020). Signalling molecules such as epinephrine and nor-epinephrine are known to modulate the vascular tone by constricting and dilating the blood vessels, altering vascular resistance and maintaining blood pressure (Floras, 1992). The brain is also responsible for influencing cardiac output and these signals are majorly controlled by the medulla oblongata in the brain (Kelly and Rothwell, 2020). In high blood pressure conditions, the regulatory mechanisms of the brain might be dysregulated leading to chronic increase in blood pressure levels.

Interestingly, the common denominator of these pathogenetic changes is linked to inflammation as each of the above mechanisms can be modulated by inflammatory mechanism and local immune/inflammatory milieu. The mainstream available treatment for the disease includes targeting the organ systems and physiological systems such as the renin angiotensin aldosterone system and the sympathetic nervous system. Over the years, the role of immune system has been widely studied in the progression and pathogenesis of hypertension (Zhang et al., 2022) and targeting the immune system to treat hypertension may be instrumental in the future supporting the development of a newer line of treatment for managing and modifying course of the disease (Wenzel et al., 2021). Inflammation induced by cytokines is suspected to have a crucial role in the development of hypertension and to understand the effects and mechanisms of inflammatory cytokines and their role in hypertension, this thesis extensive researched to identify inflammatory cytokines involved in the development of hypertension, the role and potential mechanism of action of these cytokines in endothelial dysfunction.

To identify the possible role of inflammatory cytokines in the development of hypertension, we performed a systematic search of the available literature which reported associations between cytokine levels and incidence of hypertension (crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/index.asp, identifier: CRD42022378211). After searching four databases: Embase, Medline, Web of Science and Cochrane CENTRAL, using a comprehensive search strategy, a total of 725 records were identified and upon screening for inclusion and exclusion criteria, 15 records were selected.

Out of the 15 records, 13 were identified for IL-6; 5 for TNF- α ; 4 for IL-1B; 3 for IL-8; 2 for IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-17A; and single studies were identified for the rest

of the cytokines (Table 6.1). Though pooled estimates based on quartiles could only be studied for IL-6 and IL-1B and hence only six records with seven studies were meta-analysed.

Cytokines	No of studies	Study IDs
IL-6	13	Sesso 2007, Mauno 2008, Sahakyan 2010, Cheung
		2011, Lakoski 2011, Wang 2011, Sesso 2015,
		Okello 2016, Pavuk 2019, Crouch 2020, Ghazi
		2020, Yoo 2020, Gordon 2021
TNF-α	5	Sahakyan 2010, Pavuk 2019, Crouch 2020, Yoo
		2020, Gordon 2021
IL-1B	4	Mauno 2008, Pavuk 2019, Crouch 2020, Yoo 2020
IL-8	3	Pavuk 2019, Crouch 2020, Gordon 2021
IL-2	2	Crouch 2020, Gordon 2021
IL-4	2	Crouch 2020, Gordon 2021
IL-10	2	Crouch 2020, Gordon 2021
IL-17A	2	Pavuk 2019, Crouch 2020
IL-5	1	Crouch 2020
IL-7	1	Crouch 2020
IL-12	1	Crouch 2020
IL-13	1	Crouch 2020
IL-21	1	Crouch 2020
IL-23	1	Crouch 2020
IFN-γ	1	Crouch 2020
TGF-B	1	Nakao 2017
GM-CSF	1	Crouch 2020

Table 4.1 Summary of cytokines identified in different studies throughsystematic search

When the highest and the lowest quartiles of IL-6 were compared, our analysis revealed noteworthy associations between the cytokine levels and the likelihood of developing hypertension. Initially a significant association was evident without adjusting any variables, as well as when adjustments for age and gender were incorporated. However, the significance diminished when BMI adjustments were introduced. This observation is suggestive of a potential connection between elevated IL-6 levels and increased risk of hypertension specifically linked to obesity. Although a sensitivity analysis excluding a study with HIV patients maintained a significantly higher risk association in both crude and adjusted models, lack of conclusive and substantial evidence to prove the

relationship between HIV-linked hypertension and elevated IL-6 levels needs more established efforts.

In contrast, our investigation into IL-18 levels for which only two records were available for analysis, yielded no significant impact on the prospective influence of IL-18 levels on the risk of developing hypertension. This was true for crude and multivariate models, regardless of BMI adjustments. The limited data for IL-18 emphasizes the necessity of more studies to clarify its function in hypertension development.

The current meta-analysis raises the question on the relationship between inflammation and obesity linked hypertension by demonstrating weakened association between cytokine levels and risk of hypertension development. The results of our meta-analysis act as an update and extension to a previous study which looked at the association of hsCRP, IL-6 and IL-18 levels with the risk of developing hypertension in a healthy population (Jayedi et al., 2019).

In the meta-analysis conducted by Jayedi and colleagues, they extracted and examined records from two databases for CRP, hsCRP and IL-6, with their IL-6 analysis comprising five studies with effect exposure as HR, OR, and RR. They included prospective and retrospective cohort, case- cohort or nested case-control studies in their systematic search, with adults above the age of 18 or older, and excluded cross-sectional and case-control studies along with patient population-based studies. Their findings, based on tertile classification with a fixed-effects model, indicated a 51% increase in the risk of hypertension development with elevated IL-6 levels demonstrating no heterogeneity. For IL-18 analysis, they included 3 studies from 2 records, and did not find a significant association between elevated IL-18 levels and the risk of hypertension (Jayedi et al., 2019).

In contrast, our systematic search was performed in four databases, excluded inflammatory markers such as CRP and hsCRP and included randomised control trials along with observational studies, and an extensive list of inflammatory cytokines such as interleukins, interferons, tumour necrosis factors, growth differentiation factors, etc. Our analysis, which incorporated data from seven studies for IL-6 with effect exposure as HR and RR, utilized quartile distribution and revealed a 61% increase in hypertension risk with elevated IL-6 levels, albeit with considerable heterogeneity.

Consistent with the prior meta-analysis, our results also exhibited diminished association when BMI was introduced as an adjustment in IL-6 and hypertension risk association analysis. Our analysis for IL-1B demonstrated no, similar to the previous meta-analysis. Although the study numbers were consistent, the studies included in this analysis were different from the previous meta-analysis.

Even though the meta-analysis comprehensively studied the association between inflammation and hypertension, a deeper understanding of the cytokine levels in hypertension will lead to significantly increasing the pre-existing knowledge and add substantially to the volatile relationship between inflammation, adiposity, and hypertension.

Following the establishment of the potential role of IL-6 and IL-1B in the development of hypertension, we delved into a comprehensive examination of the impact of the identified cytokines on endothelial function. Stimulation of thoracic aortas from wild-type C57BL/6 mice with identified cytokines revealed notable impairment in vasomotor responses. Specifically, vessels treated with 1 ng/ml IL-1B displayed significant impairment in endothelium-dependent relaxation mediated by ACh. In comparison to vehicle treated vessels, IL-1B treated vessels exhibited 54% less relaxation upon pre-treatment with Phe and 23.62% less relaxation upon pre-treatment with 5-HT. Similarly, vessels treated with 10 ng/ml IFN- γ were found to develop significant impairment in endothelium dependent relaxation, with 15.8% reduction in comparison to vehicle treated vessels exhibited impairment in endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation after the vessels were constricted with Phe, with cytokine treated vessels relaxing 13.28% less than vehicle treated vessels.

The effects observed in our study by IL-1B are similar to observations by a few other studies conducted in the past. While we incubated thoracic mouse aortas from C57BL/6J mice for 24 hours, some studies used Sprague Dawley rats to study the effects of IL-1B on thoracic arteries(Loughrey et al., 2003) and mesenteric arteries (Vallejo et al., 2014), while others used thoracic aortas from

C57BL/6J mice (Chook et al., 2023, Gonzalez-Carnicero et al., 2023). One study reported the use of internal mammary artery from humans (Foudi et al., 2017). While 2 of these studies incubated the vessels with IL-1B for 2 hours (Loughrey et al., 2003, Vallejo et al., 2014), the other 3 studies incubated the vessels for 18-24 hours (Chook et al., 2023, Gonzalez-Carnicero et al., 2023, Foudi et al., 2017). It is important to note that all these studies demonstrated a significant contractile impairment upon treating aortas with IL-1B even though the concentrations of the cytokine were diverse (Vallejo et al., 2014, Loughrey et al., 2003, Foudi et al., 2017, Gonzalez-Carnicero et al., 2023, Chook et al., 2023). Limited work had been done to understand the effects of IFN-y on vasomotor studies and our results are similar to a previous study published in 2021 where 50 ng/ml of the cytokine elicits a similar impairment pattern (Mikolajczyk et al., 2021). While previous studies on the vasomotor effects of IL-1B incorporated different variable cytokine levels, three studies were identified for IL-6 with the same cytokine concentration as used in our study. Two studies used coronary arterioles (Lee et al., 2017, Lee et al., 2011) whereas one study used abdominal aorta for functional assessment of the blood vessels (Suda et al., 2011). All these studies used C57BL mice as wild type models and incubated the vessels for 30 minutes with IL-6 (5 ng/ml). All three studies observed impaired relaxation in vessels treated with the cytokine when compared to vehicle treated vessels.

Following the observation of direct impact of the cytokines on endotheliumdependent vascular function, we proceeded to explore their effects on the gene expressions of NOXs and eNOS. Treatment of mouse thoracic aortas with 1 ng/ml IL-1B and 10 ng/ml IFN- γ significantly downregulated NOX4 and eNOS gene expression compared to the untreated group. However, no significant changes were observed in NOX1 and NOX2 gene expression. These results are in line with some previous studies looking at the effects of IL-1B on gene expression in murine aortas as well as aortic cells (Ellmark et al., 2005, Yamagata et al., 2012).

NOXs are an enzyme family playing a significant role in hypertension development and progression. They are known to be the primary source of ROS in blood vessels (Rodrigo et al., 2011). These enzymes produce superoxide and other ROS, overproduction of which leads to oxidative stress, leading to an imbalance between ROS production and elimination (Montezano and Touyz, 2012b). Oxidative stress can damage blood vessels, impair endothelial function and vascular tone contributing to elevated arterial pressure and subsequently increased blood pressure. NOXs and ROS contribute to vascular remodelling leading to vascular resistance, subsequently causing hypertension (Garcia-Redondo et al., 2016).

The role of NOXs and H₂O₂ in atherosclerosis has also been researched over the years. A study on atherosclerosis by Ketonen and colleagues demonstrated that high sodium intake combined with a high fat diet induced endothelial dysfunction via elevated superoxide anion production in LDL receptor deficient mice and reduced production of ROS was observed when the researchers inhibited NOXs using apocynin, (Ketonen and Mervaala, 2008). Another study researching the effects of aerobic training on endothelial function in LDL receptor deficient mice found that impaired endothelial function was fully reversed by increasing H_2O_2 production and NO bioavailability in treatment groups (Guizoni et al., 2016). A study published in 2011 looked at the role of H_2O_2 in endothelial function and NOX4 during laminar sheer stress subsequently found that the sheer stress elevated hydrogen peroxide levels leading to the stimulation of eNOS and elevated NO production. Excessive ROS in blood can cause various inflammatory pathways to be activated leading to an increased production of inflammatory cytokines, increased SNS activity, altered renal function and increased fluid retention due to overactive RAAS (Manuela et al., 2017). Their role in ROS production in the vasculature makes NOXs potentially promising target for hypertension management.

The next steps, after establishing that inflammatory cytokines which affect vasomotor function by directly acting on endothelium also regulate gene expressions of NOXs and eNOS, were to identify mechanisms by which these signals were relayed. HAoECs were stimulated for varying time points with varying IFN- γ and IL-15 concentrations to study their effects on phosphorylation of eNOS at two phosphorylation sites along with the phosphorylation of ERK. Even though IFN- γ showed significant effects on vasomotor function and gene expression, 10 ng/ml IFN- γ did not show any significant changes in phosphorylating eNOS at T495, whereas it demonstrated a significant difference at S1177 after 30 minutes of stimulation. ERK was also phosphorylated and the

difference between the stimulated and unstimulated cells were significant after a short 15-minute treatment with 100 ng/ml IFN-γ.

While IL-15 showed no effect on endothelium dependent and independent vasomotor function, 10 ng/ml IL-15 demonstrated significantly decreased eNOS phosphorylation at T495 and significantly increased eNOS phosphorylation at S1177 after 4 hours of stimulation. After 24 hours stimulation, eNOS phosphorylation at S1177 was significantly downregulated with 10 ng/ml IL-15 whereas ERK phosphorylation was only significantly downregulated with 10 ng/ml IL-15 whereas ERK phosphorylation was only significantly downregulated with 10 ng/ml IL-15 after a short 30 min stimulation. Higher concentrations of IFN-γ have found to have detrimental effects on endothelial cells and may lead to the activation of iNOS which causes an imbalance in the NO and ROS equilibrium and may possibly lead to decreased NO availability to maintain vascular functions (Kopitar-Jerala, 2017, Javanmard and Dana, 2012).

IL-1B is a pro-inflammatory cytokine belonging to the IL-1 superfamily and is primarily produced by the innate immune cells such as monocytes and macrophages (Dinarello, 2018). It is produced as a precursor molecule which activates upon interaction with foreign bodies acting as infections (Werman et al., 2004). While the relationship between the cytokine and hypertension remains an area of research, emerging evidence suggests its potential involvement in the progression and pathogenesis of hypertension and associations with blood pressure levels (Mauno et al., 2008, Dalekos et al., 1997, Crouch et al., 2020a). However, the findings are not entirely consistent with the hypothesis that IL-1B might be associated with the risk of developing hypertension (Wang et al., 2011). IL-1B can impair endothelial function by interfering with the production of vasodilators such as NO and vasoconstrictors such as ET-1. A study conducted to test the effects of NO and ET-1 on hypo- and hypertensive patients undergoing dialysis suggests that these molecules alter vascular tone by interfering with vasoconstriction and dilation (Erkan et al., 2002). IL-1B also causes remodelling leading to increased vascular resistance in diverse kinds of hypertension (Melton and Qiu, 2021). Our study focuses on identifying the relationship between endothelial dysfunction and IL-1B, and successfully identifies the effects on endothelium dependent relaxation along with NOX4 and eNOS gene expression regulation. While the relationship between IL-1B and hypertension is an active area of research, it is increasingly recognized that IL-1B may play a role in hypertension, not only in the context of blood pressure regulation (Rothman et al., 2020) but also in terms of its influence on endothelial function in various disease states such as autoinflammatory diseases, metabolic syndrome, and cancer (Kaneko et al., 2019). Hence, research identifying mechanisms of IL-1B and its role in hypertension is ongoing, and a better understanding of these mechanisms may lead more targeted therapeutic interventions for hypertension associated with IL-1B.

IFN- γ is a soluble monomeric cytokine known for its anti-tumour and inflammatory properties (Jorgovanovic et al., 2020). It is produced by immune cells such as NK cells, Th1 cells, and cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and IFN-γ production is stimulated by increased levels of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1B, IL-12 and IL-18 (Griffin, 2008). The role of IFN- γ in hypertension is a complex area of study and IFN-y has been the subject of investigation regarding its potential role in the pathogenesis of hypertension. Some studies have found higher levels of the cytokine in hypertensive patients and its associations with high blood pressure levels in murine models (Ji et al., 2017, Kamat et al., 2015). The mechanism of action of the cytokine in the progression of the disease remains under study but its role in endothelium function has been demonstrated in the current study. Our results suggest that even though IFN- γ was not found to alter eNOS activation by phosphorylating the molecule at two sites, the cytokine altered endothelium dependent vascular function by significantly interfering with contractile functions of the vasculature. IFN-y has been implicated in endothelial function and is known to impair vasomotor functions, and alter vascular permeability (Ng et al., 2018). The cytokine may cause an imbalance in ROS production and subsequently damage blood vessels. IFN-y might also cause dysregulation of RAAS and alter kidney function, over-activate SNS leading to increased heart rate and elevated blood pressure. The cytokine may also contribute to vascular remodelling resulting in increased vascular resistance. The interplay between IFN-y and hypertension remains a dynamic area of investigation requiring further explorations to fully understand its mechanisms and implications.

IL-6 plays a significant role in the mechanisms contributing to the pathogenesis and progression of hypertension. While precise pathways through which this pleotropic myokine exerts its influence on hypertension are still a subject of ongoing explorations, several key avenues have been already identified. One prominent effect is the impairment of endothelial function. IL-6 has been found to mediate vascular constriction by acting on VSMCs and increase ROS in both invitro and in-vivo murine models leading to endothelial dysfunction (Wassmann et al., 2004) and thereby exacerbating hypertension development. The cytokine may also alter RAAS function and has been found to play a role in Ang II mediated hypertension in animal models (Maranduca et al., 2020) as well as humans (Chamarthi et al., 2011), thereby influencing blood volume and contributing to elevated pressure. The influence of epigenetic factors such as hypomethylation of IL-6 adds another layer to its role in predisposing individuals to the risk of hypertension (Mao et al., 2017b). Underlying health conditions like metabolic disorders have been identified as factors that elevate IL-6 levels, potentially aggravate hypertension (Mohammadi et al., 2017). The present study contributes to the understanding of IL-6 in endothelial dysfunction by revealing its impact on vasorelaxation, further research is imperative to comprehensively elucidate the intricate mechanisms and clinical implications of IL-6 in its relationship with hypertension.

Strengths and Limitations

This thesis has various strengths and weaknesses. We began our thesis by questioning the relationship between inflammatory cytokines and the incidence of hypertension in humans. First strength of this thesis is that our study comprises of a comprehensive list of keywords to effectively look for associations between cytokines and hypertension.

Secondly, the meta-analysis highlights the importance of confounding factors such as BMI which weaken the positive association between IL-6 and the incidence of hypertension. The weakened association links inflammation and adiposity with the risk of hypertension development.

Third strength of this thesis is that the experimental data is consistent with the results from systematic review and meta-analysis. This shows that even though cytokine levels are not a part of regular testing and a means of identifying the progression of hypertension, it could prove to be instrumental in early diagnosis
of the disease with further research connecting the link between serum cytokine levels and elevated blood pressure.

Apart from the strengths, this thesis also has some limitations. Even though our systematic review updates the existing association between IL-6 and incident hypertension, limited records for IL-1B leaves the question of whether increasing levels of this cytokine have an association with incidence of hypertension. In general, robust large-scale data on cytokine levels in hypertension is lacking and studies are extremely focused, with different sets of cytokines studies using different methods making integration of these data difficult.

Secondly, even though we demonstrate that IL-1B has significant effects and is detrimental to vascular function at the endothelium level and regulates gene expression, its mechanism of action was not clear from our mechanistic vascular biology studies. Hence, further investigations are imperative to discover and unravel the precise pathways and molecular interactions through which IL-1B exerts its effect on the endothelium.

Third limitation that this thesis presents is the limited sample size from cell culture experiments which, if substantiated, could result in concrete evidence supporting the trends of vasomotor activity and gene regulation by inflammatory cytokines. Further studies need to focus on a comprehensive assessment of a broad range of cytokines in hypertension as there is an urgent need to establish an immune signature of hypertension in humans given the effects of a broad range of cytokines in animal models of hypertension (Maranduca et al., 2020, Segiet et al., 2019).

While this thesis has established a connection between inflammatory cytokines and its effect on endothelium dependent vascular function, further exploration is essential to strengthen the claims of this thesis. Future experimentation should include quantifying the effects of identified cytokines on NO, ROS, and NOXs at cellular and organ level as well as identifying the mechanisms of action of IL-1B on signalling molecules such JAK/STAT, ERK, p-38 and eNOS, and increasing replicates for IFN- γ . To fortify the results from the systematic review, there is a need to design a clinical study that quantifies baseline and follow-up serum levels of inflammatory cytokines in diverse study groups, including healthy normotensive individuals, hypertensive patients receiving treatment and hypertensive patients previously on medication, stopping their medication for the follow-up period. Although a recently published study did not find any differences in cytokine levels between normotensive and hypertensive subjects (Dzieża-Grudnik et al., 2023), previously conducted studies looking at serum levels of inflammatory cytokines have successfully established a link between increased cytokine levels and hypertension (Stumpf et al., 2005).

The success of the CANTOS trial is proof that immune mechanisms need to be the new focus of research to identify links between the immune system and diseases leading to higher risk cardiovascular events (Ridker et al., 2017b). Although the secondary analysis did not yield any significant associations between blood pressure or incidence of hypertension with the benefits of canakinumab in atherosclerosis (Rothman et al., 2020), the results of the trial have opened up a new prospect of using anti-inflammatory drugs to target the immune function to manage and treat cardiovascular diseases.

In summary, evidence presented in this thesis in line with data in the literature provide clear view of possible role of selected cytokines in potential development of hypertension with IL-6 and IL-1β being cytokines with most available evidence while we urgently need to better understand the role of other cytokines implicated in hypertension such as IL-17, IFN-γ and others.

Chapter 5 Conclusions

Hypertension is now widely identified as a disorder acting as a precursor to cardiovascular diseases and kidney disorders which subsequently lead to death and even though there are treatments available, hypertension at large remains an uncurable disease. Due to rising incidences of the disease because of lifestyle, genetics, and environmental factors, newer lines of treatment are a necessity to manage, maintain and potentially cure the issue of chronically high blood pressure.

In conclusion, this PhD thesis has undertaken a comprehensive investigation into the role of inflammatory cytokines in hypertension, with a particular focus on their potential mechanisms of action in the development of the disease. The key findings and conclusions are summarized as follows:

- Through a systematic review of the literature, the thesis identified several inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-1B, TNF-α, IL-17a, and IFN-γ, as potential contributors to the incidence of hypertension. Systematic search has however shown that sufficient quantitative evidence is only available in relation to IL-6 and to a lesser extent IL-1B.
- A significant positive association exists between IL-6 levels and the risk of developing hypertension, although this association weakened when adjusted for BMI, suggesting a link between inflammation and adiposityrelated hypertension.
- In animal tissue studies, IL-1B, IFN-γ, and IL-6 were found to significantly impair endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation in mouse aortas. These results suggest a direct connection between inflammatory cytokines and endothelial dysfunction.
- 4. IL-1B and IFN- γ were shown to reduce the gene expression of NOX4 and eNOS in treated vessels, indicating potential mechanisms through which these cytokines may impact vascular function.

While the thesis provides valuable insights into the direct effects of inflammatory cytokines on endothelial function, it suggests that further research is needed to fully understand the underlying mechanisms and their significance in the patho-mechanisms of hypertension. Some discrepancies in outcomes were observed compared to previous studies, highlighting the complexity of cytokine interactions in the context of endothelial function. These variations may be attributed to different experimental conditions and concentrations of cytokines.

In summary, the studies described in this thesis contribute to our understanding of the role of inflammatory cytokines in hypertension and their potential impact on endothelial dysfunction. The findings highlight the need for continued research to elucidate the intricate mechanisms involved and their implications for the development and treatment of hypertension.

List of References

- 2022. Hypertension (Oxford Cardiology Library) 3E, Oxford University Press.
- ABDELRAHMAN, A. M., AL SULEIMANI, Y. M., ASHIQUE, M., MANOJ, P. & ALI, B. H. 2018. Effect of infliximab and tocilizumab on fructoseinduced hyperinsulinemia and hypertension in rats. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 105, 182-186.
- ADAMCZAK, M., ZEIER, M., DIKOW, R. & RITZ, E. 2002. Kidney and hypertension. *Kidney Int Suppl*, 62-7.
- AGGARWAL, R., CHIU, N., WADHERA, R. K., MORAN, A. E., RABER, I., SHEN, C., YEH, R. W. & KAZI, D. S. 2021. Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Hypertension Prevalence, Awareness, Treatment, and Control in the United States, 2013 to 2018. *Hypertension*, 78, 1719-1726.
- AL KIBRIA, G. M. 2019. Racial/ethnic disparities in prevalence, treatment, and control of hypertension among US adults following application of the 2017 American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association guideline. *Prev Med Rep*, 14, 100850.
- ALBANDAR, J. M., DENARDIN, A. M., ADESANYA, M. R., WINN, D. M. & DIEHL, S. R. 2002. Associations of serum concentrations of IgG, IgA, IgM and interleukin-1beta with early-onset periodontitis classification and race. *J Clin Periodontol*, 29, 421-6.
- ALEXANDER, Y., OSTO, E., SCHMIDT-TRUCKSASS, A., SHECHTER, M., TRIFUNOVIC, D., DUNCKER, D. J., ABOYANS, V., BACK, M., BADIMON, L., COSENTINO, F., DE CARLO, M., DOROBANTU, M., HARRISON, D. G., GUZIK, T. J., HOEFER, I., MORRIS, P. D., NORATA, G. D., SUADES, R., TADDEI, S., VILAHUR, G., WALTENBERGER, J., WEBER, C., WILKINSON, F., BOCHATON-PIALLAT, M. L. & EVANS, P. C. 2021. Endothelial function in cardiovascular medicine: a consensus paper of the European Society of Cardiology Working Groups on Atherosclerosis and Vascular Biology, Aorta and Peripheral Vascular Diseases, Coronary Pathophysiology and Microcirculation, and Thrombosis. *Cardiovasc Res*, 117, 29-42.
- ALLISON, M. A., IX, J. H., MORGAN, C., MCCLELLAND, R. L., RIFKIN, D., SHIMBO, D. & CRIQUI, M. H. 2013. Higher leptin is associated with hypertension: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 27, 617-622.
- AMBROSINO, P., BACHETTI, T., D'ANNA, S. E., GALLOWAY, B.,
 BIANCO, A., D'AGNANO, V., PAPA, A., MOTTA, A., PERROTTA, F.
 & MANISCALCO, M. 2022. Mechanisms and Clinical Implications of Endothelial Dysfunction in Arterial Hypertension. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis, 9.

ANDERSON, A. H., YANG, W., TOWNSEND, R. R., PAN, Q., CHERTOW, G. M., KUSEK, J. W., CHARLESTON, J., HE, J., KALLEM, R., LASH, J. P., MILLER, E. R., 3RD, RAHMAN, M., STEIGERWALT, S., WEIR, M., WRIGHT, J. T., JR., FELDMAN, H. I. & CHRONIC RENAL INSUFFICIENCY COHORT STUDY, I. 2015. Time-updated systolic blood pressure and the progression of chronic kidney disease: a cohort study. *Ann Intern Med*, 162, 258-65.

- ASADIKARAM, G., RAM, M., IZADI, A., SHEIKH FATHOLLAHI, M., NEMATOLLAHI, M. H., NAJAFIPOUR, H., SHAHOOZEHI, B., MIRHOSEINI, M., MASOUMI, M., SHAHROKHI, N. & ARABABADI, M. K. 2019. The study of the serum level of IL-4, TGF-beta, IFNgamma, and IL-6 in overweight patients with and without diabetes mellitus and hypertension. *J Cell Biochem*, 120, 4147-4157.
- BALKWILL, F. 2006. TNF-alpha in promotion and progression of cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev,* 25, 409-16.
- BAO, X. J., MAO, S. Q., GU, T. L., ZHENG, S. Y., ZHAO, J. S. & ZHANG, L.
 N. 2018. Hypomethylation of the Interferon gamma Gene as a Potential Risk Factor for Essential Hypertension: A Case-Control Study. *Tohoku J Exp Med*, 244, 283-290.
- BARTON, B. E. 1996. The biological effects of interleukin 6. *Med Res Rev,* 16, 87-109.
- BATAVIA, A. S., SEVERE, P., LEE, M. H., APOLLON, A., ZHU, Y. S., DUPNIK, K. M., MCNAIRY, M. L., PAPE, J. W., FITZGERALD, D. W. & PECK, R. N. 2018. Blood pressure and mortality in a prospective cohort of HIV-infected adults in Port-au-Prince, Haiti. *J Hypertens*, 36, 1533-1539.
- BAUTISTA, L. E., VERA, L. M., ARENAS, I. A. & GAMARRA, G. 2005a. Independent association between inflammatory markers (C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, and TNF-alpha) and essential hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens*, 19, 149-54.
- BAUTISTA, L. E., VERA, L. M., ARENAS, I. A. & GAMARRA, G. 2005b. Independent association between inflammatory markers (C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, and TNF-α) and essential hypertension. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 19, 149-154.
- BEANEY, T., BURRELL, L. M., CASTILLO, R. R., CHARCHAR, F. J., CRO, S., DAMASCENO, A., KRUGER, R., NILSSON, P. M., PRABHAKARAN, D., RAMIREZ, A. J., SCHLAICH, M. P., SCHUTTE, A. E., TOMASZEWSKI, M., TOUYZ, R., WANG, J.-G., WEBER, M. A., POULTER, N. R. & INVESTIGATORS, T. M. 2019. May Measurement Month 2018: a pragmatic global screening campaign to raise awareness of blood pressure by the International Society of Hypertension. *European Heart Journal*, 40, 2006-2017.

- BENETOS, A., PETROVIC, M. & STRANDBERG, T. 2019. Hypertension management in older and frail older patients. *Circulation Research*, 124, 1045-1060.
- BERGANDI, L., GIUGGIA, B., ALOVISI, M., COMBA, A., SILVAGNO, F., MAULE, M., ALDIERI, E., SCOTTI, N., SCACCIATELLA, P., CONROTTO, F., BERUTTI, E. & PASQUALINI, D. 2019. Endothelial Dysfunction Marker Variation in Young Adults with Chronic Apical Periodontitis before and after Endodontic Treatment. *Journal of Endodontics*, 45, 500-506.
- BERTERO, E., DUDEK, J., COCHAIN, C., DELGOBO, M., RAMOS, G., GERULL, B., HIGUCHI, T., VAETH, M., ZERNECKE, A., FRANTZ, S., HOFMANN, U. & MAACK, C. 2022. Immuno-metabolic interfaces in cardiac disease and failure. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 37-52.
- BILLIAU, A. & MATTHYS, P. 2009. Interferon-γ: A historical perspective. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*, 20, 97-113.
- BLAEDEL, M., SAMS, A., BOONEN, H. C. & SHEYKHZADE, M. 2016. Increased Contractile Response to Noradrenaline Induced By Factors Associated with the Metabolic Syndrome in Cultured Small Mesenteric Arteries. *Pharmacology*, 97, 48-56.
- BOTHA, S., FOURIE, C. M. T., SCHUTTE, R., EUGEN-OLSEN, J., PRETORIUS, R. & SCHUTTE, A. E. 2015. Soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor as a prognostic marker of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in a black population. *Int J Cardiol,* 184, 631-636.
- BOULANGER, C. M. 2016. Endothelium. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 36, e26-e31.
- BRADLEY, J. 2008. TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. The Journal of Pathology: A Journal of the Pathological Society of Great Britain and Ireland, 214, 149-160.
- BRANDES, R. P. 2014. Endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. *Hypertension*, 64, 924-8.
- BRANDS, M. W., BANES-BERCELI, A. K. L., INSCHO, E. W., AL-AZAWI, H., ALLEN, A. J. & LABAZI, H. 2010. Interleukin 6 Knockout Prevents Angiotensin II Hypertension. *Hypertension*, 56, 879-884.
- BRENNAN, P. J., BRIGL, M. & BRENNER, M. B. 2013. Invariant natural killer T cells: an innate activation scheme linked to diverse effector functions. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 13, 101-117.
- BUATOIS, V., CHATEL, L., CONS, L., LORY, S., RICHARD, F., GUILHOT, F., JOHNSON, Z., BRACAGLIA, C., DE BENEDETTI, F., DE MIN, C., KOSCO-VILBOIS, M. H. & FERLIN, W. G. 2017. Use of a mouse model to identify a blood biomarker for IFNgamma activity in pediatric secondary hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis. *Transl Res*, 180, 37-52 e2.

- BULLENKAMP, J., MENGONI, V., KAUR, S., CHHETRI, I., DIMOU, P., ASTROULAKIS, Z. M. J., KASKI, J. C. & DUMITRIU, I. E. 2021. Interleukin-7 and interleukin-15 drive CD4+CD28null T lymphocyte expansion and function in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Cardiovasc Res*, 117, 1935-1948.
- BUNDY, J. D., LI, C., STUCHLIK, P., BU, X., KELLY, T. N., MILLS, K. T., HE, H., CHEN, J., WHELTON, P. K. & HE, J. 2017. Systolic Blood Pressure Reduction and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Mortality: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiol, 2, 775-781.
- BUNDY, J. D., MILLS, K. T., CHEN, J., LI, C., GREENLAND, P. & HE, J. 2018. Estimating the Association of the 2017 and 2014 Hypertension Guidelines With Cardiovascular Events and Deaths in US Adults: An Analysis of National Data. *JAMA Cardiol*, 3, 572-581.
- BURRELL, C. J., HOWARD, C. R. & MURPHY, F. A. 2016. *Fenner and White's medical virology*, Academic Press.
- BURTON, J. D., BAMFORD, R. N., PETERS, C., GRANT, A. J., KURYS, G., GOLDMAN, C. K., BRENNAN, J., ROESSLER, E. & WALDMANN, T. A. 1994. A lymphokine, provisionally designated interleukin T and produced by a human adult T-cell leukemia line, stimulates T-cell proliferation and the induction of lymphokine-activated killer cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91, 4935-4939.
- CAIAZZO, E., REZIG, A. O. M., BRUZZESE, D., IALENTI, A., CICALA, C., CLELAND, J. G. F., GUZIK, T. J., MAFFIA, P. & PELLICORI, P. 2022. Systemic administration of glucocorticoids, cardiovascular complications and mortality in patients hospitalised with COVID-19, SARS, MERS or influenza: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. *Pharmacol Res*, 176, 106053.
- CAMARGO, L. L., MONTEZANO, A. C., HUSSAIN, M., WANG, Y., ZOU, Z., RIOS, F. J., NEVES, K. B., ALVES-LOPES, R., AWAN, F. R., GUZIK, T. J., JENSEN, T., HARTLEY, R. C. & TOUYZ, R. M. 2022. Central role of c-Src in NOX5- mediated redox signalling in vascular smooth muscle cells in human hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 1359-1373.
- CARSWELL, E., OLD, L. J., KASSEL, R., GREEN, S., FIORE, N. & WILLIAMSON, B. 1975. An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 72, 3666-3670.
- CHAE, C. U., LEE, R. T., RIFAI, N. & RIDKER, P. M. 2001. Blood pressure and inflammation in apparently healthy men. *Hypertension*, 38, 399-403.
- CHAMARTHI, B., WILLIAMS, G. H., RICCHIUTI, V., SRIKUMAR, N., HOPKINS, P. N., LUTHER, J. M., JEUNEMAITRE, X. & THOMAS, A.

2011. Inflammation and hypertension: the interplay of interleukin-6, dietary sodium, and the renin-angiotensin system in humans. *Am J Hypertens*, 24, 1143-8.

- CHAUDHRY, R., MIAO, J. & REHMAN, A. 2023. Physiology, cardiovascular. *StatPearls [internet]*.
- CHEEMA, K. M., DICKS, E., PEARSON, J. & SAMANI, N. J. 2022. Longterm trends in the epidemiology of cardiovascular diseases in the UK: insights from the British Heart Foundation statistical compendium. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 2267-2280.
- CHEN, C.-A., DRUHAN, L. J., VARADHARAJ, S., CHEN, Y.-R. & ZWEIER, J. L. 2008. Phosphorylation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase regulates superoxide generation from the enzyme. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 27038-27047.
- CHEN, Y., REHAL, S., ROIZES, S., ZHU, H. L., COLE, W. C. & VON DER WEID, P. Y. 2017. The pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF-α inhibits lymphatic pumping via activation of the NF-κB-iNOS signaling pathway. *Microcirculation*, 24, e12364.
- CHENG, D., TALIB, J., STANLEY, C. P., RASHID, I., MICHAËLSSON, E., LINDSTEDT, E.-L., CROFT, K. D., KETTLE, A. J., MAGHZAL, G. J. & STOCKER, R. 2019. Inhibition of MPO (myeloperoxidase) attenuates endothelial dysfunction in mouse models of vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology,* 39, 1448-1457.
- CHEUNG, B. M., ONG, K. L., TSO, A. W., LEUNG, R. Y., CHERNY, S. S., SHAM, P. C., THOMAS, G. N., LAM, T. H., LAM, K. S. & INVESTIGATORS OF THE HONG KONG CARDIOVASCULAR RISK FACTOR PREVALENCE, S. 2011a. Relationship of plasma interleukin-6 and its genetic variants with hypertension in Hong Kong Chinese. Am J Hypertens, 24, 1331-7.
- CHEUNG, B. M. Y., ONG, K. L., TSO, A. W. K., LEUNG, R. Y. H., CHERNY, S. S., SHAM, P. C., THOMAS, G. N., LAM, T. H., LAM, K. S. L. & STUDY, O. B. O. T. I. O. T. H. K. C. R. F. P. 2011b. Relationship of Plasma Interleukin-6 and Its Genetic Variants With Hypertension in Hong Kong Chinese. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 24, 1331-1337.
- CHIA, S., QADAN, M., NEWTON, R., LUDLAM, C. A., FOX, K. A. A. & NEWBY, D. E. 2003. Intra-Arterial Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Impairs Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilatation and Stimulates Local Tissue Plasminogen Activator Release in Humans. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23, 695-701.
- CHIASSON, V. L., BOUNDS, K. R., CHATTERJEE, P., MANANDHAR, L., PAKANATI, A. R., HERNANDEZ, M., AZIZ, B. & MITCHELL, B. M. 2018. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells ameliorate cyclosporine A– induced hypertension in mice. *Hypertension*, 71, 199-207.

- CHOI, S., PARK, M., KIM, J., PARK, W., KIM, S., LEE, D.-K., HWANG, J. Y., CHOE, J., WON, M.-H. & RYOO, S. 2018. TNF-α elicits phenotypic and functional alterations of vascular smooth muscle cells by miR-155-5p–dependent down-regulation of cGMP-dependent kinase 1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 293, 14812-14822.
- CHOOK, C. Y. B., CHEUNG, Y. M., MA, K. Y., LEUNG, F. P., ZHU, H., NIU, Q. J., WONG, W. T. & CHEN, Z. Y. 2023. Physiological concentration of protocatechuic acid directly protects vascular endothelial function against inflammation in diabetes through Akt/eNOS pathway. *Front Nutr*, 10, 1060226.
- CHOW, C. K., TEO, K. K., RANGARAJAN, S., ISLAM, S., GUPTA, R., AVEZUM, A., BAHONAR, A., CHIFAMBA, J., DAGENAIS, G., DIAZ, R., KAZMI, K., LANAS, F., WEI, L., LOPEZ-JARAMILLO, P., FANGHONG, L., ISMAIL, N. H., PUOANE, T., ROSENGREN, A., SZUBA, A., TEMIZHAN, A., WIELGOSZ, A., YUSUF, R., YUSUFALI, A., MCKEE, M., LIU, L., MONY, P., YUSUF, S. & INVESTIGATORS, P. S. 2013. Prevalence, awareness, treatment, and control of hypertension in rural and urban communities in high-, middle-, and low-income countries. *JAMA*, 310, 959-68.
- COFFMAN, T. M. & CROWLEY, S. D. 2008. Kidney in hypertension: guyton redux. *Hypertension*, 51, 811-6.
- COLLABORATION, N. C. D. R. F. 2017. Worldwide trends in blood pressure from 1975 to 2015: a pooled analysis of 1479 population-based measurement studies with 19.1 million participants. *Lancet*, 389, 37-55.
- CORNELIUS, D. C., WALLACE, K., KIPRONO, L., DHILLON, P., MOSELEY, J. & LAMARCA, B. 2013. Endothelin-1 is not a Mechanism of IL-17 Induced Hypertension during Pregnancy. *Med J Obstet Gynecol,* 1.
- CORTHAY, A. 2009. How do regulatory T cells work? *Scandinavian journal of immunology*, 70, 326-336.
- CRAIGE, S. M., CHEN, K., PEI, Y., LI, C., HUANG, X., CHEN, C.,
 SHIBATA, R., SATO, K., WALSH, K. & KEANEY JR, J. F. 2011.
 NADPH oxidase 4 promotes endothelial angiogenesis through endothelial nitric oxide synthase activation. *Circulation*, 124, 731-740.
- CRONSTEIN, B. N. 2007. Interleukin-6. *Bulletin of the NYU hospital for joint diseases*, 65, 11-5.
- CROSSWHITE, P. & SUN, Z. 2010. Ribonucleic acid interference knockdown of interleukin 6 attenuates cold-induced hypertension. *Hypertension*, 55, 1484-91.
- CROUCH, S. H., BOTHA-LE ROUX, S., DELLES, C., GRAHAM, L. A. & SCHUTTE, A. E. 2020a. Inflammation and hypertension development: A longitudinal analysis of the African-PREDICT study. *Int J Cardiol Hypertens*, 7, 100067.

- CROUCH, S. H., ROUX, S. B., DELLES, C., GRAHAM, L. A. & SCHUTTE, A. E. 2020b. Distinct inflammatory mediator patterns in young black and white adults: The African-predict study. *Cytokine*, 126, 154894.
- DA LUZ, P. L., LIBBY, P., LAURINDO, F. R. M. & CHAGAS, A. C. P. 2018. Endothelium and cardiovascular diseases: Vascular biology and clinical syndromes, Academic Press.
- DALEKOS, G. N., ELISAF, M., BAIRAKTARI, E., TSOLAS, O. & SIAMOPOULOS, K. C. 1997. Increased serum levels of interleukin-1beta in the systemic circulation of patients with essential hypertension: additional risk factor for atherogenesis in hypertensive patients? *J Lab Clin Med*, 129, 300-8.
- DAVIS, J. R., GIARDINA, J. B., GREEN, G. M., ALEXANDER, B. T., GRANGER, J. P. & KHALIL, R. A. 2002. Reduced endothelial NOcGMP vascular relaxation pathway during TNF-alpha-induced hypertension in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 282, R390-9.
- DEERE, B. P. & FERDINAND, K. C. 2020. Hypertension and race/ethnicity. *Current opinion in cardiology*, 35, 342-350.
- DELALIO, L. J., SVED, A. F. & STOCKER, S. D. 2020. Sympathetic Nervous System Contributions to Hypertension: Updates and Therapeutic Relevance. *Can J Cardiol*, 36, 712-720.
- DELANEY, J. A. C., OLSON, N. C., SITLANI, C. M., FOHNER, A. E., HUBER, S. A., LANDAY, A. L., HECKBERT, S. R., TRACY, R. P., PSATY, B. M., FEINSTEIN, M. & DOYLE, M. F. 2021. Natural killer cells, gamma delta T cells and classical monocytes are associated with systolic blood pressure in the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 21, 45.
- DINARELLO, C. A. 2018. Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity. *Immunol Rev*, 281, 8-27.
- DORRANCE, A. M. 2007. Interleukin 1-beta (IL-1β) enhances contractile responses in endothelium-denuded aorta from hypertensive, but not normotensive, rats. *Vascular pharmacology*, 47, 160-165.
- DRUMMOND, G. R. & SOBEY, C. G. 2014. Endothelial NADPH oxidases: which NOX to target in vascular disease? *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 25, 452-63.
- DRUMMOND, G. R., VINH, A., GUZIK, T. J. & SOBEY, C. G. 2019. Immune mechanisms of hypertension. *Nat Rev Immunol,* 19, 517-532.
- DZIEŻA-GRUDNIK, A., SIGA, O., WALCZEWSKA, J., WIZNER, B., MIKOŁAJCZYK, T. P., SULICKA-GRODZICKA, J. & GRODZICKI, T. 2023. New-onset hypertension is not associated with systemic changes in inflammatory cytokine levels. *Archives of Medical Science*.
- ELLMARK, S. H., DUSTING, G. J., NG TANG FUI, M., GUZZO-PERNELL, N. & DRUMMOND, G. R. 2005. The contribution of Nox4 to NADPH

oxidase activity in mouse vascular smooth muscle. *Cardiovascular research*, 65, 495-504.

- ELMARAKBY, A. A., QUIGLEY, J. E., IMIG, J. D., POLLOCK, J. S. & POLLOCK, D. M. 2008. TNF-alpha inhibition reduces renal injury in DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 294, R76-83.
- EMMERSON, A., TREVELIN, S. C., MONGUE-DIN, H., BECKER, P. D., ORTIZ, C., SMYTH, L. A., PENG, Q., ELGUETA, R., SAWYER, G. & IVETIC, A. 2018. Nox2 in regulatory T cells promotes angiotensin II– induced cardiovascular remodeling. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 128, 3088-3101.
- ERKAN, E., DEVARAJAN, P. & KASKEL, F. 2002. Role of nitric oxide, endothelin-1, and inflammatory cytokines in blood pressure regulation in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 40, 76-81.
- ESTESS, P., NANDI, A., MOHAMADZADEH, M. & SIEGELMAN, M. H. 1999. Interleukin 15 induces endothelial hyaluronan expression in vitro and promotes activated T cell extravasation through a CD44dependent pathway in vivo. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 190, 9-20.
- ESTEVE, E., CASTRO, A., LÓPEZ-BERMEJO, A., VENDRELL, J., RICART, W. & FERNÁNDEZ-REAL, J.-M. 2007. Serum Interleukin-6 Correlates With Endothelial Dysfunction in Healthy Men Independently of Insulin Sensitivity. *Diabetes Care*, 30, 939-945.
- ESUNGE, P. M. 1991. From blood pressure to hypertension: the history of research. *J R Soc Med*, 84, 621.
- EVANS, P. C., DAVIDSON, S. M., WOJTA, J., BACK, M., BOLLINI, S., BRITTAN, M., CATAPANO, A. L., CHAUDHRY, B., CLUITMANS, M., GNECCHI, M., GUZIK, T. J., HOEFER, I., MADONNA, R., MONTEIRO, J. P., MORAWIETZ, H., OSTO, E., PADRO, T., SLUIMER, J. C., TOCCHETTI, C. G., VAN DER HEIDEN, K., VILAHUR, G., WALTENBERGER, J. & WEBER, C. 2022. From novel discovery tools and biomarkers to precision medicine-basic cardiovascular science highlights of 2021/22. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 2754-2767.
- FAHME, S. A., BLOOMFIELD, G. S. & PECK, R. 2018. Hypertension in HIV-Infected Adults: Novel Pathophysiologic Mechanisms. *Hypertension*, 72, 44-55.
- FALVO, J. V., TSYTSYKOVA, A. V. & GOLDFELD, A. E. 2010. Transcriptional control of the TNF gene. *TNF Pathophysiology*, 11, 27-60.
- FARIA, A. P., RITTER, A. M. V., SANTA-CATHARINA, A., SOUZA, D. P., NASERI, E. P., BERTOLO, M. B., PIOLI, M. R., CARVALHO, C. C., MODOLO, R. & MORENO, H. 2021. Effects of Anti-TNF alpha Therapy on Blood Pressure in Resistant Hypertensive Subjects: A

Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Pilot Study. *Arq Bras Cardiol*, 116, 443-451.

- FEHNIGER, T. A. & CALIGIURI, M. A. 2001. Interleukin 15: biology and relevance to human disease. *Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology*, 97, 14-32.
- FENG, Y., YE, D., WANG, Z., PAN, H., LU, X., WANG, M., XU, Y., YU, J., ZHANG, J., ZHAO, M., XU, S., PAN, W., YIN, Z., YE, J. & WAN, J. 2022. The Role of Interleukin-6 Family Members in Cardiovascular Diseases. *Front Cardiovasc Med*, 9, 818890.
- FERNANDEZ-REAL, J. M., VAYREDA, M., RICHART, C., GUTIERREZ, C., BROCH, M., VENDRELL, J. & RICART, W. 2001. Circulating interleukin 6 levels, blood pressure, and insulin sensitivity in apparently healthy men and women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 86, 1154-9.
- FLEMING, I. & BUSSE, R. 1999. Signal transduction of eNOS activation. *Cardiovascular Research*, 43, 532-541.
- FLORAS, J. S. 1992. Epinephrine and the genesis of hypertension. *Hypertension*, 19, 1-18.
- FOUDI, N., OZEN, G., AMGOUD, Y., LOUEDEC, L., CHOQUEUX, C., BADI, A., KOTELEVETS, L., CHASTRE, E., LONGROIS, D. & NOREL, X. 2017. Decreased vasorelaxation induced by iloprost during acute inflammation in human internal mammary artery. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 804, 31-37.
- FOURIE, C. M., SCHUTTE, A. E., SMITH, W., KRUGER, A. & VAN ROOYEN, J. M. 2015. Endothelial activation and cardiometabolic profiles of treated and never-treated HIV infected Africans. *Atherosclerosis*, 240, 154-60.
- FUNAKOSHI, Y., ICHIKI, T., ITO, K. & TAKESHITA, A. 1999. Induction of interleukin-6 expression by angiotensin II in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Hypertension*, 34, 118-25.
- GABRILOVICH, D. I. & NAGARAJ, S. 2009. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells as regulators of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9, 162-74.
- GAFANE, L. F., SCHUTTE, R., VAN ROOYEN, J. M. & SCHUTTE, A. E. 2016. Plasma renin and cardiovascular responses to the cold pressor test differ in black and white populations: The SABPA study. J Hum Hypertens, 30, 346-51.
- GALLEY, H. F. & WEBSTER, N. R. 2004. Physiology of the endothelium. *Br* J Anaesth, 93, 105-13.
- GAO, X., BELMADANI, S., PICCHI, A., XU, X., POTTER, B. J., TEWARI-SINGH, N., CAPOBIANCO, S., CHILIAN, W. M. & ZHANG, C. 2007a. Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Induces Endothelial Dysfunction in Lepr^{db} Mice. *Circulation*, 115, 245-254.

- GAO, X., XU, X., BELMADANI, S., PARK, Y., TANG, Z., FELDMAN, A. M., CHILIAN, W. M. & ZHANG, C. 2007b. TNF-α Contributes to Endothelial Dysfunction by Upregulating Arginase in Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 27, 1269-1275.
- GAO, X., ZHANG, H., BELMADANI, S., WU, J., XU, X., ELFORD, H., POTTER, B. J. & ZHANG, C. 2008. Role of TNF-α-induced reactive oxygen species in endothelial dysfunction during reperfusion injury. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 295, H2242-H2249.
- GARCIA-REDONDO, A. B., AGUADO, A., BRIONES, A. M. & SALAICES, M. 2016. NADPH oxidases and vascular remodeling in cardiovascular diseases. *Pharmacol Res*, 114, 110-120.
- GARG, N., SYNGLE, A. & KRISHAN, P. 2017. Nitric Oxide: Link between Inflammation and Endothelial Dysfunction in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Int J Angiol*, 26, 165-169.
- GAZZARUSO, C., BRUNO, R., GARZANITI, A., GIORDANETTI, S., FRATINO, P., SACCHI, P. & FILICE, G. 2003. Hypertension among HIV patients: prevalence and relationships to insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome. *J Hypertens*, 21, 1377-82.
- GE, Y., HUANG, M. & YAO, Y.-M. 2020. Biology of interleukin-17 and its pathophysiological significance in sepsis. *Frontiers in immunology*, 11, 1558.
- GHAZI, L., BAKER, J. V., SHARMA, S., JAIN, M. K., PALFREEMAN, A., NECSOI, C., MURRAY, D. D., NEATON, J. D. & DRAWZ, P. E. 2020.
 Role of Inflammatory Biomarkers in the Prevalence and Incidence of Hypertension Among HIV-Positive Participants in the START Trial. *Am J Hypertens*, 33, 43-52.
- GIARDINA, J. B., GREEN, G. M., COCKRELL, K. L., GRANGER, J. P. & KHALIL, R. A. 2002. TNF-alpha enhances contraction and inhibits endothelial NO-cGMP relaxation in systemic vessels of pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 283, R130-43.
- GIBAS-DORNA, M., NOWAK, D., PIATEK, J., PUPEK-MUSIALIK, D., KRAUSS, H. & KOPCZYNSKI, P. 2015. Plasma ghrelin and interleukin-6 levels correlate with body mass index and arterial blood pressure in males with essential hypertension. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 66, 367-72.
- GIL, M., PARK, S. J., CHUNG, Y. S. & PARK, C. S. 2010. Interleukin-15 enhances proliferation and chemokine secretion of human follicular dendritic cells. *Immunology*, 130, 536-544.
- GILLHAM, J. C., MYERS, J. E., BAKER, P. N. & TAGGART, M. J. 2008. TNF-alpha alters nitric oxide- and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor-mediated vasodilatation in human omental arteries. *Hypertens Pregnancy*, 27, 29-38.

- GILLIS, E. E. & SULLIVAN, J. C. 2016. Sex Differences in Hypertension: Recent Advances. *Hypertension*, 68, 1322-1327.
- GOCHER, A. M., WORKMAN, C. J. & VIGNALI, D. A. A. 2022. Interferon-γ: teammate or opponent in the tumour microenvironment? *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 22, 158-172.
- GOMOLAK, J. R. & DIDION, S. P. 2014. Angiotensin II-induced endothelial dysfunction is temporally linked with increases in interleukin-6 and vascular macrophage accumulation. *Front Physiol*, 5, 396.
- GONZALEZ-AMOR, M., GARCIA-REDONDO, A. B., JORGE, I., ZALBA, G., BECARES, M., RUIZ-RODRIGUEZ, M. J., RODRIGUEZ, C., BERMEO, H., RODRIGUES-DIEZ, R., RIOS, F. J., MONTEZANO, A. C., MARTINEZ-GONZALEZ, J., VAZQUEZ, J., REDONDO, J. M., TOUYZ, R. M., GUERRA, S., SALAICES, M. & BRIONES, A. M. 2022. Interferon-stimulated gene 15 pathway is a novel mediator of endothelial dysfunction and aneurysms development in angiotensin II infused mice through increased oxidative stress. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 3250-3268.
- GONZALEZ-CARNICERO, Z., HERNANZ, R., MARTINEZ-CASALES, M., BARRUS, M. T., MARTIN, A. & ALONSO, M. J. 2023. Regulation by Nrf2 of IL-1beta-induced inflammatory and oxidative response in VSMC and its relationship with TLR4. *Front Pharmacol*, 14, 1058488.
- GORDON, J. H., LAMONTE, M. J., ZHAO, J., GENCO, R. J., CIMATO, T. R., HOVEY, K. M., ANDREWS, C. A. & WACTAWSKI-WENDE, J. 2021. The association between serum inflammatory biomarkers and incident hypertension among postmenopausal women in the Buffalo OsteoPerio Study. *J Hum Hypertens*, 35, 791-799.
- GRABSTEIN, K. H., EISENMAN, J., SHANEBECK, K., RAUCH, C., SRINIVASAN, S., FUNG, V., BEERS, C., RICHARDSON, J., SCHOENBORN, M. A. & AHDIEH, M. 1994. Cloning of a T cell growth factor that interacts with the β chain of the interleukin-2 receptor. *Science*, 264, 965-968.
- GRAY, P. W. & GOEDDEL, D. V. 1982. Structure of the human immune interferon gene. *Nature*, 298, 859-63.
- GRIENDLING, K. K., CAMARGO, L. L., RIOS, F. J., ALVES-LOPES, R., MONTEZANO, A. C. & TOUYZ, R. M. 2021. Oxidative Stress and Hypertension. *Circ Res*, 128, 993-1020.
- GRIFFIN, D. E. 2008. Cytokines and Chemokines. In: MAHY, B. W. J. & VAN REGENMORTEL, M. H. V. (eds.) Encyclopedia of Virology (Third Edition). Oxford: Academic Press.
- GRILLO, A., SALVI, L., CORUZZI, P., SALVI, P. & PARATI, G. 2019. Sodium Intake and Hypertension. *Nutrients,* 11.
- GUIZONI, D. M., DORIGHELLO, G. G., OLIVEIRA, H. C., DELBIN, M. A., KRIEGER, M. H. & DAVEL, A. P. 2016. Aerobic exercise training

protects against endothelial dysfunction by increasing nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide production in LDL receptor-deficient mice. *J Transl Med*, 14, 213.

- GUO, L., LIU, M. F., HUANG, J. N., LI, J. M., JIANG, J. & WANG, J. A. 2020. Role of interleukin-15 in cardiovascular diseases. *J Cell Mol Med*, 24, 7094-7101.
- GUZIK, T. J., HOCH, N. E., BROWN, K. A., MCCANN, L. A., RAHMAN, A., DIKALOV, S., GORONZY, J., WEYAND, C. & HARRISON, D. G.
 2007. Role of the T cell in the genesis of angiotensin II induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *J Exp Med*, 204, 2449-60.
- GUZIK, T. J., WEST, N. E., BLACK, E., MCDONALD, D., RATNATUNGA, C., PILLAI, R. & CHANNON, K. M. 2000. Vascular superoxide production by NAD (P) H oxidase: association with endothelial dysfunction and clinical risk factors. *Circulation research*, 86, e85-e90.
- HALL, J. E. & HALL, M. E. 2020. *Guyton and Hall textbook of medical physiology e-Book*, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- HAN, Y., RUNGE, M. S. & BRASIER, A. R. 1999. Angiotensin II induces interleukin-6 transcription in vascular smooth muscle cells through pleiotropic activation of nuclear factor-kappa B transcription factors. *Circ Res*, 84, 695-703.
- HARRISON, D. G., COFFMAN, T. M. & WILCOX, C. S. 2021. Pathophysiology of Hypertension: The Mosaic Theory and Beyond. *Circ Res*, 128, 847-863.
- HETTWER, J., HINTERDOBLER, J., MIRITSCH, B., DEUTSCH, M. A., LI, X., MAUERSBERGER, C., MOGGIO, A., BRASTER, Q., GRAM, H., ROBERTSON, A. A. B., COOPER, M. A., GROSS, O., KRANE, M., WEBER, C., KOENIG, W., SOEHNLEIN, O., ADAMSTEIN, N. H., RIDKER, P., SCHUNKERT, H., LIBBY, P., KESSLER, T. & SAGER, H. B. 2022. Interleukin-1beta suppression dampens inflammatory leucocyte production and uptake in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 2778-2791.
- HUAN, T., MENG, Q., SALEH, M. A., NORLANDER, A. E., JOEHANES, R., ZHU, J., CHEN, B. H., ZHANG, B., JOHNSON, A. D., YING, S., COURCHESNE, P., RAGHAVACHARI, N., WANG, R., LIU, P., INTERNATIONAL CONSORTIUM FOR BLOOD PRESSURE, G., O'DONNELL, C. J., VASAN, R., MUNSON, P. J., MADHUR, M. S., HARRISON, D. G., YANG, X. & LEVY, D. 2015. Integrative network analysis reveals molecular mechanisms of blood pressure regulation. *Mol Syst Biol*, 11, 799.
- HUFF, W. X., KWON, J. H., HENRIQUEZ, M., FETCKO, K. & DEY, M. 2019. The Evolving Role of CD8(+)CD28(-) Immunosenescent T Cells in Cancer Immunology. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- HURST, L. A., DUNMORE, B. J., LONG, L., CROSBY, A., AL-LAMKI, R., DEIGHTON, J., SOUTHWOOD, M., YANG, X., NIKOLIC, M. Z.,

HERRERA, B., INMAN, G. J., BRADLEY, J. R., RANA, A. A., UPTON, P. D. & MORRELL, N. W. 2017. TNFα drives pulmonary arterial hypertension by suppressing the BMP type-II receptor and altering NOTCH signalling. *Nature Communications*, *8*, 14079.

- IBRAHIM, M. M. & DAMASCENO, A. 2012. Hypertension in developing countries. *Lancet*, 380, 611-9.
- IHLE, J. N. 2001. The Stat family in cytokine signaling. *Curr Opin Cell Biol,* 13, 211-7.
- JANG, D. I., LEE, A. H., SHIN, H. Y., SONG, H. R., PARK, J. H., KANG, T. B., LEE, S. R. & YANG, S. H. 2021. The Role of Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha (TNF-alpha) in Autoimmune Disease and Current TNFalpha Inhibitors in Therapeutics. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22.
- JAVANMARD, S. H. & DANA, N. 2012. The effect of interferon gamma on endothelial cell nitric oxide production and apoptosis. *Adv Biomed Res*, 1, 69.
- JAYEDI, A., RAHIMI, K., BAUTISTA, L. E., NAZARZADEH, M., ZARGAR, M. S. & SHAB-BIDAR, S. 2019. Inflammation markers and risk of developing hypertension: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Heart*, 105, 686-692.
- JI, H., KIM, A., EBINGER, J. E., NIIRANEN, T. J., CLAGGETT, B. L., MERZ, C. N. B. & CHENG, S. 2020. Sex differences in blood pressure trajectories over the life course. *JAMA cardiology*, 5, 255-262.
- JI, Q., CHENG, G., MA, N., HUANG, Y., LIN, Y., ZHOU, Q., QUE, B., DONG, J., ZHOU, Y. & NIE, S. 2017. Circulating Th1, Th2, and Th17 Levels in Hypertensive Patients. *Dis Markers*, 2017, 7146290.
- JORGOVANOVIC, D., SONG, M., WANG, L. & ZHANG, Y. 2020. Roles of IFN-gamma in tumor progression and regression: a review. *Biomark Res*, 8, 49.
- JUSTIN RUCKER, A. & CROWLEY, S. D. 2017. The role of macrophages in hypertension and its complications. *Pflügers Archiv-European Journal* of *Physiology*, 469, 419-430.
- KAIBE, M., OHISHI, M., ITO, N., YUAN, M., TAKAGI, T., TERAI, M., TATARA, Y., KOMAI, N., RAKUGI, H. & OGIHARA, T. 2005. Serum interleukin-15 concentration in patients with essential hypertension. *Am J Hypertens*, 18, 1019-25.
- KAK, G., RAZA, M. & TIWARI, B. K. 2018. Interferon-gamma (IFN-γ): Exploring its implications in infectious diseases. *Biomolecular Concepts*, 9, 64-79.
- KAMAT, N. V., THABET, S. R., XIAO, L., SALEH, M. A., KIRABO, A.,MADHUR, M. S., DELPIRE, E., HARRISON, D. G. & MCDONOUGH,A. A. 2015. Renal transporter activation during angiotensin-II

hypertension is blunted in interferon-gamma-/- and interleukin-17A-/- mice. *Hypertension*, 65, 569-76.

- KANEKO, N., KURATA, M., YAMAMOTO, T., MORIKAWA, S. & MASUMOTO, J. 2019. The role of interleukin-1 in general pathology. *Inflamm Regen*, 39, 12.
- KANY, S., VOLLRATH, J. T. & RELJA, B. 2019. Cytokines in Inflammatory Disease. *Int J Mol Sci*, 20.
- KARHUNEN, V., GILL, D., HUANG, J., BOURAS, E., MALIK, R., PONSFORD, M. J., AHOLA-OLLI, A., PAPADOPOULOU, A., PALANISWAMY, S., SEBERT, S., WIELSCHER, M., AUVINEN, J., VEIJOLA, J., HERZIG, K. H., TIMONEN, M., KEINANEN-KIUKAANNIEMI, S., DICHGANS, M., SALMI, M., JALKANEN, S., LEHTIMAKI, T., SALOMAA, V., RAITAKARI, O., JONES, S. A., HOVINGH, G. K., TSILIDIS, K. K., JARVELIN, M. R. & DEHGHAN, A. 2023. The interplay between inflammatory cytokines and cardiometabolic disease: bi-directional mendelian randomisation study. *BMJ Med*, 2, e000157.
- KASSEM, K. M., ALI, M. & RHALEB, N. E. 2020. Interleukin 4: Its Role in Hypertension, Atherosclerosis, Valvular, and Nonvalvular Cardiovascular Diseases. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther*, 25, 7-14.
- KELLY, D. M. & ROTHWELL, P. M. 2020. Blood pressure and the brain: the neurology of hypertension. *Pract Neurol*, 20, 100-108.
- KETONEN, J. & MERVAALA, E. 2008. Effects of dietary sodium on reactive oxygen species formation and endothelial dysfunction in low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice on high-fat diet. *Heart Vessels*, 23, 420-9.
- KIANI, A. K., BONETTI, G., MEDORI, M. C., CARUSO, P., MANGANOTTI, P., FIORETTI, F., NODARI, S., CONNELLY, S. T. & BERTELLI, M. 2022. Dietary supplements for improving nitric-oxide synthesis. J Prev Med Hyg, 63, E239-E245.
- KIMURA, A., ISHIDA, Y., FURUTA, M., NOSAKA, M., KUNINAKA, Y., TARUYA, A., MUKAIDA, N. & KONDO, T. 2018. Protective roles of interferon-γ in cardiac hypertrophy induced by sustained pressure overload. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 7, e008145.
- KLAG, M. J., WHELTON, P. K., RANDALL, B. L., NEATON, J. D., BRANCATI, F. L., FORD, C. E., SHULMAN, N. B. & STAMLER, J. 1996. Blood pressure and end-stage renal disease in men. N Engl J Med, 334, 13-8.
- KOPITAR-JERALA, N. 2017. The Role of Interferons in Inflammation and Inflammasome Activation. *Front Immunol*, 8, 873.
- KOSTAREVA, O. S., GABDULKHAKOV, A. G., KOLYADENKO, I. A., GARBER, M. B. & TISHCHENKO, S. V. 2019. Interleukin-17:

Functional and Structural Features, Application as a Therapeutic Target. *Biochemistry (Moscow)*, 84, 193-205.

- KOU, R. & MICHEL, T. 2007. Epinephrine regulation of the endothelial nitric-oxide synthase: roles of RAC1 and β3-adrenergic receptors in endothelial NO signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282, 32719-32729.
- KRUGER-GENGE, A., BLOCKI, A., FRANKE, R. P. & JUNG, F. 2019. Vascular Endothelial Cell Biology: An Update. *Int J Mol Sci,* 20.
- KRÜTTGEN, A. & ROSE-JOHN, S. 2012. Interleukin-6 in sepsis and capillary leakage syndrome. *Journal of Interferon & Cytokine Research*, 32, 60-65.
- KUWABARA, M., KUWABARA, R., NIWA, K., HISATOME, I., SMITS, G., RONCAL-JIMENEZ, C. A., MACLEAN, P. S., YRACHETA, J. M., OHNO, M., LANASPA, M. A., JOHNSON, R. J. & JALAL, D. I. 2018.
 Different Risk for Hypertension, Diabetes, Dyslipidemia, and Hyperuricemia According to Level of Body Mass Index in Japanese and American Subjects. *Nutrients*, 10.
- LACKLAND, D. T. 2014. Racial differences in hypertension: implications for high blood pressure management. *Am J Med Sci*, 348, 135-8.
- LACKLAND, D. T. & WEBER, M. A. 2015. Global burden of cardiovascular disease and stroke: hypertension at the core. *Can J Cardiol*, 31, 569-71.
- LAKOSKI, S. G., CUSHMAN, M., SISCOVICK, D. S., BLUMENTHAL, R. S., PALMAS, W., BURKE, G. & HERRINGTON, D. M. 2011. The relationship between inflammation, obesity and risk for hypertension in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *J Hum Hypertens*, 25, 73-9.
- LAMARCA, B. B. D., BENNETT, W. A., ALEXANDER, B. T., COCKRELL, K. & GRANGER, J. P. 2005a. Hypertension Produced by Reductions in Uterine Perfusion in the Pregnant Rat. *Hypertension*, 46, 1022-1025.
- LAMARCA, B. B. D., COCKRELL, K., SULLIVAN, E., BENNETT, W. & GRANGER, J. P. 2005b. Role of Endothelin in Mediating Tumor Necrosis Factor-Induced Hypertension in Pregnant Rats. *Hypertension*, 46, 82-86.
- LAMARCA, B. D., RYAN, M. J., GILBERT, J. S., MURPHY, S. R. & GRANGER, J. P. 2007. Inflammatory cytokines in the pathophysiology of hypertension during preeclampsia. *Current Hypertension Reports*, 9, 480-485.
- LANDMESSER, U., DIKALOV, S., PRICE, S. R., MCCANN, L., FUKAI, T., HOLLAND, S. M., MITCH, W. E. & HARRISON, D. G. 2003. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. *J Clin Invest*, 111, 1201-9.

- LEE, D. L., STURGIS, L. C., LABAZI, H., JAMES B. OSBORNE, J., FLEMING, C., POLLOCK, J. S., MANHIANI, M., IMIG, J. D. & BRANDS, M. W. 2006a. Angiotensin II hypertension is attenuated in interleukin-6 knockout mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart* and Circulatory Physiology, 290, H935-H940.
- LEE, D. L., STURGIS, L. C., LABAZI, H., OSBORNE, J. B., JR., FLEMING, C., POLLOCK, J. S., MANHIANI, M., IMIG, J. D. & BRANDS, M. W. 2006b. Angiotensin II hypertension is attenuated in interleukin-6 knockout mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 290, H935-40.
- LEE, J., LEE, S., ZHANG, H., HILL, M. A., ZHANG, C. & PARK, Y. 2017. Interaction of IL-6 and TNF-alpha contributes to endothelial dysfunction in type 2 diabetic mouse hearts. *PLoS One*, 12, e0187189.
- LEE, S., PARK, Y. & ZHANG, C. 2011. Exercise Training Prevents Coronary Endothelial Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetic Mice. *Am J Biomed Sci*, 3, 241-252.
- LEVY, D., EHRET, G. B., RICE, K., VERWOERT, G. C., LAUNER, L. J., DEHGHAN, A., GLAZER, N. L., MORRISON, A. C., JOHNSON, A. D., ASPELUND, T., AULCHENKO, Y., LUMLEY, T., KOTTGEN, A., VASAN, R. S., RIVADENEIRA, F., EIRIKSDOTTIR, G., GUO, X., ARKING, D. E., MITCHELL, G. F., MATTACE-RASO, F. U., SMITH, A. V., TAYLOR, K., SCHARPF, R. B., HWANG, S. J., SIJBRANDS, E. J., BIS, J., HARRIS, T. B., GANESH, S. K., O'DONNELL, C. J., HOFMAN, A., ROTTER, J. I., CORESH, J., BENJAMIN, E. J., UITTERLINDEN, A. G., HEISS, G., FOX, C. S., WITTEMAN, J. C., BOERWINKLE, E., WANG, T. J., GUDNASON, V., LARSON, M. G., CHAKRAVARTI, A., PSATY, B. M. & VAN DUIJN, C. M. 2009. Genome-wide association study of blood pressure and hypertension. *Nat Genet*, 41, 677-87.
- LI, Y., WANG, F., IMANI, S., TAO, L., DENG, Y. & CAI, Y. 2021. Natural Killer Cells: Friend or Foe in Metabolic Diseases? *Front Immunol*, 12, 614429.
- LIBBY, P. 2021. Inflammation during the life cycle of the atherosclerotic plaque. *Cardiovasc Res*, 117, 2525-2536.
- LIBERALE, L., MONTECUCCO, F., SCHWARZ, L., LUSCHER, T. F. & CAMICI, G. G. 2021. Inflammation and cardiovascular diseases: lessons from seminal clinical trials. *Cardiovasc Res*, 117, 411-422.
- LINDHORST, J., ALEXANDER, N., BLIGNAUT, J. & RAYNER, B. 2007. Differences in hypertension between blacks and whites: an overview. *Cardiovasc J Afr,* 18, 241-7.
- LIP, S. & PADMANABHAN, S. 2020. Genomics of Blood Pressure and Hypertension: Extending the Mosaic Theory Toward Stratification. *Can J Cardiol*, 36, 694-705.

- LITWIN, M. & KULAGA, Z. 2021. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and primary hypertension. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 36, 825-837.
- LIU, J., LI, J., XIE, C., XUAN, L. & TANG, B. 2020. MSCs attenuate hypoxia induced pulmonary hypertension by activating P53 and NF-kB signaling pathway through TNFα secretion. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 532, 400-405.
- LIU, K. 2016. Dendritic Cells. Encyclopedia of Cell Biology, 741-9.
- LOUGHREY, J. P., LAFFEY, J. G., MOORE, B. J., LYNCH, F., BOYLAN, J. F. & MCLOUGHLIN, P. 2003. Interleukin-1 beta rapidly inhibits aortic endothelium-dependent relaxation by a DNA transcription-dependent mechanism. *Crit Care Med*, 31, 910-5.
- LU, X., RUDEMILLER, N. P., PRIVRATSKY, J. R., REN, J., WEN, Y., GRIFFITHS, R. & CROWLEY, S. D. 2020. Classical Dendritic Cells Mediate Hypertension by Promoting Renal Oxidative Stress and Fluid Retention. *Hypertension*, 75, 131-138.
- LUKIC, L., LALIC, N. M., RAJKOVIC, N., JOTIC, A., LALIC, K., MILICIC, T., SEFEROVIC, J. P., MACESIC, M. & GAJOVIC, J. S. 2014. Hypertension in obese type 2 diabetes patients is associated with increases in insulin resistance and IL-6 cytokine levels: potential targets for an efficient preventive intervention. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 11, 3586-98.
- MA, J., LI, Y., YANG, X., LIU, K., ZHANG, X., ZUO, X., YE, R., WANG, Z., SHI, R., MENG, Q. & CHEN, X. 2023. Signaling pathways in vascular function and hypertension: molecular mechanisms and therapeutic interventions. Signal Transduct Target Ther, 8, 168.
- MADHUR, M. S., LOB, H. E., MCCANN, L. A., IWAKURA, Y., BLINDER, Y., GUZIK, T. J. & HARRISON, D. G. 2010a. Interleukin 17 promotes angiotensin II-induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *Hypertension*, 55, 500-7.
- MADHUR, M. S., LOB, H. E., MCCANN, L. A., IWAKURA, Y., BLINDER, Y., GUZIK, T. J. & HARRISON, D. G. 2010b. Interleukin 17 Promotes Angiotensin II–Induced Hypertension and Vascular Dysfunction. *Hypertension*, 55, 500-507.
- MANCIA CHAIRPERSON, G., KREUTZ CO-CHAIR, R., BRUNSTROM, M., BURNIER, M., GRASSI, G., JANUSZEWICZ, A., MUIESAN, M. L., TSIOUFIS, K., AGABITI-ROSEI, E., ALGHARABLY, E. A. E., AZIZI, M., BENETOS, A., BORGHI, C., HITIJ, J. B., CIFKOVA, R., COCA, A., CORNELISSEN, V., CRUICKSHANK, K., CUNHA, P. G., DANSER, A. H. J., DE PINHO, R. M., DELLES, C., DOMINICZAK, A. F., DOROBANTU, M., DOUMAS, M., FERNANDEZ-ALFONSO, M. S., HALIMI, J. M., JARAI, Z., JELAKOVIC, B., JORDAN, J., KUZNETSOVA, T., LAURENT, S., LOVIC, D., LURBE, E., MAHFOUD, F., MANOLIS, A., MIGLINAS, M., NARKIEWICZ, K., NIIRANEN, T., PALATINI, P., PARATI, G., PATHAK, A., PERSU, A.,

POLONIA, J., REDON, J., SARAFIDIS, P., SCHMIEDER, R., SPRONCK, B., STABOULI, S., STERGIOU, G., TADDEI, S., THOMOPOULOS, C., TOMASZEWSKI, M., VAN DE BORNE, P., WANNER, C., WEBER, T., WILLIAMS, B., ZHANG, Z. Y., KJELDSEN, S. E. & AUTHORS/TASK FORCE, M. 2023. 2023 ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension Endorsed by the European Renal Association (ERA) and the International Society of Hypertension (ISH). *J Hypertens*.

- MANUELA, M., MARTA, R.-C., DORA, P., ANTÓNIO ALBINO, T. & TERESA, S. 2017. Regulation of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System by Reactive Oxygen Species. *In:* ANNA NAIDENOVA, T. (ed.) *Renin-Angiotensin System.* Rijeka: IntechOpen.
- MAO, S., SUN, J., GU, T., ZHU, F., YIN, F. & ZHANG, L. 2017a. Hypomethylation of interleukin-6 (IL-6) gene increases the risk of essential hypertension: a matched case–control study. *Journal of human hypertension*, 31, 530-536.
- MAO, S. Q., SUN, J. H., GU, T. L., ZHU, F. B., YIN, F. Y. & ZHANG, L. N. 2017b. Hypomethylation of interleukin-6 (IL-6) gene increases the risk of essential hypertension: a matched case–control study. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 31, 530-536.
- MARANDUCA, M. A., TANASE, D. M., BRANISTEANU, D. C., SERBAN, D. N., BRANISTEANU, D. E. & SERBAN, I. L. 2020. Involvement of proinflammatory cytokines in angiotensin II-induced hypertension in rat. *Exp Ther Med*, 20, 3541-3545.
- MARKÓ, L., KVAKAN, H., PARK, J.-K., QADRI, F., SPALLEK, B., BINGER, K. J., BOWMAN, E. P., KLEINEWIETFELD, M., FOKUHL, V. & DECHEND, R. 2012. Interferon-γ signaling inhibition ameliorates angiotensin II–induced cardiac damage. *Hypertension*, 60, 1430-1436.
- MARTINEZ-QUINONES, P., MCCARTHY, C. G., WATTS, S. W., KLEE, N. S., KOMIC, A., CALMASINI, F. B., PRIVIERO, F., WARNER, A., CHENGHAO, Y. & WENCESLAU, C. F. 2018. Hypertension Induced Morphological and Physiological Changes in Cells of the Arterial Wall. *Am J Hypertens*, 31, 1067-1078.
- MAUNO, V., HANNU, K. & ESKO, K. 2008. Proinflammation and hypertension: a population-based study. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2008, 619704.
- MCCARRON, R. M., WANG, L., SIREN, A. L., SPATZ, M. & HALLENBECK, J. M. 1994. Adhesion molecules on normotensive and hypertensive rat brain endothelial cells. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, 205, 257-62.
- MCGEACHY, M. J., CUA, D. J. & GAFFEN, S. L. 2019. The IL-17 family of cytokines in health and disease. *Immunity*, 50, 892-906.

- MEEKS, K. A. C., BENTLEY, A. R., GOUVEIA, M. H., CHEN, G., ZHOU, J., LEI, L., ADEYEMO, A. A., DOUMATEY, A. P. & ROTIMI, C. N. 2021. Genome-wide analyses of multiple obesity-related cytokines and hormones informs biology of cardiometabolic traits. *Genome Med*, 13, 156.
- MELTON, E. & QIU, H. 2021. Interleukin-1beta in Multifactorial Hypertension: Inflammation, Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell and Extracellular Matrix Remodeling, and Non-Coding RNA Regulation. Int J Mol Sci, 22.
- MENTE, A., O'DONNELL, M. J., RANGARAJAN, S., MCQUEEN, M. J., POIRIER, P., WIELGOSZ, A., MORRISON, H., LI, W., WANG, X. & DI, C. 2014. Association of urinary sodium and potassium excretion with blood pressure. *New england journal of medicine*, 371, 601-611.
- MIKOLAJCZYK, T. P., NOSALSKI, R., SZCZEPANIAK, P., BUDZYN, K., OSMENDA, G., SKIBA, D., SAGAN, A., WU, J., VINH, A., MARVAR, P. J., GUZIK, B., PODOLEC, J., DRUMMOND, G., LOB, H. E., HARRISON, D. G. & GUZIK, T. J. 2016. Role of chemokine RANTES in the regulation of perivascular inflammation, T-cell accumulation, and vascular dysfunction in hypertension. *FASEB J*, 30, 1987-99.
- MIKOLAJCZYK, T. P., SZCZEPANIAK, P., VIDLER, F., MAFFIA, P., GRAHAM, G. J. & GUZIK, T. J. 2021. Role of inflammatory chemokines in hypertension. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 223, 107799.
- MILLS, K. T., BUNDY, J. D., KELLY, T. N., REED, J. E., KEARNEY, P. M., REYNOLDS, K., CHEN, J. & HE, J. 2016. Global Disparities of Hypertension Prevalence and Control: A Systematic Analysis of Population-Based Studies From 90 Countries. *Circulation*, 134, 441-50.
- MILLS, K. T., STEFANESCU, A. & HE, J. 2020. The global epidemiology of hypertension. *Nat Rev Nephrol,* 16, 223-237.
- MOHAMED-ALI, V., GOODRICK, S., RAWESH, A., KATZ, D. R., MILES, J. M., YUDKIN, J. S., KLEIN, S. & COPPACK, S. W. 1997.
 Subcutaneous adipose tissue releases interleukin-6, but not tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in vivo. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 82, 4196-200.
- MOHAMMADI, M., GOZASHTI, M. H., AGHADAVOOD, M., MEHDIZADEH, M. R. & HAYATBAKHSH, M. M. 2017. Clinical Significance of Serum IL-6 and TNF-alpha Levels in Patients with Metabolic Syndrome. *Rep Biochem Mol Biol*, 6, 74-79.
- MONTEZANO, A. C. & TOUYZ, R. M. 2012a. Reactive oxygen species and endothelial function--role of nitric oxide synthase uncoupling and Nox family nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*, 110, 87-94.
- MONTEZANO, A. C. & TOUYZ, R. M. 2012b. *Reactive oxygen species and the cardiovascular system*, Morgan & Claypool Publishers.

- MOSS, M. L., JIN, S.-L. C., MILLA, M. E., BURKHART, W., CARTER, H. L., CHEN, W.-J., CLAY, W. C., DIDSBURY, J. R., HASSLER, D. & HOFFMAN, C. R. 1997. Cloning of a disintegrin metalloproteinase that processes precursor tumour-necrosis factor-α. *Nature*, 385, 733-736.
- MÜHL, H. & PFEILSCHIFTER, J. 2003. Anti-inflammatory properties of proinflammatory interferon-γ. *International Immunopharmacology*, 3, 1247-1255.
- MURRAY, E. C., NOSALSKI, R., MACRITCHIE, N., TOMASZEWSKI, M., MAFFIA, P., HARRISON, D. G. & GUZIK, T. J. 2021. Therapeutic targeting of inflammation in hypertension: from novel mechanisms to translational perspective. *Cardiovasc Res*, 117, 2589-2609.
- MWANTEMBE, O., GAILLARD, M. C., BARKHUIZEN, M., PILLAY, V., BERRY, S. D., DEWAR, J. B. & SONG, E. 2001. Ethnic differences in allelic associations of the interleukin-1 gene cluster in South African patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and in control individuals. *Immunogenetics*, 52, 249-54.
- NAKAO, E., ADACHI, H., ENOMOTO, M., FUKAMI, A., KUMAGAI, E., NAKAMURA, S., NOHARA, Y., KONO, S., SAKAUE, A., MORIKAWA, N., TSURU, T. & FUKUMOTO, Y. 2017. Elevated Plasma Transforming Growth Factor beta1 Levels Predict the Development of Hypertension in Normotensives: The 14-Year Follow-Up Study. *Am J Hypertens*, 30, 808-814.
- NASH, A. A., DALZIEL, R. G. & FITZGERALD, J. R. 2015. *Mims'* pathogenesis of infectious disease, Academic Press.
- NAYA, M., TSUKAMOTO, T., MORITA, K., KATOH, C., FURUMOTO, T., FUJII, S., TAMAKI, N. & TSUTSUI, H. 2007a. Plasma interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha can predict coronary endothelial dysfunction in hypertensive patients. *Hypertens Res*, 30, 541-8.
- NAYA, M., TSUKAMOTO, T., MORITA, K., KATOH, C., FURUMOTO, T., FUJII, S., TAMAKI, N. & TSUTSUI, H. 2007b. Plasma Interleukin-6 and Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Can Predict Coronary Endothelial Dysfunction in Hypertensive Patients. *Hypertension Research*, 30, 541-548.
- NDUKA, C. U., STRANGES, S., SARKI, A. M., KIMANI, P. K. & UTHMAN, O. A. 2016. Evidence of increased blood pressure and hypertension risk among people living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *J Hum Hypertens*, 30, 355-62.
- NETER, J. E., STAM, B. E., KOK, F. J., GROBBEE, D. E. & GELEIJNSE, J. M. 2003. Influence of weight reduction on blood pressure: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Hypertension*, 42, 878-84.
- NEUMANN, P., GERTZBERG, N. & JOHNSON, A. 2004. TNF-α induces a decrease in eNOS promoter activity. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 286, L452-L459.

- NG, C. T., FONG, L. Y. & ABDULLAH, M. N. H. 2023. Interferon-gamma (IFN-γ): Reviewing its mechanisms and signaling pathways on the regulation of endothelial barrier function. *Cytokine*, 166, 156208.
- NG, C. T., FONG, L. Y., SULAIMAN, M. R., MOKLAS, M. A., YONG, Y. K., HAKIM, M. N. & AHMAD, Z. 2015. Interferon-Gamma Increases Endothelial Permeability by Causing Activation of p38 MAP Kinase and Actin Cytoskeleton Alteration. *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 35, 513-22.
- NG, C. T., FONG, L. Y., YONG, Y. K., HAKIM, M. N. & AHMAD, Z. 2018. Interferon-γ induces biphasic changes in caldesmon localization as well as adherens junction organization and expression in HUVECs. *Cytokine*, 111, 541-550.
- NGUYEN, H., CHIASSON, V. L., CHATTERJEE, P., KOPRIVA, S. E., YOUNG, K. J. & MITCHELL, B. M. 2012. Interleukin-17 causes Rhokinase-mediated endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. *Cardiovascular Research*, 97, 696-704.
- NGUYEN, H., CHIASSON, V. L., CHATTERJEE, P., KOPRIVA, S. E., YOUNG, K. J. & MITCHELL, B. M. 2013a. Interleukin-17 causes Rhokinase-mediated endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res*, 97, 696-704.
- NGUYEN, H., CHIASSON, V. L., CHATTERJEE, P., KOPRIVA, S. E., YOUNG, K. J. & MITCHELL, B. M. 2013b. Interleukin-17 causes Rhokinase-mediated endothelial dysfunction and hypertension. *Cardiovascular research*, 97, 696-704.
- NILSEN, E., JOHANSEN, F., JAHNSEN, F., LUNDIN, K., SCHOLZ, T., BRANDTZAEG, P. & HARALDSEN, G. 1998. Cytokine profiles of cultured microvascular endothelial cells from the human intestine. *Gut*, 42, 635-642.
- NOSALSKI, R., MCGINNIGLE, E., SIEDLINSKI, M. & GUZIK, T. J. 2017. Novel Immune Mechanisms in Hypertension and Cardiovascular Risk. *Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep*, 11, 12.
- NUSSENBLATT, R. B. 2010. Elements of the immune system and concepts of intraocular inflammatory disease pathogenesis. *Uveitis: fundamentals and clinical practice*, 1-36.
- OIKE, T., KANAGAWA, H., SATO, Y., KOBAYASHI, T., NAKATSUKASA, H., MIYAMOTO, K., NAKAMURA, S., KANEKO, Y., KOBAYASHI, S. & HARATO, K. 2018. IL-6, IL-17 and Stat3 are required for autoinflammatory syndrome development in mouse. *Scientific reports*, 8, 15783.
- OKELLO, S., ASIIMWE, S. B., KANYESIGYE, M., MUYINDIKE, W. R.,
 BOUM, Y., 2ND, MWEBESA, B. B., HABERER, J. E., HUANG, Y.,
 WILLIAMS, K., BURDO, T. H., TRACY, R. P., BANGSBERG, D. R.,
 MOCELLO, A. R., MARTIN, J. N., HUNT, P. W. & SIEDNER, M. J.
 2016. D-Dimer Levels and Traditional Risk Factors Are Associated

With Incident Hypertension Among HIV-Infected Individuals Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy in Uganda. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 73, 396-402.

- ONEN, N. F., OVERTON, E. T., SEYFRIED, W., STUMM, E. R., SNELL, M., MONDY, K. & TEBAS, P. 2010. Aging and HIV infection: a comparison between older HIV-infected persons and the general population. *HIV Clin Trials*, 11, 100-9.
- ONISHI, R. M. & GAFFEN, S. L. 2010. Interleukin-17 and its target genes: mechanisms of interleukin-17 function in disease. *Immunology*, 129, 311-321.
- OPAL, S. M. & DEPALO, V. A. 2000. Anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Chest,* 117, 1162-72.
- OREJUDO, M., RODRIGUES-DIEZ, R. R., RODRIGUES-DIEZ, R., GARCIA-REDONDO, A., SANTOS-SANCHEZ, L., RANDEZ-GARBAYO, J., CANNATA-ORTIZ, P., RAMOS, A. M., ORTIZ, A., SELGAS, R., MEZZANO, S., LAVOZ, C. & RUIZ-ORTEGA, M. 2019. Interleukin 17A Participates in Renal Inflammation Associated to Experimental and Human Hypertension. *Front Pharmacol*, 10, 1015.
- ORSHAL, J. M. & KHALIL, R. A. 2004. Reduced Endothelial NO-cGMP– Mediated Vascular Relaxation and Hypertension in IL-6–Infused Pregnant Rats. *Hypertension*, 43, 434-444.
- PAGE, M. J., BESTER, J. & PRETORIUS, E. 2018. The inflammatory effects of TNF-α and complement component 3 on coagulation. *Scientific reports*, 8, 1812.
- PAHL, M. V. & VAZIRI, N. D. 2020. Immune function in chronic kidney disease. *Chronic renal disease.* Elsevier.
- PATIDAR, M., YADAV, N. & DALAI, S. K. 2016. Interleukin 15: A key cytokine for immunotherapy. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev,* 31, 49-59.
- PAVUK, M., SERIO, T. C., CUSACK, C., CAVE, M., ROSENBAUM, P. F. & BIRNBAUM, L. S. 2019. Hypertension in Relation to Dioxins and Polychlorinated Biphenyls from the Anniston Community Health Survey Follow-Up. *Environ Health Perspect*, 127, 127007.
- PECK, R. N., SHEDAFA, R., KALLUVYA, S., DOWNS, J. A., TODD, J., SUTHANTHIRAN, M., FITZGERALD, D. W. & KATARAIHYA, J. B. 2014. Hypertension, kidney disease, HIV and antiretroviral therapy among Tanzanian adults: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Med*, 12, 125.
- PEETERS, A. C., NETEA, M. G., KULLBERG, B. J., THIEN, T. & VAN DER MEER, J. W. 1998. The effect of renin-angiotensin system inhibitors on pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine production. *Immunology*, 94, 376-9.
- PEREIRO, P., FIGUERAS, A. & NOVOA, B. 2019. Insights into teleost interferon-gamma biology: An update. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 90, 150-164.

- PERERA, P. Y., LICHY, J. H., WALDMANN, T. A. & PERERA, L. P. 2012. The role of interleukin-15 in inflammation and immune responses to infection: implications for its therapeutic use. *Microbes Infect*, 14, 247-61.
- PHALANE, E., FOURIE, C. M., MELS, C. M. & SCHUTTE, A. E. 2019. A 10year follow-up study of demographic and cardiometabolic factors in HIV-infected South Africans. *Cardiovasc J Afr,* 30, 1-5.
- PHALANE, E., FOURIE, C. M. T., MELS, C. M. C. & SCHUTTE, A. E. 2020. A comparative analysis of blood pressure in HIV-infected patients versus uninfected controls residing in Sub-Saharan Africa: a narrative review. J Hum Hypertens, 34, 692-708.
- PICCHI, A., GAO, X., BELMADANI, S., POTTER, B. J., FOCARDI, M., CHILIAN, W. M. & ZHANG, C. 2006. Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Induces Endothelial Dysfunction in the Prediabetic Metabolic Syndrome. *Circulation Research*, 99, 69-77.
- PRAKASH, S., SARANGI, A. N., TRIPATHI, G., SHARMA, R. K. & AGRAWAL, S. 2016. Prediction of susceptible biomarkers for end stage renal disease among North Indians. *Nephrology (Carlton)*, 21, 592-600.
- PROVAN, S. A., BERG, I. J., HAMMER, H. B., MATHIESSEN, A., KVIEN, T. K. & SEMB, A. G. 2015. The Impact of Newer Biological Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs on Cardiovascular Risk Factors: A 12-Month Longitudinal Study in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients Treated with Rituximab, Abatacept and Tociliziumab. *PLoS One*, 10, e0130709.
- PUGLIESE, N. R., PELLICORI, P., FILIDEI, F., DE BIASE, N., MAFFIA, P., GUZIK, T. J., MASI, S., TADDEI, S. & CLELAND, J. G. F. 2023. Inflammatory pathways in heart failure with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction: implications for future interventions. *Cardiovascular research*, 118, 3536-3555.
- QIN, Z., LI, C., QI, S., ZHOU, H., WU, J., WANG, W., YE, Q., YANG, H., WANG, C. & HONG, X. 2022. Association of socioeconomic status with hypertension prevalence and control in Nanjing: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 22, 423.
- REN, J. & CROWLEY, S. D. 2019. Role of T-cell activation in salt-sensitive hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 316, H1345-H1353.
- RIDKER, P. M. 2021. From RESCUE to ZEUS: will interleukin-6 inhibition with ziltivekimab prove effective for cardiovascular event reduction? *Cardiovascular research*, 117, e138-e140.
- RIDKER, P. M., EVERETT, B. M., THUREN, T., MACFADYEN, J. G., CHANG, W. H., BALLANTYNE, C., FONSECA, F., NICOLAU, J., KOENIG, W., ANKER, S. D., KASTELEIN, J. J. P., CORNEL, J. H., PAIS, P., PELLA, D., GENEST, J., CIFKOVA, R., LORENZATTI, A., FORSTER, T., KOBALAVA, Z., VIDA-SIMITI, L., FLATHER, M.,

SHIMOKAWA, H., OGAWA, H., DELLBORG, M., ROSSI, P. R. F., TROQUAY, R. P. T., LIBBY, P. & GLYNN, R. J. 2017a. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *The New England journal of medicine*, 377, 1119-1131.

- RIDKER, P. M., EVERETT, B. M., THUREN, T., MACFADYEN, J. G., CHANG, W. H., BALLANTYNE, C., FONSECA, F., NICOLAU, J., KOENIG, W., ANKER, S. D., KASTELEIN, J. J. P., CORNEL, J. H., PAIS, P., PELLA, D., GENEST, J., CIFKOVA, R., LORENZATTI, A., FORSTER, T., KOBALAVA, Z., VIDA-SIMITI, L., FLATHER, M., SHIMOKAWA, H., OGAWA, H., DELLBORG, M., ROSSI, P. R. F., TROQUAY, R. P. T., LIBBY, P., GLYNN, R. J. & GROUP, C. T. 2017b. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. N Engl J Med, 377, 1119-1131.
- RODRIGO, R., GONZALEZ, J. & PAOLETTO, F. 2011. The role of oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of hypertension. *Hypertens Res*, 34, 431-40.
- ROERECKE, M., KACZOROWSKI, J., TOBE, S. W., GMEL, G., HASAN, O. S. M. & REHM, J. 2017. The effect of a reduction in alcohol consumption on blood pressure: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Public Health*, 2, e108-e120.
- ROTHMAN, A. M., MACFADYEN, J., THUREN, T., WEBB, A., HARRISON,
 D. G., GUZIK, T. J., LIBBY, P., GLYNN, R. J. & RIDKER, P. M. 2020.
 Effects of Interleukin-1beta Inhibition on Blood Pressure, Incident
 Hypertension, and Residual Inflammatory Risk: A Secondary Analysis of CANTOS. *Hypertension*, 75, 477-482.
- ROUVIER, E., LUCIANI, M., MATTEI, M., DENIZOT, F. & GOLSTEIN, P. 1993. CTLA-8, cloned from an activated T cell, bearing AU-rich messenger RNA instability sequences, and homologous to a herpesvirus saimiri gene. *Journal of Immunology (Baltimore, Md.:* 1950), 150, 5445-5456.
- RUCKER, A. J., RUDEMILLER, N. P. & CROWLEY, S. D. 2018. Salt, hypertension, and immunity. *Annual review of physiology*, 80, 283-307.
- RUIZ-ORTEGA, M., RUPEREZ, M., LORENZO, O., ESTEBAN, V., BLANCO, J., MEZZANO, S. & EGIDO, J. 2002. Angiotensin II regulates the synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the kidney. *Kidney Int Suppl*, S12-22.
- SAGRIS, M., ANTONOPOULOS, A. S., THEOFILIS, P., OIKONOMOU, E., SIASOS, G., TSALAMANDRIS, S., ANTONIADES, C., BRILAKIS, E. S., KASKI, J. C. & TOUSOULIS, D. 2022. Risk factors profile of young and older patients with myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 2281-2292.

- SAHAKYAN, K., KLEIN, B. E., MYERS, C. E., TSAI, M. Y. & KLEIN, R. 2010. Novel risk factors in long-term hypertension incidence in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Am Heart J*, 159, 1074-80.
- SALEH, M. A., MCMASTER, W. G., WU, J., NORLANDER, A. E., FUNT, S. A., THABET, S. R., KIRABO, A., XIAO, L., CHEN, W., ITANI, H. A., MICHELL, D., HUAN, T., ZHANG, Y., TAKAKI, S., TITZE, J., LEVY, D., HARRISON, D. G. & MADHUR, M. S. 2015. Lymphocyte adaptor protein LNK deficiency exacerbates hypertension and end-organ inflammation. J Clin Invest, 125, 1189-202.
- SAMUE, S. A., FRANCIS, A. O. & ANTHONY, O. O. 2018. Role of the kidneys in the regulation of intra-and extra-renal blood pressure. Annals of Clinical Hypertension, 2, 048-058.
- SANZ-ROSA, D., OUBINA, M. P., CEDIEL, E., DE LAS HERAS, N., VEGAZO, O., JIMENEZ, J., LAHERA, V. & CACHOFEIRO, V. 2005.
 Effect of AT1 receptor antagonism on vascular and circulating inflammatory mediators in SHR: role of NF-kappaB/lkappaB system. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 288, H111-5.
- SCHELLER, J., CHALARIS, A., SCHMIDT-ARRAS, D. & ROSE-JOHN, S. 2011. The pro- and anti-inflammatory properties of the cytokine interleukin-6. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research*, 1813, 878-888.
- SCHINDLER, R., DINARELLO, C. A. & KOCH, K. M. 1995. Angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitors suppress synthesis of tumour necrosis factor and interleukin 1 by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Cytokine,* 7, 526-33.
- SCHLOOT, N. C., HANIFI-MOGHADDAM, P., GOEBEL, C., SHATAVI, S. V., FLOHE, S., KOLB, H. & ROTHE, H. 2002. Serum IFN-gamma and IL-10 levels are associated with disease progression in non-obese diabetic mice. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 18, 64-70.
- SCHLUNS, K. S., STOKLASEK, T. & LEFRANÇOIS, L. 2005. The roles of interleukin-15 receptor α: Trans-presentation, receptor component, or both? *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 37, 1567-1571.
- SCHMIDT, F. M., WESCHENFELDER, J., SANDER, C., MINKWITZ, J., THORMANN, J., CHITTKA, T., MERGL, R., KIRKBY, K. C., FASSHAUER, M., STUMVOLL, M., HOLDT, L. M., TEUPSER, D., HEGERL, U. & HIMMERICH, H. 2015. Inflammatory cytokines in general and central obesity and modulating effects of physical activity. *PLoS One*, 10, e0121971.
- SCHRADER, L. I., KINZENBAW, D. A., JOHNSON, A. W., FARACI, F. M. & DIDION, S. P. 2007a. IL-6 Deficiency Protects Against Angiotensin II– Induced Endothelial Dysfunction and Hypertrophy. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology,* 27, 2576-2581.

- SCHRADER, L. I., KINZENBAW, D. A., JOHNSON, A. W., FARACI, F. M. & DIDION, S. P. 2007b. IL-6 deficiency protects against angiotensin II induced endothelial dysfunction and hypertrophy. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 27, 2576-81.
- SCHRODER, K., HERTZOG, P. J., RAVASI, T. & HUME, D. A. 2003. Interferon-γ: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 75, 163-189.
- SCHUTTE, A. E., GONA, P. N., DELLES, C., UYS, A. S., BURGER, A., MELS, C. M., KRUGER, R., SMITH, W., FOURIE, C. M., BOTHA, S., LAMMERTYN, L., VAN ROOYEN, J. M., GAFANE-MATEMANE, L. F., MOKWATSI, G. G., BREET, Y., KRUGER, H. S., ZYL, T. V., PIETERS, M., ZANDBERG, L., LOUW, R., MOSS, S. J., KHUMALO, I. P. & HUISMAN, H. W. 2019. The African Prospective study on the Early Detection and Identification of Cardiovascular disease and Hypertension (African-PREDICT): Design, recruitment and initial examination. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 26, 458-470.
- SEGIET, A., SMYKIEWICZ, P., KWIATKOWSKI, P. & ZERA, T. 2019. Tumour necrosis factor and interleukin 10 in blood pressure regulation in spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive rats. *Cytokine*, 113, 185-194.
- SESSO, H. D., JIMENEZ, M. C., WANG, L., RIDKER, P. M., BURING, J. E.
 & GAZIANO, J. M. 2015. Plasma Inflammatory Markers and the Risk of Developing Hypertension in Men. J Am Heart Assoc, 4, e001802.
- SESSO, H. D., WANG, L., BURING, J. E., RIDKER, P. M. & GAZIANO, J.
 M. 2007. Comparison of interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein for the risk of developing hypertension in women. *Hypertension*, 49, 304-10.
- SHEN, P. & FILLATREAU, S. 2015. Antibody-independent functions of B cells: a focus on cytokines. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 15, 441-451.
- SIEDLINSKI, M., JOZEFCZUK, E., XU, X., TEUMER, A., EVANGELOU, E., SCHNABEL, R. B., WELSH, P., MAFFIA, P., ERDMANN, J., TOMASZEWSKI, M., CAULFIELD, M. J., SATTAR, N., HOLMES, M. V. & GUZIK, T. J. 2020. White Blood Cells and Blood Pressure: A Mendelian Randomization Study. *Circulation*, 141, 1307-1317.
- SINDACO, P., PANDEY, H., ISABELLE, C., CHAKRAVARTI, N., BRAMMER, J. E., PORCU, P. & MISHRA, A. 2023. The role of interleukin-15 in the development and treatment of hematological malignancies. *Front Immunol,* 14, 1141208.
- SKONIECZNA, M., HEJMO, T., POTERALA-HEJMO, A., CIESLAR-POBUDA, A. & BULDAK, R. J. 2017. NADPH Oxidases: Insights into Selected Functions and Mechanisms of Action in Cancer and Stem Cells. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2017, 9420539.

- SOWERS, J. R., ZEMEL, M. B., ZEMEL, P., BECK, F. W., WALSH, M. F. & ZAWADA, E. T. 1988. Salt sensitivity in blacks. Salt intake and natriuretic substances. *Hypertension*, 12, 485-90.
- SPRAGUE, A. H. & KHALIL, R. A. 2009. Inflammatory cytokines in vascular dysfunction and vascular disease. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 78, 539-52.
- STAMLER, J., STAMLER, R. & NEATON, J. D. 1993. Blood pressure, systolic and diastolic, and cardiovascular risks. US population data. *Arch Intern Med*, 153, 598-615.
- STARUSCHENKO, A. 2018. Beneficial Effects of High Potassium: Contribution of Renal Basolateral K(+) Channels. *Hypertension*, 71, 1015-1022.
- STEEL, J. C., WALDMANN, T. A. & MORRIS, J. C. 2012. Interleukin-15 biology and its therapeutic implications in cancer. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 33, 35-41.
- STONE, K. P., KASTIN, A. J. & PAN, W. 2011. NFkB is an unexpected major mediator of interleukin-15 signaling in cerebral endothelia. *Cell Physiol Biochem*, 28, 115-24.
- STRAUB, R. H., HENSE, H. W., ANDUS, T., SCHOLMERICH, J., RIEGGER, G. A. & SCHUNKERT, H. 2000. Hormone replacement therapy and interrelation between serum interleukin-6 and body mass index in postmenopausal women: a population-based study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 85, 1340-4.
- STUMPF, C., JOHN, S., JUKIC, J., YILMAZ, A., RAAZ, D., SCHMIEDER, R. E., DANIEL, W. G. & GARLICHS, C. D. 2005. Enhanced levels of platelet P-selectin and circulating cytokines in young patients with mild arterial hypertension. *Journal of hypertension*, 23, 995-1000.
- SUDA, K., EOM, J., JAW, J.-E., MUI, T., BAI, N., OR, C., NGAN, D., LI, Y., WANG, X. & TSURUTA, M. 2011. Endotoxin-induced cardiovascular dysfunction in mice: effect of simvastatin. *Journal of applied physiology*, 111, 1118-1124.
- SUN, L., GAO, Y., TIAN, D., ZHENG, J.-P., ZHU, C.-Y., KE, Y. & BIAN, K. 2006. Inflammation of different tissues in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *ACTA PHYSIOLOGICA SINICA-CHINESE EDITION-*, 58, 318.
- SUTENDRA, G., DROMPARIS, P., BONNET, S., HAROMY, A., MCMURTRY, M. S., BLEACKLEY, R. C. & MICHELAKIS, E. D. 2011. Pyruvate dehydrogenase inhibition by the inflammatory cytokine TNFα contributes to the pathogenesis of pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 89, 771-783.
- TANAKA, T., NARAZAKI, M. & KISHIMOTO, T. 2018. Interleukin (IL-6) Immunotherapy. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 10.
- TANASE, D. M., GOSAV, E. M., RADU, S., OUATU, A., REZUS, C., CIOCOIU, M., COSTEA, C. F. & FLORIA, M. 2019. Arterial

hypertension and interleukins: potential therapeutic target or future diagnostic marker? *International journal of hypertension*, 2019.

- TANG, X. 2019. Analysis of interleukin-17 and interleukin-18 levels in animal models of atherosclerosis. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*, 18, 517-522.
- TESORIERE, L., ATTANZIO, A., ALLEGRA, M., GENTILE, C. & LIVREA, M. A. 2014. Indicaxanthin inhibits NADPH oxidase (NOX)-1 activation and NF-kappaB-dependent release of inflammatory mediators and prevents the increase of epithelial permeability in IL-1beta-exposed Caco-2 cells. *Br J Nutr*, 111, 415-23.
- THORNBERRY, N. A., BULL, H. G., CALAYCAY, J. R., CHAPMAN, K. T., HOWARD, A. D., KOSTURA, M. J., MILLER, D. K., MOLINEAUX, S. M., WEIDNER, J. R. & AUNINS, J. 1992. A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1βprocessing in monocytes. *Nature*, 356, 768-774.
- TOUSOULIS, D., KAMPOLI, A.-M., TENTOLOURIS NIKOLAOS PAPAGEORGIOU, C. & STEFANADIS, C. 2012. The role of nitric oxide on endothelial function. *Current vascular pharmacology*, 10, 4-18.
- TOUYZ, R. M. 2014. Chapter 14 Blood Pressure Regulation and Pathology. In: WILLIS, M. S., HOMEISTER, J. W. & STONE, J. R. (eds.) Cellular and Molecular Pathobiology of Cardiovascular Disease. San Diego: Academic Press.
- UNGER, T., BORGHI, C., CHARCHAR, F., KHAN, N. A., POULTER, N. R., PRABHAKARAN, D., RAMIREZ, A., SCHLAICH, M., STERGIOU, G.
 S. & TOMASZEWSKI, M. 2020. 2020 International Society of Hypertension global hypertension practice guidelines. *Hypertension*, 75, 1334-1357.
- VALLEJO, S., PALACIOS, E., ROMACHO, T., VILLALOBOS, L., PEIRO, C.
 & SANCHEZ-FERRER, C. F. 2014. The interleukin-1 receptor antagonist anakinra improves endothelial dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Cardiovasc Diabetol,* 13, 158.
- VAN SNICK, J. 1990. Interleukin-6: an overview. *Annu Rev Immunol,* 8, 253-78.
- VAZQUEZ-OLIVA, G., FERNANDEZ-REAL, J. M., ZAMORA, A., VILASECA, M. & BADIMON, L. 2005. Lowering of blood pressure leads to decreased circulating interleukin-6 in hypertensive subjects. J Hum Hypertens, 19, 457-62.
- VÁZQUEZ-OLIVA, G., FERNÁNDEZ-REAL, J. M., ZAMORA, A., VILASECA, M. & BADIMÓN, L. 2005. Lowering of blood pressure leads to decreased circulating interleukin-6 in hypertensive subjects. *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 19, 457-462.

- VEERAPANDIAN, B., GILLILAND, G. L., RAAG, R., SVENSSON, A. L., MASUI, Y., HIRAI, Y. & POULOS, T. L. 1992. Functional implications of interleukin-1 beta based on the three-dimensional structure. *Proteins*, 12, 10-23.
- VERMA, M. K., JAISWAL, A., SHARMA, P., KUMAR, P. & SINGH, A. N. 2019. Oxidative stress and biomarker of TNF-alpha, MDA and FRAP in hypertension. J Med Life, 12, 253-259.
- VERRI JR, W. A., CUNHA, T. M., FERREIRA, S. H., WEI, X., LEUNG, B.
 P., FRASER, A., MCINNES, I. B., LIEW, F. Y. & CUNHA, F. Q. 2007.
 IL-15 mediates antigen-induced neutrophil migration by triggering IL-18 production. *European journal of immunology*, 37, 3373-3380.
- VIVIER, E., TOMASELLO, E., BARATIN, M., WALZER, T. & UGOLINI, S. 2008. Functions of natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol*, 9, 503-10.
- VOELKEL, N. F., TUDER, R. M., BRIDGES, J. & AREND, W. P. 1994. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist treatment reduces pulmonary hypertension generated in rats by monocrotaline. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 11, 664-75.
- VON DER THÜSEN, J. H., KUIPER, J., VAN BERKEL, T. J. & BIESSEN, E. A. 2003. Interleukins in atherosclerosis: molecular pathways and therapeutic potential. *Pharmacological reviews*, 55, 133-166.
- WALDMANN, T. A. 2017. Interleukin-15☆. *Reference Module in Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychology.* Elsevier.
- WANG, H., WANG, Q., VENUGOPAL, J., WANG, J., KLEIMAN, K., GUO, C. & EITZMAN, D. T. 2018. Obesity-induced endothelial dysfunction is prevented by neutrophil extracellular trap inhibition. *Scientific reports*, 8, 4881.
- WANG, L., MANSON, J. E., GAZIANO, J. M., LIU, S., COCHRANE, B., COOK, N. R., RIDKER, P. M., RIFAI, N. & SESSO, H. D. 2011. Circulating inflammatory and endothelial markers and risk of hypertension in white and black postmenopausal women. *Clin Chem*, 57, 729-36.
- WANG, P., BA, Z. F. & CHAUDRY, I. H. 1994. Administration of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in vivo depresses endothelium-dependent relaxation. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 266, H2535-H2541.
- WASSMANN, S., STUMPF, M., STREHLOW, K., SCHMID, A., SCHIEFFER, B., BOHM, M. & NICKENIG, G. 2004. Interleukin-6 induces oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction by overexpression of the angiotensin II type 1 receptor. *Circ Res*, 94, 534-41.
- WELSH, P., GRASSIA, G., BOTHA, S., SATTAR, N. & MAFFIA, P. 2017. Targeting inflammation to reduce cardiovascular disease risk: a

realistic clinical prospect? *British journal of pharmacology,* 174, 3898-3913.

- WENG, X., ZHANG, Y., LI, Z., YU, L., XU, F., FANG, M., HOU, L., GE, J. & XU, Y. 2019. Class II transactivator (CIITA) mediates IFN-gamma induced eNOS repression by enlisting SUV39H1. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gene Regul Mech*, 1862, 163-172.
- WENZEL, P., KNORR, M., KOSSMANN, S., STRATMANN, J., HAUSDING, M., SCHUHMACHER, S., KARBACH, S. H., SCHWENK, M., YOGEV, N., SCHULZ, E., OELZE, M., GRABBE, S., JONULEIT, H., BECKER, C., DAIBER, A., WAISMAN, A. & MUNZEL, T. 2011. Lysozyme Mpositive monocytes mediate angiotensin II-induced arterial hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *Circulation*, 124, 1370-81.
- WENZEL, U. O., EHMKE, H. & BODE, M. 2021. Immune mechanisms in arterial hypertension. Recent advances. *Cell Tissue Res*, 385, 393-404.
- WERIDA, R. H., EL-GHARBAWY, N. M. & MOSTAFA, T. M. 2021. Circulating IL-6, clusterin and irisin in obese subjects with different grades of obesity: association with insulin resistance and sexual dimorphism. Arch Endocrinol Metab, 65, 126-136.
- WERMAN, A., WERMAN-VENKERT, R., WHITE, R., LEE, J.-K., WERMAN, B., KRELIN, Y., VORONOV, E., DINARELLO, C. A. & APTE, R. N. 2004. The precursor form of IL-1α is an intracrine proinflammatory activator of transcription. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101, 2434-2439.
- WHEELOCK, E. F. 1965. Interferon-like virus-inhibitor induced in human leukocytes by phytohemagglutinin. *Science*, 149, 310-311.
- WHITE, F. & GROLLMAN, A. 1964. Autoimmune factors associated with infarction of the kidney. *Nephron*, 1, 93-102.
- WILLIAMS, G. H. 2005. Aldosterone biosynthesis, regulation, and classical mechanism of action. *Heart Fail Rev*, 10, 7-13.
- WIMALASUNDERA, R., FEXBY, S., REGAN, L., THOM, S. A. & HUGHES,
 A. D. 2003. Effect of tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin
 1beta on endothelium-dependent relaxation in rat mesenteric
 resistance arteries in vitro. *Br J Pharmacol,* 138, 1285-94.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION 2023. Hypertension Fact Sheet.
- WU, C. H., MOHAMMADMORADI, S., CHEN, J. Z., SAWADA, H., DAUGHERTY, A. & LU, H. S. 2018. Renin-Angiotensin System and Cardiovascular Functions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 38, e108e116.
- WU, J., THABET, S. R., KIRABO, A., TROTT, D. W., SALEH, M. A., XIAO,
 L., MADHUR, M. S., CHEN, W. & HARRISON, D. G. 2014.
 Inflammation and Mechanical Stretch Promote Aortic Stiffening in

Hypertension Through Activation of p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase. *Circulation Research*, 114, 616-625.

- WU, J. R., ZHONG, W. J., CHEN, Z. D., ZHU, B. Q., JIANG, Y. Y. & WIERZBICKI, P. M. 2020. The protective impact of Trans-Cinnamaldehyde (TCA) against the IL-1b induced inflammation in in vitro osteoarthritis model by regulating PI3K/AKT pathways. *Folia Histochem Cytobiol*, 58, 264-271.
- XU, X., EALES, J. M., JIANG, X., SANDERSON, E., DRZAL, M., SALUJA, S., SCANNALI, D., WILLIAMS, B., MORRIS, A. P., GUZIK, T. J., CHARCHAR, F. J., HOLMES, M. V. & TOMASZEWSKI, M. 2022. Contributions of obesity to kidney health and disease: insights from Mendelian randomization and the human kidney transcriptomics. *Cardiovasc Res*, 118, 3151-3161.
- XU, Y., CHEN, X. & WANG, K. 2017. Global prevalence of hypertension among people living with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Soc Hypertens*, 11, 530-540.
- YAGI, R., SUZUKI, W., SEKI, N., KOHYAMA, M., INOUE, T., ARAI, T. & KUBO, M. 2002. The IL-4 production capability of different strains of naive CD4+ T cells controls the direction of the Th cell response. *International immunology*, 14, 1-11.
- YAMADA, T. & TAKAOKA, A. 2021. Subchapter 39B Tumor necrosis factor. *In:* ANDO, H., UKENA, K. & NAGATA, S. (eds.) *Handbook of Hormones (Second Edition).* San Diego: Academic Press.
- YAMAGATA, K., TANAKA, N., MATSUFUJI, H. & CHINO, M. 2012. βcarotene reverses the IL-1β-mediated reduction in paraoxonase-1 expression via induction of the CaMKKII pathway in human endothelial cells. *Microvascular Research*, 84, 297-305.
- YANG, X., CHANG, Y. & WEI, W. 2016. Endothelial Dysfunction and Inflammation: Immunity in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2016, 6813016.
- YEGHIAZARIANS, Y., HONBO, N., IMHOF, I., WOODS, B., AGUILERA, V., YE, J., BOYLE, A. J. & KARLINER, J. S. 2014. IL-15: A novel prosurvival signaling pathway in cardiomyocytes. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, 63, 406.
- YOKOYAMA, Y., NISHIMURA, K., BARNARD, N. D., TAKEGAMI, M., WATANABE, M., SEKIKAWA, A., OKAMURA, T. & MIYAMOTO, Y. 2014. Vegetarian diets and blood pressure: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Intern Med*, 174, 577-87.
- YOO, H. J., KIM, M., LEE, S. H. & LEE, J. H. 2020. Elevated Lipoprotein-Associated Phospholipase A(2) Independently Affects Age-Related Increases in Systolic Blood Pressure: A Nested Case-Control Study in a Prospective Korean Cohort. *Int J Hypertens*, 2020, 5693271.
- YOUN, J. C., YU, H. T., LIM, B. J., KOH, M. J., LEE, J., CHANG, D. Y., CHOI, Y. S., LEE, S. H., KANG, S. M., JANG, Y., YOO, O. J., SHIN, E. C. & PARK, S. 2013. Immunosenescent CD8+ T cells and C-X-C chemokine receptor type 3 chemokines are increased in human hypertension. *Hypertension*, 62, 126-33.
- YU, X., YANG, Z. & YU, M. 2010. Correlation of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 6 with hypertensive renal damage. *Ren Fail*, 32, 475-9.
- YUDKIN, J. S., KUMARI, M., HUMPHRIES, S. E. & MOHAMED-ALI, V. 2000. Inflammation, obesity, stress and coronary heart disease: is interleukin-6 the link? *Atherosclerosis*, 148, 209-14.
- ZELOVÁ, H. & HOŠEK, J. 2013. TNF-α signalling and inflammation: interactions between old acquaintances. *Inflammation research*, 62, 641-651.
- ZHANG, C., WU, J., XU, X., POTTER, B. J. & GAO, X. 2010. Direct relationship between levels of TNF-α expression and endothelial dysfunction in reperfusion injury. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, 105, 453-464.
- ZHANG, L., LIU, M., LIU, W., HU, C., LI, H., DENG, J., CAO, Q., WANG, Y., HU, W. & LI, Q. 2021. Th17/IL-17 induces endothelial cell senescence via activation of NF-κB/p53/Rb signaling pathway. *Laboratory Investigation*, 101, 1418-1426.
- ZHANG, Z., ZHAO, L., ZHOU, X., MENG, X. & ZHOU, X. 2022. Role of inflammation, immunity, and oxidative stress in hypertension: New insights and potential therapeutic targets. *Front Immunol,* 13, 1098725.
- ZHANG, Z. H., WEI, S. G., FRANCIS, J. & FELDER, R. B. 2003. Cardiovascular and renal sympathetic activation by blood-borne TNFalpha in rat: the role of central prostaglandins. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 284, R916-27.
- ZHAO, Y., VANHOUTTE, P. M. & LEUNG, S. W. S. 2015. Vascular nitric oxide: Beyond eNOS. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences*, 129, 83-94.
- ZHOU, B., CARRILLO-LARCO, R. M., DANAEI, G., RILEY, L. M., PACIOREK, C. J., STEVENS, G. A., GREGG, E. W., BENNETT, J. E., SOLOMON, B. & SINGLETON, R. K. 2021. Worldwide trends in hypertension prevalence and progress in treatment and control from 1990 to 2019: a pooled analysis of 1201 population-representative studies with 104 million participants. *The Lancet*, 398, 957-980.
- ZHU, F., WANG, Q., GUO, C., WANG, X., CAO, X., SHI, Y., GAO, F., MA, C. & ZHANG, L. 2011. IL-17 induces apoptosis of vascular endothelial cells — A potential mechanism for human acute coronary syndrome. *Clinical Immunology*, 141, 152-160.